
CITY OF WOODBURN 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
DECEMBER 9, 2019– 7:00 P.M. 

ERIC SWENSON, MAYOR 
DEBBIE CABRALES, COUNCILOR WARD 1 

LISA ELLSWORTH, COUNCILOR WARD II 
ROBERT CARNEY, COUNCILOR WARD III 

SHARON SCHAUB, COUNCILOR WARD IV 
MARY BETH CORNWELL, COUNCILOR WARD V 

ERIC MORRIS, COUNCILOR WARD VI 

CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS – 270 MONTGOMERY STREET 
 
 

This facility is ADA accessible. If you need special accommodation, please contact the City Recorder at 
503-980-6318 at least 24 hours prior to this meeting. 

 
**Habrá intérpretes disponibles para aquéllas personas que no hablan Inglés, previo acuerdo. 
 Comuníquese al (503) 980-2485.** 
 
December 9, 2019 Council Agenda  Page i 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND FLAG SALUTE 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
 
3. ANNOUNCEMENTS AND APPOINTMENTS 

 
Announcements: 
A. The City Council meeting scheduled for December 23 is cancelled.  

The next City Council meeting will be January 13, 2019 at 7:00 p.m.  
 

   
B.  Holiday Closures: 

Christmas:  
City Hall will be closed at noon on December 24 and will reopen for 
regular business hours on December 26. 
 
The Aquatic Center will be closed December 24 and 25. 

 
 The Library will be open from 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. on December 24    
 and closed on December 25. 
 

 Transit Services will run from 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on December 24   
 and will be closed December 25.  
 
New Year:  
Transit Services will run from 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on December 31.   
 
City Hall, the Library and Transit Services will be closed January 1.  
 
The Aquatic Center will be open from 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. on 
January 1.  

 

 
Appointments: 
 
C. Planning Commission 

Wassa Dos Reis - Position 2  
Charles Piper – Position 3 

1 



 
December 9, 2019 Council Agenda  Page ii 

Sharon Corning – Position 5 
Chris Lassen – Position 7 
 
Woodburn Recreation and Parks Board  
Beronica Rios - Position IV  
Alexandra Sanarov-Ramirez – Student Postiion 
 
Public Art Mural Committee 
Sharon Schaub 
Merri Berlin 
Colleen Vancil 
Christine Lopez 
 
Library Board 
Bethany Weathersby 
Kathleen Boyer 
 
Woodburn Tourism Advisory Committee 
Paul Iverson 

 
4. COMMUNITY/GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS 
 

None.   
 
5. PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS   

 
Proclamations: 
None.   
 
Presentations: 
A. Audit Report (City of Woodburn and Urban Renewal Agency) 2 
B.  Community Center  
C. Memo on Stipends for Elected officials 165 
 

6. COMMUNICATIONS  
None.    

 
7. BUSINESS FROM THE PUBLIC – This allows the public to introduce items for 

Council consideration not already scheduled on the agenda. 
Comment time will be limited to 3 minutes. 

 
8. CONSENT AGENDA – Items listed on the consent agenda are 

considered routine and may be adopted by one motion.  Any item 
may be removed for discussion at the request of a Council member.  

 
 A. Woodburn City Council minutes of November 12, 2019 169 



 
December 9, 2019 Council Agenda  Page iii 

 Recommended Action:  Approve the minutes.  
   
B. Woodburn Planning Commission minutes of October 10, 2019 175 
 Recommended Action:  Accept the minutes.   
   
C. Woodburn Planning Commission minutes of October 24, 2019 179 
 Recommended Action: Accept the minutes.  
   
D. Crime Statistics through October 2019 183 
 Recommended Action: Receive the report.   
   
E. Photo Speed Enforcement Amendment to Contract with Redflex 188 
 Recommended Action: Authorize the Woodburn Police 

Department to amend the current Agreement with Reflex Traffic 
Systems, Inc. to incorporate a fee structure for the enforcement of 
speeding violations at the intersection (Mt. Hood Ave and Hwy 
211). 

 

   
F.  Building Activity through October 2019 190 
 Recommended Action: Receive the report.  
   
G.  Building Activity through November 2019 200 
 Recommended Action: Receive the report.  
   
H.  Towing Services Proposals Award  208 
 Recommended Action: Award a Contract for Category I and II 

tows on a rotational basis to M&M Towing & Auto Sales and Baker & 
Baker Towing & 76, Inc. and authorize the City Administrator to sign 
the correlating agreements.   

 

   
I.  Intergovernmental Agreement with the Woodburn School District for 

Collection and Administration of a Construction Excise Tax (“CET”) 
210 

 Recommended Action: Authorize the City Administrator to sign a 
new Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with the Woodburn 
School District for collection and administration of a Construction 
Excise Tax (“CET”). 

 

 
9. TABLED BUSINESS 
 

None.   
 
10. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 



 
December 9, 2019 Council Agenda  Page iv 

A. Housing Needs Analysis 211 
 
11. GENERAL BUSINESS – Members of the public wishing to comment on items 

of general business must complete and submit a speaker’s card to the 
City Recorder prior to commencing this portion of the Council’s agenda.  
Comment time will be limited to 3 minutes.  

 
A. Council Bill No. 3115 - An Ordinance Adopting an Updated Housing 

Needs Analysis into the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan (LA 2019-02) 
213 

 Recommended Action: Hold a public hearing and adopt the 
attached Ordinance 2576 that will incorporate a new Housing 
Needs Analysis into the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan.  

 

   
B. Council Bill No. 3116- An Ordinance Amending Ordinance 2157 

(Wastewater Discharge Fees) to Modify the Calculation Procedure 
Used for Winter Averaging that Provides the Residential Monthly 
Sewerage Charge and Declaring an Emergency 

 273 

 Recommended Action: Adopt the attached ordinance 
amendment.   

 

   
C. PUBLIC TESTIMONY ON THIS ITEM IS CLOSED.  NO PUBLIC COMMENTS 

WILL BE RECEIVED 
 
Design Review DR 2019-03 Pacific Valley Apartments Final Decision 

 286 

 Recommended Action:  Authorize the mayor to sign the attached 
final land use decision.  

 

   
D. Award of a Contract for New Production Well for the Parr Road 

Treatment Plant 
 341 

 Recommended Action: Award a contract for design, bid and 
construction management services for the New Production Well for 
the Parr Road Treatment Plant Project for $529,349 to Murraymith, 
Inc.  

 

   
E.  Award Personal Service Agreement to Opsis Architecture LLP  343 
 Recommended Action: Authorize the City Administrator to enter into 

a Personal Services Agreement with Opsis Architecture LLP in the 
amount of $979,320 plus reimbursable expenses estimated to be 
$20,000 to provide architectural schematic design and 40%-50% 
design development services for the Community Center Project. 

 

 
12. PLANNING COMMISSION OR ADMINISTRATIVE LAND USE ACTIONS – 

These are Planning Commission or Administrative Land Use actions that 
may be called up by the City Council.   

 



 
December 9, 2019 Council Agenda  Page v 

A.  Call-Up Briefing:  Planning Commission Approval of a Design Review 
and Property Line Adjustment for GEM Equipment of Oregon, LLC at 
2765 National Way (DR 2019-11 & PLA 2019-05) 

355 

 Recommended Action: Staff recommends no action and briefs the 
Council on this item pursuant to Woodburn Development Ordinance 
(WDO) Section 4.02.02.  The Council may call up this item for review if 
desired and, by majority vote, initiate a review of this decision. 

 

 
13. CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
14. MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
15. EXECUTIVE SESSION  
   

A.  To review and evaluate, pursuant to standards, criteria and policy 
directives adopted by the governing body, the employment-
related performance of the chief executive officer of any public 
body, a public officer, employee or staff member unless the 
person whose performance is being reviewed and evaluated 
requests an open hearing pursuant to ORS 192.660 (2)(i). 
 

 

 
16. ADJOURNMENT  
 
 
 
 

COUNCIL GOALS 2019-2021 
 

              Thematic Goals 
 

1. Create an inclusive environment where residents participate and are engaged in the community (that is 
vibrant, safe and active).  

 
2. Promote an environment that encourages sustainable economic health maximizing our geographic, 

workforce, cultural and community assets.  
 

              Strategic Goals 
 

3. Create an inclusive environment where Woodburn residents want to participate and are engaged in 
the community.  

 
4. Develop innovative funding sources to help support the completion of capital improvement projects.  

 
5. Grow and support strategic partnerships for economic health.  

 
6. Explore the development of a non-profit consolidation facility. 

 
7. Improve Communication and Coordination with School District on matters of mutual interest. 

 
8. Completion of the First Street remodel. 

 



 
December 9, 2019 Council Agenda  Page vi 

9. Completion of Phase 1 & 2 of the Community Center Project including the formation of an ad hoc 
steering committee to review and recommend design. 

 
10. Creation of the Dick Jennings Community Leadership Academy. 

 
11. Develop a strategy to limit PERS liability. 

 
12. Establishment of a Woodburn 20 year community-visioning plan. 

 
 
 



Agenda Item 

December 3, 2019 

TO: City Council 

FROM: Eric Swenson, Mayor 

SUBJECT: Committee Reappointments 

The following reappointments are made, subject to the approval of the Council. 
Please forward any adverse comments to me prior to the Council meeting on 
Monday, December 9, 2019. No reply is required if you approve of my decision.  

Planning Commission 
Wassa Dos Reis - Position 2  
Charles Piper – Position 3 
Sharon Corning – Position 5 
Chris Lassen – Position 7 

Woodburn Recreation and Parks Board  
Beronica Rios - Position IV  
Alexandra Sanarov-Ramirez – Student Position 

Public Art Mural Committee 
Sharon Schaub 
Merri Berlin 
Colleen Vancil 
Christine Lopez 

Library Board 
Bethany Weathersby 
Kathleen Boyer 

Woodburn Tourism Advisory Committee 
Paul Iverson 

1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



 

 

 
475 Cottage Street NE, Suite 200, Salem, Oregon 97301 

(503) 581-7788 
 

November 27, 2019 
 
 
 City Council and Management 
 City of Woodburn  
 270 Montgomery St. 
 Woodburn, Oregon  97071 
 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of City of Woodburn as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, we considered the City's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion 
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.  
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the City’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
 
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. There 
were no deficiencies identified in the current year as significant deficiencies. 
 
However, during our audit we became aware of deficiencies in internal control other than significant 
deficiencies and material weaknesses and matters that are opportunities for strengthening internal controls and 
operating efficiency.  This letter does not affect our report dated November 27, 2019 on the financial 
statements of the City.  
 
We will review the status of these comments during our next audit engagement. We have already discussed 
many of these comments and suggestions with various agency personnel, and we will be pleased to discuss 
them in further detail at your convenience, to perform any additional study of these matters, or to assist you in 
implementing the recommendations. 

 
  

10



 

 

CURRENT YEAR 
 
No recommendations 
 
 
PRIOR YEAR 
 
CREDIT CARD TRANSACTION APPROVALS 
 
Situation/Recommendation: 
 
It was noted during audit work performed over credit cards that purchases were being approved by 
non-supervisory personnel.  We recommend that credit cards purchases be approved by appropriate 
supervisory personnel.  
 
Management’s Response: 
 
Management has implemented the following procedures in response to auditor findings: 
 

1. Departmental credit cards are being ordered to facilitate operating purchases (e.g. supply 
ordering). The generic department card can be used by support staff to make small dollar 
purchases. Support staff will enter the PO in the system and the supervisor will approve. 

2. A new director approval department, 101, has been created in New World for the approval of 
director purchases and reimbursements. Support staff throughout the organization will enter 
their director expenses and the PO will automatically be routed to Scott Derickson or Jim 
Row for approval. 

3. A new approval department, 210, has been created in the Police Department for the 
processing of upper management expenses. This new approval department will be used by 
the Chief to approve purchases and expense reimbursements for the deputy police chief, and 
upper level PD staff. 

  
Update:  Management has addressed this deficiency as of June 30, 2019. 
 
 
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, board of 
directors, and others within the organization, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
 

   CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 

 

11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



Agenda Item 
 

 

 
 
Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney ___x___ Finance __x___ 

        December 9, 2019 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Scott Derickson, City Administrator 
 
SUBJECT: Report on Stipends for Elected Officials 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Accept the report and direct staff on whether further action is desired.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The City of Woodburn previously provided a modest financial stipend to the 
Mayor and City Councilors during their terms in office. Issuance of the stipend 
was halted during the last economic recession and has not since been 
reinstated. The previous stipend provided fifty dollars ($50) per month for the 
Mayor and twenty-five dollars ($25) per month for each Councilor.  
 
In March of 2018, the City Administrator requested a legal opinion from the City 
Attorney's office setting out the technical requirements and procedure for 
restoring a stipend for the City's elected officials. A copy of that memorandum is 
available to the Mayor and Councilors to review at their request. A general 
synopsis of the implementation procedures is provided below.  
 
While not all cities in Oregon provide a financial stipend to their elected officials, 
many comparable cities to Woodburn in size and location do provide stipends 
to their Mayor and City Councilors. These stipends vary in amount and issuance 
format (i.e. monthly, yearly, etc.), but generally are nominal-type stipends that 
are meant to reasonably benefit or cover some of the ancillary costs incurred 
from serving as an elected official. These stipends are not meant or intended to 
provide a primary source of income to elected officials who are generally 
categorized as volunteers. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Currently, the Mayor and City Councilors are eligible for expense reimbursement  
for City-related activities (e.g. conferences or travel), however, they do not 
receive a financial stipend that may otherwise assist the individual in offsetting 

165



out-of-pocket costs associated with serving as an elected official (e.g. time 
away from work, costs of childcare during meetings, costs associated with 
attending community events, etc.).  
 
In determining whether the restoring of a stipend program is suitable for 
Woodburn, it is most important for the Council to first consider how it would set or 
establish the stipend amounts and then how it would properly implement or 
enact the program.   
 

1) Determining a Stipend Amount 
 
In looking at adopting a reasonable and sensible stipend program for the mayor 
and city councilors, the Council will have broad discretion to implement an 
amount that it believes best fits the community and budgetary constraints of 
Woodburn.  
  
In implementing or modifying the amount of a stipend, some jurisdictions utilize a 
compensation committee or their budget committees to assist in evaluating and 
setting the stipend amount. Usually these committees are formed as 
independent advisory-type committees that make an official recommendation 
to the Council on whether to implement a stipend program and at what 
amounts. The committee may base its decision on any number of factors, but 
generally considerations include, scope and expectations of elected positions, 
comparable regional stipend practices, and possibly a public survey or 
outreach campaign.  
 
Utilization of an advisory committee as part of implementing a stipend program 
is completely discretionary and the Council can always elect to undertake its 
own review and deliberation on the matter.  
 
In addition to the consideration of a suitable stipend amount, the Council may 
also want to consider whether the initial stipend amount should remain stagnant 
for an indefinite period of time or whether the stipend should automatically 
adjust based on various regional market factors (e.g. CPI). The Council may also 
want to consider whether any other compensation benefits such as health 
insurance should be provided.  
 
In any event, a review of current jurisdictional practices may be informative and 
prudent for the Council during this preliminary consideration period: 
 
 

CITY POPULATION 
MAYOR  
STIPEND  

(per month) 

COUNCILOR 
STIPEND 

(per month) 
OTHER  

166



BEND 95,000 $1066 $533  
CANBY 18,000 $200 $100  
CORVALLIS 58,000 $100 None  

EUGENE 169,000 $125 $83 City health insurance 
(if desired) 

FOREST GROVE 24,000 $150 $100 City health insurance 
(if desired) 

HILLSBORO 107,000 $2,000 $700 (Pres.) 
 $500 (Councilor) 

Rec. center annual 
pass; technology 

stipend 
KEIZER 39,000 None None  
KLAMATH FALLS 21,000 $200 $50  

LAKE OSWEGO 39,000 $390 $172 COLA increases to 
stipends 

MCMINNVILLE 34,000 None None  
MEDFORD 79,000 None None  
MILWAUKIE 21,000 $300 $250  
NEWBERG 24,000 $300 $10/meeting  
OREGON CITY 36,000 None None  
SALEM 170,000 None None  
SPRINGFIELD 60,000 None None  
TUALATIN 27,000 $90 Technology stipend 
WEST LINN 27,000 $533 $333  

WILSONVILLE  24,000 $750 $350 City health insurance 
(if desired) 

     
AVERAGE (of cities where a 
stipend provided): $477 $227 

 

 
 

2) Implementing the Stipend Program 
 
If the Council decides that it would like to move forward with implementing a 
stipend program for the mayor and councilors, then understanding the 
procedure and timeline for implementation is essential.  
 
Under Section 11 of the City's Charter, the mayor and councilors are permitted 
to receive compensation for their services and expenses and such amounts are 
to be fixed by the Council. The Council could decide to adopt a Resolution that 
would provide the stipend and set the stipend amount. The primary aspect of 
concern, however, in implementing any compensation stipend for elected 
officials is ensuring that the Oregon government ethics law is not violated.  
 
Oregon government ethics law prohibits public officials from using or attempting 
to use their official position or office to obtain financial gain for the public 
official.1 And, while ORS 244.040(2) does allow an elected official to receive a 
compensation package as determined by that public body, councilors and the 
                                                           
1 ORS 244.040(1). 

167



mayor (if applicable) will be prevented from voting on giving themselves such a 
financial benefit. In application, this means that any proposal implementing a 
stipend program should apply only to future terms of the councilor, not to their 
current term of office. 
 
By implementing the stipend program to become effective only when future 
councilors and mayors will be eligible to take office, councilors avoid having an 
actual conflict of interest under ORS 244.040(1) and would only have a potential 
conflict.2 Councilors could then publicly announce the nature of that potential 
conflict of interest and then proceed to participate in any discussion, debate, or 
vote on the stipend.3 
 
With the current terms of the Council, a stipend could be implemented in a 
staggered manner as follows: 
 

• Effective January 2021 
o Mayor 
o Ward I Councilor 
o Ward II Councilor 
o Ward VI Councilor 

• Effective January 2023 
o Ward III Councilor 
o Ward IV Councilor 
o Ward V Councilor 

 
If a staggered implementation is not desired, the Council could also decide to 
enact stipends for the mayor and all councilors effective January 2023 or later. 
In making either implementation decision, setting the amount of the stipend and 
budgeting for the stipend would need to occur in the spring of the year prior to 
it going into effect.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
If the Council decides it would like to move Staff time would be required for 
preparing any implementation instruments for a stipend program.  
 
The implementation of a stipend program itself would be an expense that would 
need to be included as part of the Council's annual budgeting process.  
  

                                                           
2 Councilors are advised that a potential conflict of interest should be declared for current 
council members who would be eligible to run for another term, or who may run for mayor. 
3 ORS 244.120(2)(a). In 2018, the City of Bend implemented a stipend program for the mayor and 
councilors, with their proposal including provisions for a staggered implementation of the stipend 
based on when future councilors would be eligible to take office. Because of the staggered 
implementation, their program won't be fully in effect for all councilors until 2021.  

168



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 12, 2019 

Page 1 - Council Meeting Minutes, November 12, 2019 

  
 DATE  COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL, CITY OF WOODBURN, COUNTY OF 

MARION, STATE OF OREGON, NOVEMBER 12, 2019 
 

CONVENED   The meeting convened at 7:15 p.m. with Mayor Swenson presiding. 
 

 ROLL CALL 
Mayor Swenson Present  
Councilor Carney Present 
Councilor Cornwell Present 
Councilor Schaub Present  
Councilor Morris Present 
Councilor Ellsworth Present 
Councilor Cabrales Present 
 
Staff Present: City Administrator Derickson, City Attorney Shields, Police Chief Ferraris,  
Economic Development Director Johnk, Operations Director Stultz, Project and Engineering 
Director Liljequist, Community Development Director Kerr, Finance Director Montoya, 
Senior Planner Cortes,  Community Relations Manager Guerrero, City Recorder Pierson 

  
  
 ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
 City Hall will be closed November 28 and 29 for the Thanksgiving Holiday.  
 
 The Library will be closed November 28 but will be open from 10 a.m. to 2 p.m. on Friday, 

November 29. 
 
 The Aquatic Center will be closed November 28 but will be open from 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. on 

Friday, November 29. 
 
 Transit Services will be closed on November 28 but will be open normal business hours on 

Friday, November 29. 
 
 The City Council meeting scheduled for November 25, 2019 is cancelled.  The next City 

Council meeting will take place on December 9, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. 
 
 WOODBURN POLICE DEPARTMENT SWEARING-IN CEREMONY 

Woodburn Police Chief Ferraris administered the oath of office to new Woodburn Police 
Officer Preston Neumann. 
 

 Mayor Swenson called for a 10-minute break.  
 
  
 
 
 

169



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 12, 2019 

Page 2 - Council Meeting Minutes, November 12, 2019 

 CONSENT AGENDA  
A. Woodburn City Council minutes of October 28, 2019, 
B. Acceptance of a Temporary Public Utility Easement at 1800 W. Hayes Street (Nellie Muir 

School), Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300), 
C. Acceptance of Two Public Utility Easements at 1800 W. Hayes Street (Nellie Muir 

School), Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300), 
D. Acceptance of two Warranty Deeds at 1800 W Hayes Street (Nellie Muir School), 

Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300), 
E. Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 5-year Tax Abatement Agreement with Grating 

Pacific, LLC, 
F. Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 5-year Tax Abatement Agreement with Grating 

Pacific, LLC. 
Morris/Ellsworth… adopt the Consent Agenda. The motion passed unanimously. 

   
 PUBLIC HEARING 
 Republic Service Rate Increase 
 A Public Hearing to consider input on the Republic Service Rate Increase. Mayor Swenson 

declared the hearing open at 7:40 p.m. for hearing public input on the Republic Service Rate 
Increase. City Administrator Derickson provided a staff report. KJ Lewis, Will Mathias, and 
Jam Lawson with Republic Services provided information on the rate increase.  Mayor 
Swenson asked if anyone from the public would like to speak on this subject. No members of 
the public wished to speak in either support or opposition.  Mayor Swenson declared the 
hearing closed at 8:01 p.m.   

  
 COUNCIL BILL NO. 3112 - A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN ADJUSTED RATE 

SCHEDULE FOR PROVIDING SOLID WASTE SERVICE WITHIN THE CITY OF 
WOODBURN AND REPEALING RESOLUTION 2087  

 Carney introduced Council Bill No. 3112. City Recorder Pierson read the bill by title only 
since there were no objections from the Council.  On roll call vote for final passage, the bill 
passed unanimously.  Mayor Swenson declared Council Bill No. 3112 duly passed. 

 
 PUBLIC HEARING 
 FY 2019/20 Supplemental Budget Request for Creation of PERS Side Account 
 A Public Hearing to consider input on the FY 2019/20 Supplemental Budget Request for 

creation of PERS side account. Mayor Swenson declared the hearing open at 8:09 p.m. for 
hearing public input on the FY 2019/20 Supplemental Budget Request for creation of PERS 
side account. City Administrator Derickson provided a staff report. Mayor Swenson asked if 
anyone from the public would like to speak on this subject. No members of the public wished 
to speak in either support or opposition.  Mayor Swenson declared the hearing closed at 8:10 
p.m.   

 
 COUNCIL BILL NO.  3113 – A FY 2019-2020 RESOLUTION APPROVING $733,333 

IN TRANSFERS OF APPROPRIATIONS IN VARIOUS FUNDS AND APPROVING 
THE CREATION OF A SIDE ACCOUNT THROUGH THE CONTRIBUTION OF 
$2,823,043 TO PERS 

 Carney introduced Council Bill No. 3113. City Recorder Pierson read the bill by title only 
since there were no objections from the Council.  On roll call vote for final passage, the bill 

170



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 12, 2019 

Page 3 - Council Meeting Minutes, November 12, 2019 

passed unanimously.  Mayor Swenson declared Council Bill No. 3113 duly passed. 
 
 PUBLIC HEARING 
 Expansion of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 
 A Public Hearing to consider input on the Expansion of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise 

Zone. Mayor Swenson declared the hearing open at 8:12 p.m. for hearing public input on the 
Expansion of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone. Economic Development Director 
Johnk provided a staff report. Mayor Swenson asked if anyone from the public would like to 
speak on this subject. Greg Specht spoke in favor of the expansion of the Woodburn-Gervais 
Enterprise Zone.  No members of the public wished to speak in opposition.  Mayor Swenson 
declared the hearing closed at 8:17 p.m.   

 
 COUNCIL BILL NO. 3114 - A RESOLUTION FOR WOODBURN-GERVAIS 

ENTERPRISE ZONE BOUNDARY CHANGE 
 Carney introduced Council Bill No. 3114. City Recorder Pierson read the bill by title only 

since there were no objections from the Council.  On roll call vote for final passage, the bill 
passed unanimously.  Mayor Swenson declared Council Bill No. 3114 duly passed. 

 
 AWARD A CONTRACT FOR FINAL DESIGN SERVICES FOR THE I-5 PUMP 

STATION AND FORCE MAIN UPGRADES TO MURRAYSMITH, INC.  
 Public Works Director Liljequist provided a staff report. Carney/Ellsworth… award a 

Contract for final design services for the I-5 Pump Station and Force Main Upgrades for 
$537,850.00 to Murraysmith, Inc. and authorize the City Administrator to sign the Agreement.  

 The motion passed unanimously.   
 
 PUBLIC HEARING 
 Pacific Valley Apartments DR 2019-03 
 A Public Hearing to consider input on Pacific Valley Apartments DR 2019-03. Mayor 

Swenson declared the hearing open at 8:22 p.m. for hearing public input on Pacific Valley 
Apartments DR 2019-03.  Councilor Morris noted that he is familiar with the property. 
Councilor Ellsworth stated that she drives by the property and read the Facebook news story 
and told someone about the hearing at work.  Councilor Cornwell says she drives by the site. 
City Recorder Pierson read the Public Hearing Statement. Senior Planner Cortes provided a 
staff report and added the Planning Commission staff report with attachments and the 
applicant’s revised plan to the record. Robert Leeb, with Leeb Architects, provided 
information on the application and the proposed revisions to the application. Mayor Swenson 
asked if any member of the public would like to speak in support of this subject. No members 
of the public wished to speak in support.  Mayor Swenson asked if any member of the public 
would like to speak in opposition of this subject.    

 
 Sandra Camacho-Otero, 1235 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application stating that her 

concerns are having no privacy and the increase in traffic and parking in streets.   
 
 Craig Roushausen, 1235 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and he has concerns 

with not requiring a retaining wall between the homes and the apartments and only requiring 
arborvitae. He is also concerned about property values going down. He provided a copy of a 

171



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 12, 2019 

Page 4 - Council Meeting Minutes, November 12, 2019 

letter and a copy of a City Ordinance to the City Council.  
 
 Lupita Pena-Baltazar, 1165 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated that the 

apartments will be very close to her home and she has concerns about noise and the value of 
her property.  

 
 Marlene Hernandez, 1199 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated that they 

are concerned about losing their privacy.  
 
 Ulf Bjorklund, 1281 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated that he is an 

audio narrator and he works from home and requires a quiet environment. He added that they 
should move the building closest to the homes and put the park there instead. He showed 
pictures of his yard to the City Council.   

 
 Filanida Muraviov, 1297 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated that she  
 is worried about the wellbeing of her child and that she would like to see a one story apartment  
 and more parking. 
 
 Fred and Katie Muraviov, 1297 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated 

that their main concern was no wall and that they feel there is a lot of stuff being squeezed on 
the property.  

 
 David Rosales, 1160 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated that the 

buildings are too high and that neighbors are losing privacy.  
 
 Ricardo Vazquez-Rodriguez, 1189 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated 

that he has concerns about people running through the bushes without having a wall between 
the properties. He stated that he is also concerned about parking and property values going 
down.  

 
 Alex Muraviov, 1297 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated that there 

will be no privacy with the buildings being three stories tall and balconies overlooking the 
houses.  

 
 Ida Allen, 1258 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated that she is worried  
 about her neighborhood and that with more people there will be more crime.  
 
 Merle Stutzman, 11623 Broadacres Rd. NE, spoke against the application and stated that his 

concerns are with the privacy of the neighbors.  
 
 Kim Bjorklund, 1281 Greenview Drive, spoke against the application and stated that the 

movement of building C is inadequate and that a wall is needed. She also stated concerns 
about privacy, parking and property values going down.  

 
 The Mayor asked if the applicant would like to come back for rebuttal.  
 
 Robert Leeb stated that the distance in feet from the property to the houses is between 100 

172



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 12, 2019 

Page 5 - Council Meeting Minutes, November 12, 2019 

and 150 feet. He noted that building C moved significantly from the zoning requirements. If 
a wall is found to be more appropriate they would put that in and it would be in the 6 foot 
range.  

 
 Eugene Labunsky, West Coast Real Estate, stated that in response to the parking concerns, 

there will be permitted parking and for special events an event permit would be required for 
guests. He stated that it was his belief that there was adequate parking. He noted that they are 
open to a wall.  

  
 City Council asked the applicant questions of clarification on the application.  
  
 Mayor Swenson closed the hearing at 10:13 p.m.   
 
 City Council deliberated.  
 
 City Attorney Shields reminded the City Council that this application is subject to the 120 day 

rule and needs to be decided by January.  
 
 Carney/Schaub… approve the application for the Pacific Valley Apartments DR 2019-03 

and consolidated applications with the modifications to the design and conditions of approval 
as proposed by the applicant to include the applicants letter and nomination of improvements 
of the November 12, 2019 letter and direct staff to submit the written land use decisions for 
approval by the City Council at the next meeting. Council deliberated.  On roll call vote 
Councilors Ellsworth, Carney and Schaub voted yes and Councilors Morris, Cabrales and 
Cornwell voted no. Mayor Swenson voted no to break the tie vote. The motion failed.  

 
 Schaub/Ellsworth… approve the application for the Pacific Valley Apartments DR 2019-03 

and consolidated applications with the modifications  to design and conditions of approval as 
proposed by the applicant, and direct staff to submit the written land use decision for approval 
by the City Council at the next meeting and have it include the wall. Council deliberated. On 
roll call vote Councilors Ellsworth, Carney, Schaub and Cornwell voted yes and Councilors 
Morris and Cabrales voted no. The motion passed 4-2.  

  
 MODIFICATION TO CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR SALEM HEALTH 

CLINIC AT 105 N. ARNEY RD (MOC 2019-01) 
 The City Council declined to call this item up. 
 
 CALL-UP BRIEFING:  PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL OF 

CONDITIONAL USE, DESIGN REVIEW, STREET EXCEPTION, AND VARIANCE 
APPLICATIONS FOR HERITAGE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL AT 440 PARR RD (CU 
2019-02, DR 2019-02, EXCP 2019-02, & VAR 2019-01) 

 The City Council declined to call this item up. 
 
 CALL-UP BRIEFING:  PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL OF 

CONDITIONAL USE, DESIGN REVIEW, STREET EXCEPTION, AND VARIANCE 
APPLICATIONS FOR LINCOLN ELEMENTARY SCHOOL AT 965 & 1041 N. 

173



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 12, 2019 

Page 6 - Council Meeting Minutes, November 12, 2019 

BOONES FERRY RD (CU 2019-06, DR 2019-08, EXCP 2019-04, & VAR 2019-06) 
 The City Council declined to call this item up. 
 
 CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 The City Administrator had nothing to report.  
 
 MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
 Councilor Morris thanked the Planning Commission for their work.  
 
 Mayor Swenson thanked everyone for the great discussion.  
 
 ADJOURNMENT 

Schaub/Morris… meeting be adjourned.  The motion passed unanimously.   
The meeting adjourned at 11:25 p.m. 

 
APPROVED                                                            
                      ERIC SWENSON, MAYOR 

 
 
ATTEST                                                                               
               Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
               City of Woodburn, Oregon 

174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



11/19/2019 Woodburn Police Department
MONTHLY ARRESTS BY OFFENSES 

2019 Year to Date

2
0
6
0

10
0
0
0
1
0
2
0
1
9
0
3
5
9
1
0
0
1
0
3
2
1
0
0
0

45
0
1
0
6
2
1
0
1
0
0
1
7
0
1
2
1
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
2

1
0
1
2
9
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
6
0

10
6
6
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

26
0
0
0
2
0
2
0
0
0
0
1
2
0
4
2
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1
0
4
0
1
0
1
0
3
0
1
0
0
8
0
3
8

13
1
2
2
0
0
0
3
3
1
0
0

37
1
0
1
3
1
1
0
0
5
0
0
5
0
3
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0

3
1
0
0
9
1
0
0
0
0
4
0
1
5
2
5
5

16
2
0
0
0
0
2
1
0
0
1
1

37
0
0
0
5
0
5
0
0
1
0
0
4
0
3
0
3
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

5
0
3
0

10
0
0
1
4
0
1
0
0
5
0

14
9

10
1
1
0
0
0
1
2
1
0
0
0

38
0
0
1
3
2
2
0
0
2
0
2
7
0
5
5
0
0
0
1
0
1
0
0
0

2
0
2
0

11
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
1
3
0

13
8

23
1
0
0
1
0
1
1
2
2
0
0

36
0
0
0
2
2
2
1
0
0
1
4
6
0
2
1
1
0
1
0
1
2
0
0
1

6
2
2
0
9
0
0
1
2
0
2
1
6

10
0

12
6

22
2
4
0
1
0
0
4
0
0
0
0

51
0
0
0
3
1
5
0
0
1
0
4

10
0
5
4
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1
2
0
0

14
0
0
0
2
0
5
0
0
4
0

11
9

16
0
1
0
1
0
0
1
0
0
0
0

39
0
0
1
2
1
5
0
1
1
0
1
3
1
3
1
1
1
1
0
2
1
1
0
0

0
0
3
0
4
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
4
0
3
8

18
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
0

43
0
0
0
1
0
3
0
0
1
0
2
5
0
4
2
1
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
0

2
1
8
0
8
0
0
2
2
0
3
0
1
2
2
6
6

14
1
0
0
2
1
0
1
1
0
0
0

52
0
0
0
3
1
3
0
0
0
0
2
6
0
3
2
0
0
0
0
0
2
0
0
0

23
6

29
2

85
1
1
4

15
1

19
1

13
56

4
80
70

147
10

8
2
6
1
7

16
9
3
1
1

404
1
1
3

30
10
29

1
2

11
1

17
55

1
33
21

9
1
2
1
3
7
3
2
3SEX CRIME - FORCIBLE SODOMY

SEX CRIME - EXPOSER
SEX CRIME - CONTRIBUTE TO SEX DELINQUENCY
RUNAWAY
ROBBERY - OTHER
ROBBERY - CONV.STORE
ROBBERY - CAR JACKING
ROBBERY - BUSINESS
RESTRAINING ORDER VIOLATION
RECKLESSLY ENDANDERING
RECKLESS DRIVING
PROSTITUTION - ENGAGE IN
OTHER
MOTOR VEHICLE THEFT
MINOR ON PREMISES
MINOR IN POSSESSION
KIDNAP - FOR ADDITIONAL CRIMINAL PURPOSE
INVASION OF PERSONAL PRIVACY
INTIMIDATION /OTHER CRIMINAL THREAT
IDENTITY THEFT
HIT AND RUN-MISDEMEANOR
HIT AND RUN FELONY
GARBAGE LITTERING
FURNISHING
FUGITIVE ARREST FOR ANOTHER AGENCY
FRAUD - WIRE
FRAUD - NOT SUFFICIENT FUNDS CHECK
FRAUD - CREDIT CARD/AUTOMATIC TELLER MACHINE
FRAUD - BY DECEPTION/FALSE PRETENSES
FORGERY/COUNTERFEITING
FORCIBLE RAPE
FAILURE TO REGISTER AS SEX OFFENDER
FAIL TO DISPLAY OPERATORS LICENSE
ESCAPE FROM YOUR CUSTODY
ELUDE
DWS/REVOKED-MISDEMEANOR
DRUG LAW VIOLATIONS
DRIVING UNDER INFLUENCE
DISORDERLY CONDUCT
CUSTODY - PROTECITVE
CUSTODY - MENTAL
CURFEW
CRIMINAL MISTREATMENT
CRIME DAMAGE-NO VANDALISM OR ARSON
CHILD NEGLECT
BURGLARY - RESIDENCE
BURGLARY - OTHER STRUCTURE
BURGLARY - BUSINESS
ATTEMPTED MURDER
ASSAULT SIMPLE
ARSON
ANIMAL ORDINANCES
ANIMAL CRUELTY
AGGRAVATED ASSAULT

TotalOctSepAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJanCHARGE DESCRIPTION

Page 1 of 2

183



11/19/2019 Woodburn Police Department
MONTHLY ARRESTS BY OFFENSES 

2019 Year to Date

2
1
0
1
0
1
0
0
0
1
4
5
0
2

10
18

1
1
1
1
1
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
1
1
1
8

11
3
1
0
0
1
0
2
1

0
0
1
0
0
0
1
0
0
0
3
0
0
7
8
9
2
2
5
1
1
1
0

0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
0
1
0
2
0
5
7
6
0
0
1
1
1
4
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
2
0
0
0
0
1
0

12
8
7
0
1
1
0
0
3
0

0
0
1
1
0
2
0
2
0
1
0
7
0
5
4
6
0
1
1
2
1
4
0

0
0
1
0
0
0
0
1
1
1
1
1
0

13
17
12

0
1
0
0
0
3
2

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
2
2
0
9
8

10
2
1
2
0
0
1
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
0
1
7
8
0
0
2
0
1
3
1

0
0
0
0
1
0
0
1
0
3
1
1
0
2
8

10
1
2
3
0
0
2
0

2
1
3
2
1
4
4
6
2
7

12
23

1
64
88
89

7
9

16
6
5

23
4WEAPON - SHOOTING IN PROHIBITED AREA

WEAPON - POSSESS ILLEGAL
WEAPON - EX FELON IN POSSESSION
WEAPON - CARRY CONCEALED
VEHICLE RECOVERD FOR OTHER AGENCY
VANDALISM
UNAUTHORIZED ENTRY INTO MOTOR VEHICLE
TRESPASS
TRAFFIC VIOLATIONS
THEFT - SHOPLIFT
THEFT - PURSE SNATCH
THEFT - OTHER
THEFT - FROM MOTOR VEHICLE
THEFT - BUILDING
THEFT - BICYCLE
STOLEN PROPERTY - RECEIVING,BUYING,POSSESSING
STALKER
SEX CRIME - SEXUAL ASSAULT WITH AN OBJECT
SEX CRIME - PORNOGRAPHY/OBSCENE MATERIAL
SEX CRIME - OTHER
SEX CRIME - NON-FORCE RAPE
SEX CRIME - MOLEST (PHYSICAL)
SEX CRIME - INCEST

TotalOctSepAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJan

178 115 157 146 172 174 231 172 134 172 1,6512019 Total
TotalOctSepAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJan

187 111 138 136 147 101 162 155 144 136 14172018 Total
135 169 176 166 164 143 152 155 138 111 15092017 Total

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2017 2018 2019

1,509 1,417
1,651

Year

A
rr

es
ts

Arrests / Year

Page 2 of 2

184



Woodburn Police Department
MONTHLY CRIMINAL OFFENSES 

2019 Year to Date

11/19/2019

3
0
3
1

12
0
2
2
8
0

16
1
1

10
0
3
5
9
1
1
0
1
0
1
0
2
9
0
2
3
0
0
1
0

27
0
1
1

23
6
1
0
1
0
0
0

19
8

20
6
3
2
0
2
2
0
0

4
0
1
2
8
0
1
1
2
0

14
0
0
6
0
6
7
7
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
1
2
0
5
2
0
0
0
0

18
0
0
1
8
5
0
0
0
0
0
0

18
6

12
3
4
2
0
6
3
0
0

2
0
3
0
7
0
1
3
5
0

15
0
0
9
0
5
8

15
1
1
2
0
0
0
0
1
7
0
6
2
0
0
0
0

28
1
0
1

13
3
1
0
0
0
2
0

25
13

8
7
4
0
0
3
0
0
0

4
1
0
0

14
1
0
1
6
0

10
0
1
5
1
5
5
9
2
2
0
0
0
0
0
3
3
0
2
2
0
1
0
0

26
0
0
0

19
3
6
0
0
0
1
0

21
9

12
5
2
0
0
5
3
0
0

5
1
2
0

13
0
3
4

14
0

15
0
0
5
0

11
9

11
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
4
4
0
4
0
0
0
1
0

29
1
0
3

19
4
2
1
0
0
1
0

23
15
12

9
1
0
0
6
1
1
0

4
0
1
0

18
0
2
1
7
2

18
0
1
3
0

12
8

14
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
1
4
0
4
5
0
0
1
0

31
0
0
0

15
2
3
0
0
0
0
1

29
21
21

7
4
0
0
2
2
0
1

6
3
2
0

12
0
0
2
7
0

14
1
2

10
0
9
6

22
2
3
0
0
0
1
0
1
8
1
2
2
1
0
0
0

40
0
0
1

16
1
2
0
0
0
1
0

13
6

15
11

3
0
0
7
1
0
2

3
1
0
1

17
0
2
3
5
1

16
0
0
4
0

15
9

12
0
1
0
0
0
1
1
3
3
1
3
2
0
0
1
1

25
0
0
0

15
8
7
0
2
0
1
0

19
11
16

3
3
1
1
3
1
1
0

0
0
3
0
8
0
0
1
6
0
5
0
3
4
0
6
8

14
0
0
0
0
3
0
0
0
1
1
4
2
0
0
0
0

26
0
0
0

21
1
2
0
2
1
1
0

18
16
10

5
4
1
0
5
1
0
1

3
1
4
0

14
0
7
4

10
0

18
0
1
2
1
6
6

13
1
1
0
0
0
2
0
2
6
0
4
1
0
0
0
0

32
0
0
1

21
3
2
0
0
0
0
0

12
19
14

8
3
1
0
3
0
0
0

34
7

19
4

123
1

18
22
70

3
141

2
9

58
2

78
71

126
9

11
2
1
3
6
1

18
47

3
36
21

1
1
4
1

282
2
1
8

170
36
26

1
5
1
7
1

197
124
140

64
31

7
1

42
14

2
4

AGGRAVATED ASSAULT
ANIMAL CRUELTY
ANIMAL ORDINANCES
ARSON
ASSAULT SIMPLE
ATTEMPTED MURDER
BURGLARY - BUSINESS
BURGLARY - OTHER STRUCTURE
BURGLARY - RESIDENCE
CHILD NEGLECT
CRIME DAMAGE-NO VANDALISM OR ARSON
CRIMINAL MISTREATMENT
CURFEW
CUSTODY - MENTAL
CUSTODY - PROTECITVE
DISORDERLY CONDUCT
DRIVING UNDER INFLUENCE
DRUG LAW VIOLATIONS
DWS/REVOKED-MISDEMEANOR
ELUDE
ESCAPE FROM YOUR CUSTODY
EXPLOSIVES
EXTORTION/BLACKMAIL
FAIL TO DISPLAY OPERATORS LICENSE
FAILURE TO REGISTER AS SEX OFFENDER
FORCIBLE RAPE
FORGERY/COUNTERFEITING
FRAUD - ACCOUNT CLOSED CHECK
FRAUD - BY DECEPTION/FALSE PRETENSES
FRAUD - CREDIT CARD/AUTOMATIC TELLER MACHINE
FRAUD - IMPERSONATION
FRAUD - NOT SUFFICIENT FUNDS CHECK
FRAUD - OF SERVICES/FALSE PRETENSES
FRAUD-OTHER
FUGITIVE ARREST FOR ANOTHER AGENCY
FURNISHING
GARBAGE LITTERING
HIT AND RUN FELONY
HIT AND RUN-MISDEMEANOR
IDENTITY THEFT
INTIMIDATION /OTHER CRIMINAL THREAT
INVASION OF PERSONAL PRIVACY
KIDNAP - FOR ADDITIONAL CRIMINAL PURPOSE
KIDNAP - FOR RANSOM
MINOR IN POSSESSION
MINOR ON PREMISES
MISCELLANEOUS
MOTOR VEHICLE THEFT
NON CRIMINAL DOMESTIC DISTURBANCE
OTHER
PROPERTY - FOUND LOST MISLAID
PROPERTY RECOVER FOR OTHER AGENCY
PROSTITUTION - ENGAGE IN
RECKLESS DRIVING
RESTRAINING ORDER VIOLATION
ROBBERY - BUSINESS
ROBBERY - CAR JACKING

TotalOctSepAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJanCHARGE DESCRIPTION

Page 1 of 2 185



Woodburn Police Department
MONTHLY CRIMINAL OFFENSES 

2019 Year to Date

11/19/2019

0
0
0
0
0
1
2
1
2
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0

25
2

14
1
1

12
11

8
3

16
5
1
1
1
1

0
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
1
2
1

18
2
7
1
1

14
6
6
0
8
3
1
0
0
3

0
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
1
2
0
0
1
1
0
0
0
5
0

27
1

16
1
0

22
11
10

2
13

5
1
1
1
1

0
0
0
3
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
0
6
3
1
8
1

24
0
0

21
8
8
1

12
3
1
1
4
0

1
1
0
4
0
0
0
0
2
1
0
3
0
2
0
0
8
1
0

15
3

23
1
2

24
9

12
0

17
2
0
0
3
1

0
1
1
5
0
0
0
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
1
4
1

14
2

29
0
1

17
6

14
1

13
6
2
1
5
1

0
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
2
1
0
0
0
0
2
0
3
1
2

10
1

19
0
0

20
19
13

1
15

0
0
0
1
4

0
1
0
2
1
1
1
0
1
1
0
0
0
0
1
1
3
0
0

19
3

17
0
1

16
11
15

2
20

0
1
0
3
2

0
3
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2
0
1
5
0

25
1
9
0
0

12
8

13
2
8
3
0
1
3
1

0
0
1
5
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
1
5
0

32
4

10
0
1
9
7

11
1

13
3
0
0
3
1

1
6
2

22
2
4
3
2

12
6
1
4
2
4
7
1

25
26

5
193

20
168

4
7

167
96

110
13

135
30

7
5

24
15

ROBBERY - CONV.STORE
ROBBERY - OTHER
ROBBERY - RESIDENCE
RUNAWAY
SEX CRIME - CONTRIBUTE TO SEX DELINQUENCY
SEX CRIME - EXPOSER
SEX CRIME - FORCIBLE SODOMY
SEX CRIME - INCEST
SEX CRIME - MOLEST (PHYSICAL)
SEX CRIME - NON-FORCE RAPE
SEX CRIME - OTHER
SEX CRIME - PORNOGRAPHY/OBSCENE MATERIAL
SEX CRIME - SEXUAL ASSAULT WITH AN OBJECT
STALKER
STOLEN PROPERTY - RECEIVING,BUYING,POSSESSING
SUICIDE
THEFT - BICYCLE
THEFT - BUILDING
THEFT - COIN OP MACHINE
THEFT - FROM MOTOR VEHICLE
THEFT - MOTOR VEHICLE PARTS/ACCESSORIES
THEFT - OTHER
THEFT - PICKPOCKET
THEFT - PURSE SNATCH
THEFT - SHOPLIFT
TRAFFIC VIOLATIONS
TRESPASS
UNAUTHORIZED ENTRY INTO MOTOR VEHICLE
VANDALISM
VEHICLE RECOVERD FOR OTHER AGENCY
WEAPON - CARRY CONCEALED
WEAPON - EX FELON IN POSSESSION
WEAPON - POSSESS ILLEGAL
WEAPON - SHOOTING IN PROHIBITED AREA

TotalOctSepAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJan

322 292 355 317 330 307 317 321 307 2,8682017 Total

409 284 317 342 316 309 311 308 292 2,8882018 Total

330 235 325 297 371 374 352 346 282 336 3,2482019 Total  
TotalOctSepAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJan

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

2017 2018 2019

2,868 2,888
3,248

YEAR

O
F

F
E

N
S

E
S

Offenses / Year

Page 2 of 2 186



Woodburn Police Department
ORDINANCE VIOLATIONS 

2019 Year to Date

11/19/2019

38

0

66

2

1

34

0

141

29

1

39

0

0

30

0

99

44

0

50

1

2

51

0

148

36

0

34

0

1

45

0

116

50

2

18

6

2

40

87

205

38

0

48

2

1

74

34

197

48

1

38

1

0

68

17

173

80

0

51

4

4

60

8

207

40

2

42

3

3

53

1

144

51

0

45

5

1

41

2

145

454

6

431

24

15

496

149

1,5752019 Total 

Ordinance - Tall Grass

Ordinance - Oth Violation

Ordinance - Land Use Violations

Ordinance - Abate Graffiti

Ordinance - Abandoned Vehicles

Ordiinance - Abate/Nuisances

Animal Complaint

TotalOctSepAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJanOrdinance Discription

176 133 156 182 223 167 140 205 121 185 1,6882018 Total

94 126 176 177 290 284 175 170 149 129 1,7702017 Total   

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

2017 2018 2019

1,538 1,444 1,302

COMBINED TOTAL - CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS

V
IO

L
A

T
IO

N
S

Ordinance Violations / Code Enforcement Officers

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2017 2018 2019

1,770 1,688 1,575

YEAR TOTALS FOR ALL OFFICERS

V
IO

L
A

T
IO

N
S

Ordinance Violations / Year

1
187



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ____x__ City Attorney ____x__ Finance __x___ 

 December 9, 2019 
 
 TO: Mayor and City Council (acting as the Local Contract Review 

Board) through City Administrator 
 
THROUGH: James C. Ferraris, Chief of Police 
 
FROM: Jason Millican, Lieutenant 
 
SUBJECT: Photo Speed Enforcement Amendment to Contract with Redflex 
  
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Authorize the Woodburn Police Department to amend the current Agreement 
with Reflex Traffic Systems, Inc. to incorporate a fee structure for the enforcement 
of speeding violations at the intersection (Mt. Hood Ave and Hwy 211). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
On July 22, 2019, The City Council approved the proposal made by the Woodburn 
Police Department to petition ODOT to allow for the capability to enforce speed 
violations at the mentioned intersection.  On September 23, 2019, the City of 
Woodburn received initial approval from ODOT to incorporate photo speed 
enforcement.   
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The Woodburn Police Department received initial approval from ODOT to begin 
the speed enforcement program.  In order to proceed with the program, Redflex 
must update the current system in order to meet the regulations set by ODOT and 
Oregon Revised Statutes.  Once all the necessary updates and inspections are 
made, the speed enforcement program will be turned on.   
 
The Woodburn Police Department has been updating the public through local 
media in order to inform and educate them on the changes.  Once photo speed 
enforcement capability is activated, public notification will be made and there 
will be at least a 30-day grace period where no citations will be issued for speed 
enforcement. 

188



Mayor and City Council 
December 9, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
For the remainder of the current extension, which will end on June 30, 2020, the 
City would pay Redflex $27.00 per paid citation for speed violations.   

189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __x_____ City Attorney ___x___ Finance __x___ 

 December 9, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council (Acting as the Local Contract 

Review Board) through City Administrator  
 
FROM: Jason Millican, Lieutenant 
 
THROUGH: James C. Ferraris, Chief of Police 
 
SUBJECT: Towing Services Proposals Award 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Award a Contract for Category I and II tows on a rotational basis to M&M Towing 
& Auto Sales and Baker & Baker Towing & 76, Inc. and authorize the City 
Administrator to sign the correlating agreements.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
For several years, the City of Woodburn has maintained a rotational list of towing 
companies to provide citywide towing services.   The City of Woodburn has sought 
qualified firms to perform rotational towing and storage services for the Woodburn 
Police Department, and towing services for all vehicles owned by the City of 
Woodburn. The scope of services sought includes providing rotational non-
preference towing services, storage, and city towing services in a timely, 
courteous, safe, and professional manner under a multi-year contract. Towing 
and storage services performed by the awarded firms for the City are in the 
interest of preserving public safety and convenience. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Two categories of towing services were outlined for separate response in an 
advertised Request for Proposals (RFP): Category I (Class ‘A’ & ‘B’) Tows; vehicles 
& light trucks, abandoned/junk vehicles) and Category II (Class C Tows; heavy 
trucks and cranes). The procurement process for soliciting these services and the 
contract award has followed public contracting laws of the State of Oregon as 
outlined in ORS Chapter 279B and the laws and regulations of the City of 
Woodburn. 

208



City of Woodburn Towing Services Award 
December 9, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
 
Both M & M Towing & Auto Sales and Baker & Baker Towing & 76 Inc. responded 
to the RFP for both Category I (Class ‘A’ & ‘B’) and Category II (Class ‘C’) tow 
services for the City of Woodburn.  Both of these firms submitted qualified 
proposals and scored competitively in all categories under consideration (e.g. 
staffing, facilities, references, etc.).  
 
The RFP directed that after scoring and ranking by a review committee, up to 
three (3) Category I proposals and two (2) Category II proposals would be 
recommended to a selection committee in preparation for making a 
recommendation to City Council. Since the selection committee only received 
two proposals from the listed companies and found they both had adequate 
resources to meet the City & public’s needs for the duration of the proposed 
contracts, the selection committee is recommending an award to both 
companies as indicated above.   
 
Upon contract award, both M &M Towing & Auto Sales and Baker & Baker Towing 
& 76 Inc. would respond on a rotational basis for City of Woodburn towing 
requests for Category I (Class ‘A’ & ‘B’) and Category II (Class ‘C’) vehicles.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Financial impact to the City of Woodburn upon award of the contract would be 
dependent on the quantity of tow services required for City of Woodburn owned 
vehicles and/or under the responsibility of the City (i.e. Police generated 
investigative tows or impounds).  These costs are already accounted for within the 
approved City of Woodburn budget. 
 
Tow services required for vehicles in Categories I and II, not associated with the 
City of Woodburn, would not generate a financial impact. 
 

209



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ____x__ City Attorney ___x___  

                  December 9, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council  
 
FROM: Scott Derickson, City Administrator 
 
SUBJECT: Intergovernmental Agreement with the Woodburn School District for 

collection and administration of a Construction Excise Tax (“CET”) 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
 
Authorize the City Administrator to sign a new Intergovernmental Agreement 
(IGA) with the Woodburn School District for collection and administration of a 
Construction Excise Tax (“CET”). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Woodburn Building Division has had an IGA with the Woodburn School 
District in the past that expired in 2016. The Building Division’s administration fee 
portion of the Construction Excise Tax will remain the same at four percent. 
   
DISCUSSION: 
 
The City of Woodburn Building Division is requesting to renew an IGA with the 
Woodburn School District as part of a review and update to the Division’s 
Operating Plan. The new IGA is very similar in verbiage to the previous IGA with 
Woodburn School District. The main revisions are increasing remittance from 
quarterly to monthly payment by check and removing the “sunset clause” in the 
agreement 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
For the jurisdiction the financial impact is minimal. 
 

210



 Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator _x_____ City Attorney ___x___ Finance __x___ 

   December 9, 2019 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
THROUGH: Scott Derickson, City Administrator 
 
FROM: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director 
 Colin Cortes, AICP, CNU-A, Senior Planner 
 
SUBJECT: Housing Needs Analysis Adoption Hearing (LA 2019-02) 
  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Hold a public hearing and adopt the attached Ordinance 2576 that will 
incorporate a new Housing Needs Analysis into the Woodburn Comprehensive 
Plan.  

BACKGROUND: 
 

Oregon Statewide Planning Goal 10 “Housing” is to provide for the housing needs 
of citizens of the state.  Statutes and Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660-008 
implement Goal 10, and the OAR requires cities to develop and adopt housing 
needs analyses (HNAs) to ensure: 

1. opportunity for the provision of adequate numbers of needed housing 
units, 

2. efficient use of buildable land within urban growth boundaries (UGBs), and 
3. provision of greater certainty in the development process so as to reduce 

housing costs. 
 

With guidance by staff, the consultant FCS Group prepared the proposed plan 
document thanks to funding that the 2018 legislature allocated through the 
Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) for technical 
assistance. 

The City Council held a work session on the Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) on 
October 28, 2019 that resulted in the Council tentatively approving the document 

211



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
December 9, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
based on removal of Appendix B “Draft Policies and Actions” that contains 
recommended measures.   

Legislative Amendment LA 2019-02 via Ordinance 2576 adopts the document as 
part of the Comprehensive Plan. 

DISCUSSION: 

Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan require a public hearing and 
recommendation from the Planning Commission prior to being considered by the 
City Council.  On September 26, 2019, in conformance with Woodburn 
Development Ordinance (WDO) 4.01.09B. and 4.01.10B., the Planning 
Commission held a public hearing and unanimously recommended that the 
Council adopt the proposed HNA. 

If adopted by the Council, this HNA will replace the current HNA as part of the 
Comprehensive Plan, Volume II, the volume of background information that 
serves as the basis for Volume I goals and policies.   

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Adoption of the revised HNA will not, in and of itself, have any direct financial 
impact on the City.   

 
Attachment: 
 
1. Ordinance 2576 and its exhibits (December 9, 2019) 

 

212



Page - 1 -  Council Bill No. 3115 
    Ordinance No. 2576 
 

 COUNCIL BILL NO. 3115 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2576 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AN UPDATED HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS INTO THE 
WOODBURN COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (LA 2019-02) 

 
WHEREAS, Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 197.175 requires cities to 

prepare, adopt and implement comprehensive plans consistent with statewide 
planning goals adopted by the Land Conservation and Development 
Commission (LCDC); and 

 
WHEREAS, Oregon Statewide Planning Goal 10 “Housing” is to provide for 

the housing needs of citizens of the state; and 
 
WHEREAS, ORS 197.295-314 & 197.475-490 and Oregon Administrative 

Rules (OAR) 660-008 implement Goal 10, and the OAR requires that cities have 
housing needs analyses to ensure opportunity for the provision of adequate 
numbers of needed housing units, the efficient use of buildable land within 
urban growth boundaries (UGBs), and to provide greater certainty in the 
development process so as to reduce housing costs.; and 

 
WHEREAS, ORS 197.296 requires cities to establish a buildable lands 

inventory (BLI) as part of a housing needs analysis (HNA); and 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Woodburn applied for technical assistance to 

analyze and report on Woodburn housing needs, and on June 28, 2018, DLCD 
notified the City that it selected Woodburn from among a large applicant 
pool; and  

 
WHEREAS, As part of the administration of technical assistance, on 

September 10, 2018 the City Council authorized the City to enter into a 
memorandum of understanding (MOU) with DLCD; and  

 
WHEREAS, The MOU outlined project deliverables, set interim and final 

due dates, provided for minimum oversight by the Planning Commission 
serving as the project advisory committee, and stated that the objectives 
were to analyze housing needs, compile a documented and adoption-ready 
HNA, and complete the following deliverables: 

1. A housing needs projection; 
2. A BLI; 
3. An residential lands needs analysis (RLNA); and 
  

213



Page - 2 -  Council Bill No. 3115 
    Ordinance No. 2576 
 

4. Identification of measures for accommodating needed housing; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission as the project steering committee 

held several work sessions; and  
 
WHEREAS, staff and the consultant FCS Group hosted two meetings of a 

technical advisory group (TAG); and  
 
WHEREAS, staff and the consultant held two public open houses; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City duly complied with the MOU; and  
 
WHEREAS, on September 26, 2019, the Planning Commission held a 

public hearing and  recommended that the Council adopt the HNA; and  
 
WHEREAS, on October 28, 2019, the Council held a work session, 

tentatively approved the HNA based upon removal of Appendix B “Draft 
Policies and Actions” that contains recommended measures, and requested 
this Ordinance effecting the amendment; and 
 

WHEREAS, on December 9, 2019, the Council held a public hearing, 
reviewed the record, heard testimony, and approves this Ordinance effecting 
the amendment (LA 2019-02) that adopts the HNA as part of the Woodburn 
Comprehensive Plan, Volume II; NOW, THEREFORE, 
 

THE CITY OF WOODBURN ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.   The Woodburn Comprehensive Plan is amended to repeal 
and replace the previously adopted Housing Needs Analysis (HNA), and adopt 
a new HNA as provided in attached Exhibit “A”. 
 

Section 2.  The HNA supplements adopted documents composing 
Volume II of the Comprehensive Plan that includes background information 
that serves as the basis for Volume I goals and policies and their administration. 
 

Section 3.  The legislative action taken by the Ordinance is explained and 
justified by the Analysis and Findings contained in attached Exhibit “B”.  

 
 
Approved as to form:      
 City Attorney  Date 
 

214



Page - 3 -  Council Bill No. 3115 
    Ordinance No. 2576 
 

 
 Approved:   
  Eric Swenson, Mayor 
 
Passed by the Council   

 

Submitted to the Mayor   

Approved by the Mayor   

Filed in the Office of the Recorder   

 
ATTEST:   
  Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
  City of Woodburn, Oregon 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

215



 

 

  

City of   
Woodburn 

 Final 

Dec. 9, 2019 

Housing Needs Analysis 

This project is funded by Oregon general fund dollars through the Department of 

Land Conservation and Development. The contents of this document do not 

necessarily reflect the views or policies of the State of Oregon. 

216

colinco
Text Box
Ordinance No. 2576Exhibit A



2 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

Under Oregon House Bill HB 4006 (2018), the state legislature provided funding for housing needs 

studies as part of the Department of Land Conservation and Development’s (DLCD) Technical 

Assistance grant program. Woodburn applied for, and received funding, to conduct a housing needs 

analysis starting June 2018. 

This work is made possible through the sincere input by City staff and the Woodburn Planning 

Commission. We specifically recognize and appreciate the time and attention dedicated to this work 

by the following people. 

City of Woodburn 

Chris Kerr, AICP, Community Development Director 

Colin Cortes, AICP, Senior Planner 

Dan Handel, AICP, Assistant Planner 

 

Woodburn Planning Commission 

Charles Piper, Chair 

Ellen Bandelow, Vice Chair 

Ronald Aiken 

Merri Berlin 

Sharon Corning 

Wassa Dos Reis 

Chris Lassen 

 

Woodburn Technical Advisory Group (TAG) 

Jacob de Soto, Director of HR & Safety, BrucePac 

Ted Stonecliffe, Transit Planner II, Cherriots 

Pam Phan, Policy & Organizing Director, Community Alliance of Tenants 

Robert Leeb, Principal in Charge, Leeb Architects 

Brandon Reich, Senior Planner, Marion County  

Jesse Hamberger, Lead Pastor, Mid Valley Community Church 

Christie Hughes, Mid-Willamette Valley Community Action Agency 

Maria Elena Guerra (“Meg”), Executive Director, Farmworker Development Housing Corporation  

Claudia Cantu, Housing Manager, Farmworker Development Housing Corporation 

217



3 

Michael Freels, Energy Analyst, Oregon Department of Energy 

Eugene Labunsky, developer through West Coast Home Solutions 

Benjamin Gutierrez, Assistant Store Director, WinCo Foods 

Adam Lisiewski, WinCo Foods 

 

Project Consultants 

FCS GROUP

 

218



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page i 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Acknowledgements ............................................................................................................................................... 2 

Table of Contents ................................................................................................................................................... i 

Section I. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 1 

Housing Needs Analysis Structure .......................................................................................................... 2 

Goal 10 and Oregon Regulatory Requirements .......................................................................................... 2 

Report Organization ............................................................................................................................. 3 

Section II. Housing Needs Projection ................................................................................................................ 4 

Methodology ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

Demographics and Socioeconomics ........................................................................................................ 4 

Housing Inventory and Tenancy.............................................................................................................. 6 

Factors affecting housing needs ........................................................................................................... 11 

Housing Needs Forecast ..................................................................................................................... 16 

Housing Density Levels ............................................................................................................... 22 

Section III. Buildable Land Inventory ............................................................................................................ 24 

Buildable Land Inventory Methodology ................................................................................................... 24 

Residential Land Base ........................................................................................................................ 25 

Land Classifications ........................................................................................................................... 28 

Development Constraints .................................................................................................................... 28 

Residential Buildable Land Inventory Results .......................................................................................... 33 

Summary of Residential Buildable Land Inventory .................................................................................... 36 

Section IV. Land Needs Reconciliation ......................................................................................................... 39 

Residential Land Needs Forecast Methods ............................................................................................. 39 

Housing Forecast and Residential Land Needs Methods ............................................................................ 39 

Reconciliation of Land Supply and Demand ............................................................................................ 44 

219



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page ii 

ii 

Section V. Key Findings and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 46 

key findings from the housing needs analysis .............................................................................................. 46 

Reccommended Housing Actions .............................................................................................................. 46 

Appendix A: Existing Dev. Code.......................................................................................................................... 48 

Appendix B: Draft Policies and Actions ............................................................................................................... 49 

Glossary .............................................................................................................................................................. 59 

 

 

220



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 1 

1 

Section I. INTRODUCTION 

This report presents Woodburn’s Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) for the 2019 to 2039 period. It is 

intended to comply with statewide planning policies that govern planning for housing and residential 

development, including Goal 10 (Housing) and Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660 Division 8. 

It provides the City with a factual basis to update the Housing Element of the Woodburn 

Comprehensive Plan and the Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO), and to support future 

planning efforts related to housing and options for addressing unmet housing needs. 

Future planning efforts, including development and redevelopment will be informed by this report as 

it provides the City with information about the housing market in Woodburn and describes the 

factors that will affect future housing demand, such as changing demographics. This analysis will 

help decision makers understand whether the City has enough residential land to accommodate 

growth over the next 20 years. 

This process included a series of technical advisory group (TAG) meetings coupled with public 

engagement sessions, and Planning Commission work sessions to receive feedback and provide 

revisions to the final housing needs analysis draft.  

The City of Woodburn and FCS Group solicited public input from the Planning Commission serving 

as an ad-hoc Project Advisory Committee. The Planning Commission as of this writing met three 

times December 13, 2018, March 14, 2019, and May 23, 2019 to discuss project assumptions, results, 

and implications and is scheduled to have a second workshop on July 25, 2019 to continue discussion 

of HNA recommended measures. The project relied on the Planning Commission to review draft 

products and provide input at key points (e.g. before recommendations and decisions were made and 

before draft work products were finalized). 

The project required many assumptions and policy choices that the committee needed to vet and 

agree upon, as these choices affect current and future residents. In short, local review and community 

input were essential to developing a locally appropriate housing needs analysis and housing strategy. 

Public Engagement 

The city and consultants solicited input from the general public at two public open houses. The first 

open house, held on February 28, 2019 at the Woodburn Public Library, solicited comments on the 

preliminary results of the housing needs analysis including the buildable lands inventory. The second 

public open house, held on May 13, 2019 at Success Alternative High School, solicited comments on 

the final results of the housing needs analysis and housing strategy including recommended 

measures. 

221



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 2 

2 

Housing Needs Analysis Structure 

Goal 10 and Oregon Regulatory Requirements 

The passage of the Oregon Land Use Planning Act of 1974 (ORS Chapter 197) established the Land 

Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC) and the Department of Land Conservation and 

Development (DLCD). The Act required the Commission to develop and adopt a set of statewide 

planning goals. Goal 10 addresses housing in Oregon and provides guidelines for local governments 

to follow in developing their local comprehensive land use plans and implementing policies.  

At a minimum, local housing policies must meet the applicable requirements of Goal 10 and the 

statutes and administrative rules that implement it (ORS 197.295 to 197.314, ORS 197.475 to 

197.490, and OAR 600-008). Goal 10 requires incorporated cities to complete an inventory of 

buildable residential lands. Goal 10 also requires cities to encourage the numbers of housing units in 

price and rent ranges commensurate with the financial capabilities of its households.  

Goal 10 defines needed housing types as “all housing on land zoned for residential use or mixed 

residential and commercial use that is determined to meet the need shown for housing within an 

urban growth boundary at price ranges and rent levels that are affordable to households within the 

county with a variety of incomes, including but not limited to households with low incomes, very low 

incomes and extremely low incomes.” ORS 197.303 defines needed housing types: 

(a) Housing that includes, but is not limited to, attached and detached single-family housing and 

multiple family housing for both owner and renter occupancy. 

(b) Government assisted housing.1 

(c) Mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks as provided in ORS 197.475 to 197.490. 

(d) Manufactured homes on individual lots planned and zoned for single-family residential use 

that are in addition to lots within designated manufactured dwelling subdivisions.  

(e) Housing for farmworkers. 

A recommended approach to conducting a housing needs analysis is described in Planning for 

Residential Growth: A Workbook for Oregon’s Urban Areas, the Department of Land Conservation 

and Development’s guidebook on local housing needs studies. As described in the workbook, the 

specific steps in the housing needs analysis are:  

1. Project the number of new housing units needed in the next 20 years.  

2. Identify relevant national, state, and local demographic and economic trends and factors that may 

affect the 20-year projection of structure type mix.  

                                                   

 

 

 

 

1 Government assisted housing can be any housing type listed in ORS 197.303 (a), (c), or (d). 

222



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 3 

3 

3. Describe the demographic characteristics of the population and, if possible, the housing trends that 

relate to demand for different types of housing.  

4. Determine the types of housing that are likely to be affordable to the projected households based 

on household income.  

5. Determine the needed housing mix and density ranges for each plan designation and the average 
needed net density for all structure types.  

6. Estimate the number of additional needed units by structure type.  

ORS 197.296 specifically applies to cities with 25,000 or more population, this statute is followed to 

determine housing needs for Woodburn, (2017 population 26,965). This analysis incorporates 20-

year population growth for the Woodburn Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) based on forecasts 

provided by Portland State University’s Population Research Center. 

Woodburn must identify needs for all needed housing types as well as adopt policies that increase the 

likelihood that they will be developed. This housing needs analysis was developed to meet the 

requirements of Goal 10 and its implementing administrative rules and statutes. 

Report Organization 

This report provides the technical basis of findings that support proposed housing policy 

recommendations and subsequent actions that the city will take to update its Comprehensive Plan and 

the Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO).  Each section of this report provides current data, 

assumptions and results that comprise all findings and conclusions: 

I. Introduction. 

II. Housing Needs Projection: provides a demographic overview and summary of market trends 

influencing housing growth in Woodburn. 

III. Buildable Land Inventory: identifies vacant, partially vacant and redevelopable residential land 

within the Woodburn Urban Growth Boundary (UGB), and accounts for constraints to get to a final 

determination of capacity to meet 20-year needs. 

IV. Land Needs Reconciliation: This section compares expected land demand to vacant land supply 

to meet housing mix and densities described in the HNA. 

V. Draft Findings and Recommendations: highlights key findings and draft policy 

recommendations and actions the City should consider to address housing needs. 

VI. Glossary: list of key terms used in the housing needs analysis. 

 

 

 

 

223



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 4 

4 

Section II. HOUSING NEEDS 

PROJECTION 

The housing needs forecast is a 20-year projection from the base year of 2019 through year 2039 to 

accommodate population growth for the Woodburn UGB. This section of the report will describe the 

characteristics of the future demand for housing in the City over the planning period. 

Methodology 

The methodology for projecting housing needs considers a mix of demographic and socio-economic 

trends, housing market characteristics and long-range population growth projections.  Population is a 

primary determinate for household formations—which in-turn drives housing need.   

Regional (Marion County) and local (City or UGB) population, households, income and market 

characteristics are described in this report using available data provided by reliable sources, such as 

the U.S. Census Bureau (Census and American Community Survey), the U.S. Department of Housing 

and Urban Development (HUD), Oregon Department of Housing and Community Services, Portland 

State University (PSU) and the City of Woodburn.  Where trends or long-range projections are 

provided by an identified data source, FCS GROUP has included extrapolations or interpolations of 

the data to arrive at a base year (2019 estimate) and forecast year (2039 projection).   

The housing need forecast translates population growth into households and households into housing 

need by dwelling type, tenancy (owner vs. renter) and affordability level.  

Demographics and Socioeconomics 

Demographic trends are important for a thorough understanding of the dynamics of the Woodburn 

housing market. This section documents demographic, socioeconomic, and other trends relevant to 

Woodburn at the national, state, and regional levels. 

Demographic trends provide a context for growth in a region; factors such as age, income, migration, 

and other trends show how communities have grown and how they will shape future growth. 

Characteristics such as age and ethnicity are indicators of how the population has grown in the past 

and provide insight into factors that may affect future growth.  

Population  

The City of Woodburn recorded a record-high population of 24,685 in 2017 (estimate by PSU).  

Taking into account residents living in unincorporated Marion County but inside the UGB, the total 

Woodburn UGB population is estimated at approximately 26,965. 

Since the year 2000, Woodburn has grown at a relatively faster pace than Marion County as a whole 

(Exhibit 2.1).  

224



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 5 

5 

Long-range population forecasts (prepared by PSU) anticipate 8,845 new residents will be added to 

the Woodburn UGB, a subset of the 74,892 added to Marion County by year 2039.  This equates to 

an annual average growth rate (AGR) of 1.4% and a 12.1% “capture rate” of future County-wide 

population growth for the Woodburn UGB (see Exhibit 2.2). 

Exhibit 2.1: Population Trends (2000-2017) 

 

Exhibit 2.2: Population Projections (2019-2039) 

 

Income and General Characteristics 

Median household and family income levels in Woodburn are below those observed in Marion 

County and the state. This may be partially attributable to the combination of lower-wage agricultural 

and service jobs within the City and a relatively high concentration of young families in Woodburn 

(Exhibit 2.3-2.4).   

Exhibit 2.3: Households by Income Level, 2017 

 

2000 2010 2017 AGR 2000-2017

Woodburn City 20,100 24,080 24,685 1.2%

Marion County 284,834 315,335 339,200 1.0%

Oregon 3,421,399 3,837,300 4,141,100 1.1%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau and Portland State University Population Research Center.  

Abbreviations: AGR - Annual Growth Rate 

Estimate Forecast Proj. Change Proj. AGR

2019 2039 20 Years  (2019 - 2039)

Wooburn UGB 26,965 35,810 8,845            1.4%

Marion County 344,341 419,233 74,892          1.0%

Oregon 4,224,122        5,151,616        927,494        1.0%

Source: Portland State University Population Research Center

Forecasts of Oregon's County Populations and Components of Change, 2017-2068.

Compiled by FCS Group. AGR = average annual growth rate.

City of 

Woodburn

Marion 

County Oregon

Median Household Income $47,042 $53,828 $56,119

Median Family Income $50,330 $62,694 $69,031

Household Income Level

$0 to $29,999 28.3% 25.7% 26.4%

$30,000 to $49,999 23.6% 20.8% 18.4%

$50,000 to $99,999 37.0% 34.0% 31.5%

$100,000 or more 11.0% 19.6% 23.8%

Total Households 100% 100% 100%

Source: 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates for

City of Woodburn, Marion County, and State of Oregon (Tables B19001)

225



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 6 

6 

Woodburn has a diverse mix of older and younger residents with a notable concentration of young 

residents, especially when compared with Marion County and Oregon.  As indicated in Exhibit 2.4, 

Woodburn has a relatively high share of residents under 19 years of age.  

Exhibit 2.4: Population by Age Cohort, 2017 

 

Housing Inventory and Tenancy  

The current housing inventory, mix and tenancy sheds light on existing conditions locally as 

well as market demand preferences.  According to current estimates by the U.S. Census, American 

Community Survey, the City of Woodburn had 8,273 housing units as of 2017. 

Analysis of historical development trends in Woodburn provides insight into the functioning of the 

local housing market. The mix of housing types and densities, in particular, are key variables in 

forecasting the capacity of residential land to accommodate new housing and to forecast future land 

need. The specific steps are described in Task 2 of the DLCD Planning for Residential Lands 

Workbook as:  

1. Determine the time period for which the data will be analyzed.  

2. Identify types of housing to address (all needed housing types). 

3. Evaluate permit/subdivision data to calculate the actual mix, average actual gross density, 

and average actual net density of all housing types. 

This section presents information about residential development by housing type. There are multiple 

ways that housing types can be grouped. For example, they can be grouped by:  

1. Structure type (e.g., single-family detached, apartments, etc.). 

2. Tenure (e.g., distinguishing unit type by owner or renter units). 

3. Housing affordability (e.g., subsidized housing or units affordable at given income levels).  
4. Some combination of these categories. 

For the purposes of this study, we grouped housing types based on: (1) whether the structure is stand-

alone or attached to another structure and (2) the number of dwelling units in each structure. The 

housing types used in this analysis are consistent with needed housing types as defined in ORS 

197.303: 

 Single-family detached includes single-family detached units, manufactured homes on lots and 

in mobile home parks, and accessory dwelling units. 

 Single-family attached is all structures with a common wall where each dwelling unit occupies a 

separate lot, such as row houses or townhouses. 

Age Range City of Woodburn Marion County Oregon

0 to 19 33.9% 27.9% 24.1%

20 to 44 31.2% 33.0% 33.5%

45 to 64 21.0% 24.4% 26.5%

65 and older 13.9% 14.6% 15.9%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Source: 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (Table DP05)

226



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 7 

7 

 Multifamily is all attached structures (e.g., duplexes, tri-plexes, quad-plexes, and structures with 

five or more units) other than single-family detached units, manufactured units, or single-family 

attached units.  

 

Like most Oregon cities, single-family detached housing is the most prevalent classification in 

Woodburn, representing 67% of the housing stock. The remaining housing units in Woodburn 

include multi-family units (15% of the inventory), townhomes and plexes (9%), and mobile 

homes/other units (9%), as shown in Exhibits 2.5-2.6. 

Exhibit 2.5: Existing Housing Mix and Tenancy, 2013-2017, City of Woodburn 

 

Source: U.S. Census, American Community Survey, 2013-2017. 

 

Owner-occupied housing units in the City of Woodburn account for 59% of the housing inventory 

while renter-occupied units account for 36% with vacant housing units constituting the balance. Most 

homeowners reside in single-family detached units (86%) or manufactured homes/other units (11%). 

The majority of renters also reside in single-family housing units closely followed by multi-family 

housing units (apartments) and lastly townhouses/plexes (Exhibits 2.6-2.7). 

227



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 8 

8 

Exhibit 2.6: Units by Tenure by Structure Type, 2013-2017, City of Woodburn 

 

Exhibit 2.7: Existing Housing Tenancy, 2013-2017, City of Woodburn 

 

Source: U.S. Census, American Community Survey, 2013-2017. 

Housing Type

Owner-Occupied 

Dwelling Units

Renter-

Occupied 

Dwelling Units Vacant Units All Dwelling Units

Single Family Detached 4,217                 1,119              235           5,571                     

Townhomes / Plexes 72                      668                 20             760                        

Multi family (5+ units) -                     1,174              39             1,213                     

Mfg. home / other 614                    45                   70             729                        

Total Units 4,903 3,006 364 8,273

Distribution 59% 36% 4% 100%

Housing Type

Owner-Occupied 

Dwelling Units

Renter-

Occupied 

Dwelling Units Vacant Units All Dwelling Units

Single Family Detached 86% 37% 65% 67%

Townhomes / Plexes 1% 22% 5% 9%

Multi family (5+ units) 0% 39% 11% 15%

Mfg. home / other 13% 1% 19% 9%

Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

Source: American Community Survey, 2013-2017; compiled by FCS GROUP.

228



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 9 

9 

Affordable Housing Inventory  

A 2016-17 statewide study of housing affordability was led by the Oregon Housing and Community 

Services Department (OHCS) which included all cities and counties, including Marion County and 

the City of Woodburn. The study included an inventory of existing housing units subsidized by 

nonprofits, local, state, or federal entities in each community and compared the housing supply to the 

need (based on an equitable distribution of the total statewide inventory) for subsidized housing.  

Overall findings from the subsidized housing inventory/needs analysis for the City of Woodburn and 

Marion County are reflected in Exhibit 2.8.  The OHCS study concluded that there were 387 

subsidized affordable housing units in Woodburn, which was slightly in excess of the City’s 

equitable statewide (demand) allocation.   

Exhibit 2.8: Current Inventory of Subsidized Housing Units 

 

As would be expected, upper-income households tend to own rather than rent, and the opposite is 

true for lower-income households, as shown in Exhibit 2.9. 

Exhibit 2.9: Woodburn Tenancy by Income Level, 2017 

 

An evaluation of renter income levels versus available housing inventory indicates that there is a 

current shortfall or gap in available rental housing inventory in Woodburn at the upper- and lower-

price points (Exhibit 2.10). This is understandable at the lowest price points where there is almost 

always more demand than supply.  The fact that there is more housing demand for good quality 

rentals than what is in the current supply reflects an aging housing inventory and demonstrates strong 

potential market demand for new apartments that rent for $1,250-$1,875 per month (for 2+ 

bedrooms).  

City of Woodburn Marion County

Affordable Housing Units in Inventory 387                           3,059                            

Need (Equity) Distribution Percent 0.5% 7.5%

Equitable Distribution of Units 334                           4,675                            

Actual Units / Equitable Distribution of Units 115.8% 65.4%

Source : Oregon Housing and Community Services Housing Needs Versus Inventory Summary

Qualifying Income Level Lower-end Upper-End

Count 

Owner 

Occupied

Count 

Renter 

Occuped

% Owner 

Occupied

% Renter 

Occuped

Upper (120% or more of MFI) $70,080 or more 1,795      644          36.6% 21.4%
Middle (80%  to 120% of MFI) $46,720 $70,080 1,175      507          24.0% 16.9%
Low (50%  to 80% of MFI) $29,200 $46,720 965          623          19.7% 20.7%
Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI) $17,520 $29,200 658          421          13.4% 14.0%
Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI) $17,520 or less 309          812          6.3% 27.0%

Total 4,903      3,006      100% 100%
Source: US Census Bureau 2013 - 2017 ACS (Table S2503), compiled by FCS GROUP

229



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 10 

10 

Exhibit 2.10: Rental Housing Gaps, City of Woodburn, 2017 

 

Housing Market Analysis 

As mentioned previously most of the housing in Woodburn is classified as single-family detached 

units. New housing construction permits issued by the City indicate that 400 permits were issued 

over the seven-year time frame (Jan. 2012 to Dec. 2018).  As indicated in Exhibit 2.11, about 67% of 

new construction was for single family detached homes.  The remaining 33% was for multifamily 

apartments and other housing types. 

Exhibit 2.11: Woodburn Housing Inventory (2010-2017) 

 

Median home values in the City at the end of 2017 were $167,500, while median rents jumped to 

$936, according to the U.S. Census, American Community Survey 2013-2017 data.    

In comparison to other housing markets, Woodburn home prices now appear to be increasing more 

quickly at a rate of 14.8 percent year-over-year (November 2017 and November 2018). As indicated 

in Exhibit 2.12, median home sales prices in Woodburn increased to $256,000 in November 2018. 

Median Household 

Income Range

Renter-

Occupied 

Housing Units

Affordable Monthly 

Rent Costs *

Estimated 

Available 

Rental Units

Housing 

(Gap) or 

Surplus

$75,000 or more: 553                $1,875 272           (281)          

$50,000 to $74,999: 423                $1,250-$1,875 455           32             

$35,000 to $49,999: 629                $875-$1,250 963.75      335           

$20,000 to $34,999: 402                $500-$875 819           417           

Less than $20,000: 812                Less than $500 408           (404)          

Zero or Negative Income 187                Require Subsidy 88             (99)            

Total 3,006             -                         3,006        -            

Source: US Census Bureau 2013 - 2017 ACS 

* Calculated as 30% of income range based on HUD guidelines

City of Woodburn Housing Inventory (2012 - 2018)

2012 ACS 2017 ACS

Owner Occupied 3,490               3,318

Renter Occupied 2,595 2,739

Vacant 484 706

Total 6,569 6,763

Owner Occupied % 57.4% 54.8%

Renter Occupied % 42.6% 45.2%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

2012 ACS

2012-18 

permits* 2018 Est.

Single-Family Detached 5,187 269 5,456

Townhome/Plexes 1,095 4 1,099

Multifamily 1,615 101 1,716

Mobile Home 654 26 680

Total 8,551 400 8,951

 2013 to 2017 (Tables DP04, B25077 and B25064).  * housing growth based on permits issued by City.

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, and American Community Survey; and City of Woodburn.

230



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 11 

11 

The observed home sales prices in Woodburn still lag behind comparable cities including Newberg, 

Salem, Silverton and Wilsonville in terms of media home sales prices.  

Exhibit 2.13: Median Home Sales Price Trends in Selected Markets 

 

Factors affecting housing needs 

There is a linkage between demographic characteristics and housing choice. As shown in Exhibit 

2.13 below, housing needs change over a person’s lifetime.  

Other factors that influence housing include: 

■ Homeownership rates increase as income rises. 

■ Single family detached homes are the preferred housing choice as income rises.  

■ Renters are much more likely to choose multifamily housing options (such as apartments or 

plexes) than single-family housing. 

■ Very low-income households (those earning less than 50% of the median family income) are 

most at-risk for becoming homeless if their economic situation worsens.   

Nov-17 Nov-18 Change %

Woodburn $223,000 $256,000 14.8%

Newberg $318,000 $342,000 7.5%

Salem $239,000 $264,000 10.5%

Silverton $271,000 $305,000 12.5%

Wilsonville $443,000 $457,000 3.2%

Source: Zillow.com; analysis by FCS 11/09/18.

231



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 12 

12 

Exhibit 2.13: Housing Life Cycle 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The relationship between demographic changes, income levels and housing needs can be used to 

forecast future housing needs.  The primary demographic age cohorts are shown in Exhibit 2.14 and 

described below. 

Exhibit 2.14 

 

232



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 13 

13 

 

Silent Generation (those born before 1925 to 1945) 

This includes retirees better than age 74, who were raised during the Great Depression, Word War I 

or World War II. This cohort currently accounted for 6% of the city’s population in 2017 and is 

projected to be the fastest growing segment over the next 20 years.  As they reach their 80s some 

desire to move into assisted living facilities with nearby health care services and transit access.  

Baby Boom Generation (born 1946 to 1964) 

Baby boomers (currently age 55 to 74) accounted for 19% of Woodburn residents in 2017, up from 

15% in 2010.  The boomer population segment has been growing more rapidly than the other cohorts 

over the past 10 years and many are now entering their retirement years.  Boomers usually prefer to 

“age in place” until after age 80, then may downsize or move in with family members (sometimes 

opting to reside in accessory dwellings off the main house).    

Generation X (born 1965 to 1980) 

Gen X is the demographic cohort following the baby boomers and preceding the Millennials. This 

cohort (currently includes people between age 39 to 54) accounted for 16% of the Woodburn 

residents in 2017, and is expected to overtake the baby boom cohort in numbers within the next 

decade.  GenX households often include families with children, and many prefer to live in single 

family detached dwellings at various price points. 

Millennials (born 1980 to early 2000s) 

Millennials (currently in their twenties or thirties) accounted for 25% of the Woodburn residents in 

2017, and is second only to the Generation Z segment in numbers. This segment is expected to 

increase more slowly than the overall population over the next few decades.  Younger millennials 

tend to rent as they establish their careers and/or payback student loans.  Working millennials often 

become first-time homebuyers, opting to purchase smaller single family detached homes or 

townhomes.   

Generation Z (born mid-2000s or later) 

GenZ includes residents age 19 or less. This is Woodburn’s largest demographic segment and 

accounted for 34% of the Woodburn residents in 2017. It includes children living primarily with 

GenXers and Baby Boomers.  This segment has been increasing in Woodburn over the past several 

years, but this growth may slow considerable in the future as GenXers are delaying starting families 

and tend to have fewer children than past generations.       

Hispanic and other ethnic groups 

The largest single ethnic group in Woodburn by far includes the Hispanic/Latino segment, which is 

spread among all demographic cohorts.  Woodburn’s Hispanic/Latino population accounted for 56% 

of its residents in 2017, down from 59% in 2010, according to the U.S. Census and American 

Community Survey data. While the overall growth may slow in comparison to the past, it is still 

projected to be the fastest growing racial/ethnic group over the next few decades.  

Housing affordability considerations 

When preparing a residential land need analysis, it is important to consider housing affordability 

issues facing Woodburn today. Like many communities in Oregon and the U.S., income levels in 

233



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 14 

14 

Woodburn are generally not keeping up with housing prices and rents; thereby creating a housing 

affordability challenge.   

The median home price in Woodburn was $272,500 (2019, 1st Q), which is higher than the Marion 

County median home price, but lower than the statewide average (see Exhibit 2.15).  

Exhibit 2.15 

 

Rents in Woodburn are also above the Marion County average. According to the U.S. Census, 

American Community Survey: 2012-2017 (average), the median gross rent in Woodburn 

($936/month) was about 6 percent above the county average (Exhibit 2.16).  

Exhibit 2.16 

 

Housing cost burdens 

According to U.S. Housing and Urban Development (HUD), households are “cost burdened” if they 

pay over 30% of their income on housing.  Households are “severely cost burdened” when they pay 

over 50% of their income on housing.   

As shown in Exhibit 2.17, households earning less than $20,000 are experiencing the greatest 

hardship with respect to housing cost burdens. Nearly 4 out of 5 households with income less than 

$35,000 are housing cost burdened. And nearly half of the households with income between $35,000 

and $50,000 are cost burdened.  

234



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 15 

15 

Exhibit 2.17 

 

Overall, in 2017, about 19% of the households in Woodburn were cost burdened. An analysis of 

severe rent burdens in Woodburn indicates that 26% of the renters and 12% of the homeowners are 

paying more than 50% of their income on housing costs (see Exhibit 2.18). 

Exhibit 2.18 

 

Woodburn is one of many cities in Oregon where over 25% of renter households spend more than 

half of their income on rent. Below is a comparison chart of other cities in the region, as well as 

Marion County and the State of Oregon as a whole (Exhibit 2.19).   

235



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 16 

16 

Exhibit 2.19 

 

Housing Needs Forecast  

The housing needs analysis for Woodburn includes an assessment of population growth forecasts, 

market trends and housing characteristics.  The analysis of housing mix scenarios (summarized in 

Section 4) results in a 20-year housing demand forecast of 3,012 dwelling units.    

To determine the appropriate mix of future housing demand, it is important to consider changing 

demographic and socio-economic conditions, such as: 

■ Owner-occupied single family detached housing, including standard as well as small lot 

housing types is expected to remain the largest housing segment in the future, but its share of 

the overall housing inventory will decrease.  This segment is driven largely by the projected 

increase in the number of Gen X and Millennial households with children.  While current 

median home prices in Woodburn are higher than the Marion County median, home prices in 

Woodburn are over $100,000 below median home prices in the southern portion of the 

Portland Region.  For duel-earning households whose inhabitants work in different 

communities (such as Salem and Portland), Woodburn is a nice central location in which to 

buy a home. 

■ Demand for rental housing is expected to increase significantly in the future in light of the 

projected population growth, low rental vacancy rates (below 3%), and relatively low income 

levels in comparison to housing purchase prices. According to U.S. Census American 

Community Survey: 2013-2017 data, Woodburn’s median household income was 13% below 

that of Marion county while median home prices were 26% higher, and median rents were 

6.5% higher.  Renting is expected to be the most viable housing option for about 4 in 10 

households in the future.  

236



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 17 

17 

As indicated in the following exhibits, the future net new housing demand by tenancy assumes that 

1,333 (44%) of the units are owner occupied and 1,679 (56%) are renter occupied. This would 

represent an increase in renter households with a measured change in the current tenancy mix, which 

is currently 62% owners and 38% renters, according to the U.S. Census, American Community 

Survey (2013-2017 average).    

The expected housing types required to meet the market characteristics of demand segments 

discussed previously is shown in Exhibit 2.20. The recommended future net new housing mix 

includes:  

■ 1,563 single family detached units (low density);  

■ 320 townhomes/plexes (medium density);  

■ 1,129 apartments (including 329 medium-density garden-court apartments and 800 higher-

density apartments).  

This forecast includes 20 units of shared housing units for people in non-institutional group quarters. 

The non-institutional group quarters housing forecasts reflect the number of units (with multiple 

people per unit) for future residents in congregate care, farmworker dwellings and transitional 

housing.  This does not include institutionalized residents such as people in hospitals or correctional 

facilities. 

Exhibit 2.20 

 

A comparison between the current housing mix and the baseline housing forecast is provided in 

Exhibit 2.21.  The findings indicate that the share of single-family detached housing is projected to 

decrease from 69% (current inventory) to 64% (future inventory in 20 years), while the share of 

multifamily housing in Woodburn is projected to increase from 19% (current inventory) to 24% 

future inventory).  

Housing Classification

Owner 

Units

Renter 

Units

Total 

Dwelling 

Units

Low-density (single family detached, mfg. housing)         1,258            305 1,563          

Medium-density 

     Townhomes, plexes, group quarters              10            310 320             

     Garden apartments (@16 dus/acre)              30            299 329             

Higher-density apartments (@31 dus/acre)              24            776 800             

Grand Total         1,322         1,690            3,012 

Proj. Housing Needs by General Classifications, Woodburn UGB, 2019-2039

Note: numbers may not exactly add due to rounding.

Source: Woodburn HNA, Housing Needs Forecast (Task 2 and Task 4) findings, June 2019.

237



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 18 

18 

Exhibit 2.21 

 

The current market gap for rental housing is a key reason why the future housing need forecast 

expects the share of apartments to increase significantly, and the share of renters to increase from 

38% (current share of renters) to 43% (projected future share of renters), as shown in Exhibit 2.22.  

Exhibit 2.22 

 

 

238



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 19 

19 

The types of housing that is most suited to meet qualifying income levels for home ownership vary 

by family income level. The recommended distribution of future demand by price level is shown in 

Exhibit 2.23. 

Exhibit 2.23 

 

The rental housing needs forecast for by affordability level is shown in Exhibit 2.25.  The rental 

housing need is fairly evenly distributed among the family income segments.   

Exhibit 2.24 

 

Woodburn Owner-Occupied Housing Needs: 2019-2039

Family Income Level

Upper Range 

of  Qualifying 

Income

Upper Range 

of Home 

Price*

Estimated 

Distribution of 

Owner-

Occupied Units

Projected 

Owner-

Occupied 

Units Needed 

Attainable Housing 

Products

Upper (120% or more of MFI)
Greater than 

$70,080

Greater than 

$436,000
36.6% 484 Standard Homes

Middle (80%  to 120% of MFI) $70,080 $436,000 26.4% 349
Small and Standard 

Homes, Townhomes

Low (50%  to 80% of MFI) $46,720 $334,650 35.0% 463

Small Homes, 

Townhomes, Mfgd. 

Homes, Plexes

Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI) $29,200 $209,300 2.0% 26 Govt. Assisted

Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI) 0.0% 0

Total 100.0% 1,322

*Assumes 30% of income is used for mortgage payment, 20% downpayment, 6% interest, 30-year mortgage for middle 

and upper-income housing, and 5% downpayment for low and very-low income housing.

Note: numbers may not exactly due to rounding.

Source: Woodburn HNA analysis, Task 2 and Task 4 findings, June 2019.

Woodburn Rental-Occupied Housing Needs: 2019-2039

Family Income Level

Upper Range 

of  Qualifying 

Income

Upper Range 

of Monthly 

Rent*

Estimated 

Distribution of 

Units

Projected 

Renter-

Occupied 

Units Needed

Attainable Housing 

Products

Upper (120% or more of MFI)
Greater than 

$70,080

Greater than 

$1,752
21% 362

Standard Homes, 

Townhomes

Middle (80%  to 120% of MFI) $70,080 $1,752 17% 285
Small Homes, 

Townhomes, 

Apartments

Low (50%  to 80% of MFI) $46,720 $1,168 21% 350
Small Homes, 

Townhomes, Mfgd. 

Homes, Plexes, Apts.

Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI) $29,200 $730 21% 355
ADUs, Govt. Assisted 

Apts.

Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI) 20% 338 Govt. Assisted Apts.

Total 100% 1,690

*Assumes 30% of income is used for rental payments. 

Source: Woodburn HNA analysis, Task 2 and Task 4 findings, June 2019.

239



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 20 

20 

For comparison purposes, the current U.S. Housing and Urban Development fair market rents within 

Marion County range from $658 for an efficiency (studio) unit to $1,707 for a four-bedroom unit 

(Exhibit 2.25). 

Exhibit 2.25 

 

ORS 197.303 defines needed housing, in part, as "all housing on land zoned for residential use or 

mixed residential and commercial use that is determined to meet the need shown for housing within 

an urban growth boundary at price ranges and rent levels that are affordable to households within the 

county with a variety of incomes, including but not limited to households with low incomes, very low 

incomes and extremely low incomes, as those terms are defined by the United States Department of 

Housing and Urban Development under 42 U.S.C. 1437a."  Per HUD standards, low income 

households are those making 80% or less of median family income (MFI), very low income 

households make between 30% and 50% of MFI, and extremely low income households make 30% 

or less of MFI. 

Using 2017 MFI statistics, the monthly attainable housing cost for low-income families in Woodburn 

is as follows: 

 Extremely Low Income, $438 or less  

 Very Low Income, $438 to $730 

 Low Income, $730 to $1,168 

If families within these classifications pay more than these amounts they will be “rent burdened” to 

some degree. 

240



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 21 

21 

Exhibit 2.26: Woodburn Housing Cost Analysis (Based on Marion County Median Family 

Income) 

 

Summary of Housing Needs Forecast 

Based on the population projections detailed earlier, the new housing demand within the Woodburn 

UGB amounts to 3,012 housing units over the next 20 years. This housing need forecast assumes that 

the current share of group quarters population and housing vacancy levels remain constant.  

The projected number of housing units that would be suited to meet affordable median family income 

levels for owners and renters is summarized in Exhibit 2.27.   

Exhibit 2.27 

 

Marion County Median Family Income Level (2017)* $58,400

Available Monthly Rent or Payment  (@30% of income level) Lower-end Upper-End

Upper (120% or more of MFI) $1,752 or more
Middle (80%  to 120% of MFI) $1,168 $1,752
Low (50%  to 80% of MFI) $730 $1,168
Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI) $438 $730
Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI) $438 or less

Approximate Attainable Home Price** Lower-end Upper-End

Upper (120% or more of MFI) $436,000 or more
Middle (80%  to 120% of MFI) $291,000 $436,000
Low (50%  to 80% of MFI) $182,000 $291,000
Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI) $109,000 $182,000
Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI) $109,000 or less

Source: analysis by FCS Group using Housing and Urban Development, and US Census data.

Notes:

* based on Housing and Urban Development thresholds for Marion County in 2017

** assumes 20% down payment on 30-year fixed mortgage at 4.0% interest.

241



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 22 

22 

Housing Density Levels  

The Woodburn city planning staff reviewed: history of building permits issued (years 2012-2018), 

recent development applications; and local development and zoning code provisions to document 

allowed densities and expected future average density levels (as measured in dwelling units per net 

acre).2  As indicated in Exhibit 2.28, there are four general housing classifications: low-density, 

medium-density, high-density, and commercial/mixed-use that were considered in this analysis.   

Single family detached housing is primarily provided in the RS, R1S, and RSN zones. (See WDO 

2.02 for residential zoning district details.)  These zones currently allow 5.2 to 10.89 dwellings per 

acre and permit the development of all housing types: detached, attached/townhomes, duplexes, 

accessory dwellings, multifamily/apartments and manufactured homes.   

The low-density single family also includes homes with small lots and buildings within common lots, 

including cottage home parks and accessory dwellings, as well as manufactured home parks. 

According to the Housing Choices Guide Book (for housing resources see the Oregon DLCD 

website: https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Pages/Housing-Resources.aspx ), cottage cluster 

developments are ideal for smaller households as an alternative to standard single family homes and 

apartments. They are often built in clusters of 5 to 25 units at densities ranging from 5 to 35 units per 

acre (note the maximum allowable RSN density in Woodburn is currently 10.89 units per acre).  The 

overall expected average density for single family detached housing in Woodburn is 6 units per acre.  

Townhomes and plexes are classified as medium-density housing and are permitted in all residential 

zone districts; and allowed outright in the mixed use and commercial zone districts. The RM district 

focuses primarily on medium density development, with allowed densities ranging from 6 to 16 

dwellings per acre. The overall expected average density levels for townhomes/plexes in Woodburn 

is 12 units per acre for townhomes and 16 units per acre for garden court apartments.  

Higher-density apartments are typically constructed as multifamily developments with 5 or more 

units per structure.  Multifamily dwellings are permitted in all residential and mixed use and 

commercial zones.  The allowable density ranges from 10 to 22 units per acre in the RMN zone, and 

12 to 32 units per acre in the DDC, CO, CG, NNC, and MUV zones.  (See WDO 2.03 for commercial 

zoning district details.)  The overall expected average density for higher density apartments in 

Woodburn is 31 units per acre.  

                                                   

 

 

 

 

2 The City of Woodburn recorded construction permits for 400 dwellings between Jan. 2012 and Dec. 2018, 
including 269 single family units, 101 multifamily units, 26 manufactured homes and 4 townhome/plex units. 

242

https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Pages/Housing-Resources.aspx


City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 23 

23 

Exhibit 2.28 Allowed and Expected Development Density by Housing Type, City of Woodburn 

Note:  Exhibit 2.28 relative housing density categories derived from Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-038-0060. 

Development density (measured in terms of dwelling units per net buildable acre of land area) along 

with projected housing demand is used to calculate residential land needs.  As indicated in Exhibit 

2.28 and Appendix A, the Woodburn development code allows a range in development densities 

depending upon residential and commercial and mixed-use land use zones.  City of Woodburn 

planning staff has estimated average densities for each zone type based on current development 

permitting activity and their professional judgement.  

 

243



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 24 

24 

Section III. BUILDABLE LAND 

INVENTORY 

In accordance with OAR 660-008-0005 (2), an estimate of buildable land inventory (BLI) within the 

Woodburn Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) has been created to determine that amount of land 

available to meet housing needs. The BLI analysis uses the most current Geographic Information 

Systems (GIS) data provided available for the Woodburn UGB (specific GIS data sources are shown 

in Exhibit 3.1).  

Buildable Land Inventory Methodology  

The objective of the residential BLI is to determine the amount of developable land available for 

future residential housing development within the UGB. The steps taken to perform this analysis are 

as follows: 

1. Calculate gross acres by plan designation, including classifications for fully vacant and partially-

vacant parcels.  This step entails “clipping” all of the tax lots that are bisected by the current UGB to 

eliminate land outside current UGB from consideration for development at this time. City staff input was 

provided to provide a level of quality assurance to review output is consistent with OAR 660-008-

0005(2).  

2. Calculate gross buildable acres by plan designation by subtracting land that is constrained from 

future development, such as such as existing public right-of-way, parks and open space, steep slopes, and 

floodplains. 

3. Calculate net buildable acres by plan designation, by subtracting future public facilities such as roads, 

schools and parks from gross buildable acres.  

4. Determine total net buildable acres by plan designation by considering potential redevelopment 

locations and mixed-use development opportunity areas. 

244



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 25 

25 

Exhibit 3.1: Woodburn BLI Data Sources 

 

The detailed steps used to create the land inventory are described below. 

Residential Land Base 

The residential land base reflects current Woodburn Comprehensive Plan land use designations. The 

Comprehensive Plan map for the Woodburn UGB is provided as Exhibit 3.2.  

Properties that are within the residential land base include the following Comprehensive Plan 

classifications: 

Residential Land Use Classifications 

■ Low-Density Residential (RS, R1S, RSN) 

■ Medium-Density Residential (RM) 

■ High Density Residential (RMN) 

Higher density residential classifications include commercial and mixed-use zone classifications 

which currently allow multifamily development, the following Comprehensive Plan classifications 

are included in the residential land base: 

Commercial and Mixed-Use Land Use Classifications 
 

Commercial and Mixed-Use Zoning Classifications  

DDC Downtown Development & Conservation  

CO Commercial Office 

CG Commercial General 

NNC Nodal Neighborhood Commercial 

MUV Mixed Use Village 

 

Dataset Name Type Description Source

City Limits GIS Layer Woodburn City Limits Boundary City of Woodburn

UGB GIS Layer Urban Growth Boundary City of Woodburn

WB Zoning GIS Layer City of Woodburn Zoning Designations City of Woodburn

WB Comp Plan GIS Layer City of Woodburn and UGB Comprehensive Plan Designations City of Woodburn

mczoning GIS Layer Marion County Zoning Designations City of Woodburn

Taxlots GIS Layer Taxlots with Assessed Value and Property Class Code City of Woodburn

RCWOD GIS Layer Riparian Corridor Wetland Overlay District City of Woodburn

FEMA 100 Year Floodplain GIS Layer FEMA Floodways and 100-yr. Floodplains City of Woodburn

Wetlands GIS Layer Siginificant Wetlands City of Woodburn

PropertyClass Tabular Property Class and Linked Coding Marion County Assessor1

NAIP 2016 GIS Service Web service providing aerial imagery Oregon-GEO2

1 - http://www.co.marion.or.us/AO/Pages/datacenter.aspx

2 - http://imagery.oregonexplorer.info/arcgis/services

245



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 26 

26 

For additional information on allowed uses within these zones, please refer to: 

 Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) Table 2.03A, E1, E3, & E4. 

 Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) Table 2.03A, E4.  The DDC zoning district covers 

downtown Woodburn and is described in 3.07.07B.12.a.; the DDC also establishes that 

downtown development has no minimum off-street parking requirement. 

For analysis purposes, each of these land use classifications have been grouped into residential 

development categories that represent the expected level of development based on the housing 

types/densities that are permitted by the City (housing types must be permitted outright or by 

conditional development approval). This includes: low, medium and high density residential 

categories; as well as a commercial/mixed use category (which allows a mix of low, medium and 

high density housing).  

This analysis assumes that all of the vacant and part-vacant residential land base will be available for 

future housing development and can be served with adequate public facilities, including roads, water, 

sanitary sewer, and storm water systems.  

Draft BLI findings and results were reviewed by City Staff and subjected to public review, then 

refined accordingly based on the input received.  

246

http://www.woodburn-or.gov/sites/default/files/11-10%20revised%20web%20Ordinance%20Bookcopywmaster%20newestcopy_0.pdf#page=608
http://www.woodburn-or.gov/sites/default/files/11-10%20revised%20web%20Ordinance%20Bookcopywmaster%20newestcopy_0.pdf#page=715


City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 27 

27 

Exhibit 3.2. City of Woodburn Comprehensive Plan Designations 

  

247



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 28 

28 

Land Classifications 

The next step includes classifying each tax lot (parcel) into one of the following categories.  

 Vacant land: Properties with no structures or have buildings with very little value.  For purpose 

of the BLI, residential lands with improvement value less than $10,000 are considered vacant. 

These lands were also subjected to review using aerial photography; and if the land is in a 

committed use such as a parking lot, an assessment has been made to determine if it is to be 

classified as vacant, part vacant or developed.  

 Partially vacant land: Properties that are occupied by a use (e.g., a home or building structure 

with value over $10,000) but have enough land to be subdivided without the need for rezoning.  

This determination is made using tax assessor records and aerial photography. For lots with 

existing buildings, it is assumed that ¼ acre (10,890 sq. ft.) is retained by each existing home, 

and the remainder is included in the part vacant land inventory. 

 Vacant Undersized: Properties that are vacant or part-vacant with less than 3,000 sq. ft. of land 

area. This category is excluded from the vacant land inventory since these lots are not likely large 

enough to accommodate new housing units. However, it is possible that some may be suitable for 

accessory dwelling units (ADUs). 

 Developed & Non-Residential Land Base: Properties unlikely to yield additional residential 

development for one of two reasons: they possess existing building structures at densities that are 

unlikely to redevelop over the planning period; or they include parcels with Comprehensive Land 

Use Plan designations that do not permit housing development.    

 Public and Constrained (unbuildable) land: Properties which are regarded as unlikely to be 

developed because they are restricted by existing uses such as:  public parks, schools, ballfields, 

roads and public right-of-way (ROW); common areas held by Homeowners Associations, 

cemeteries; and power substations. In cases where public-owned land does not fall into one of the 

above-mentioned categories and is planned or zoned to allow housing, those tax lots are included 

in the vacant or part-vacant residential land inventory. 

These tax lot classifications were validated using aerial photos, building permit data, and 

assessor records.  Preliminary results were refined based on City staff and public input 

received during the Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) planning process. 

Development Constraints  

The BLI methodology for identifying and removing development constraints is consistent with state 

guidance on buildable land inventories per OAR 660-008-0005(2).  By definition, the BLI is intended 

to include land that is “suitable, available, and necessary for residential uses.”  

“Buildable Land” includes residential designated land within the UGB, including vacant, part vacant 

and land that is likely to be redeveloped; and suitable, available and necessary for residential uses.  

Public-owned land is generally not considered to be available for residential use unless the 

underlying zoning permits housing.   

 

 

248



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 29 

29 

Land is considered to be “suitable and available” unless it: 

 Is severely constrained by natural hazards as determined by the Statewide Planning Goal 7; 

 Is subject to natural resource protection measures determined under Statewide Planning Goals 5, 

6, 15, 16, 17 or 18; 

 Has slopes over 25 percent; 

 Is within the 100-year flood plain; or 

 Cannot be provided or served with public facilities (no land was identified in this category3). 

 

Based on state guidelines and data provided by the City of Woodburn, the following constraints have 

been deducted from the residential lands inventory.  

 Land within waterbodies and floodways.  Lands identified within waterbodies and floodways per 

the FEMA FIRM maps. 

 Land within floodplains. This includes lands in flood-hazard areas (the 100-year floodplain).   

 Land within wetlands.  This includes areas identified as significant wetlands in the Woodburn 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 Land within natural resource protection measures.  This includes riparian wetland overlay 

districts that are identified in the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan.  

 Land with slopes greater than 25%.  However, no land was identified as having steep slopes. 

 

Exhibits 3.3-3.5 illustrate these types of “environmental” constraints.   

  

                                                   

 

 

 

 

3 This conclusion is based upon the 2005 Woodburn Public Facilities Plan 
(http://www.ci.woodburn.or.us/sites/default/files/%2810-31%29052005PublicFacilitiesPlan.pdf) 

249



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 30 

30 

Exhibit 3.3. Floodplains and Floodways 

 

 
  

250



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 31 

31 

Exhibit 3.4. Wetlands 

 

 

 

 

 

 

251



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 32 

32 

Exhibit 3.5. Riparian Wetlands Overlay District 

 

 
  

252



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 33 

33 

Residential Buildable Land Inventory Results 

Land Base 

As noted above, the residential land base for the BLI includes all tax lots in the UGB with 

residential, commercial and mixed-use land use designations. A summary of the land base by 

generalized plan designation is provided in Exhibit 3.6.  The findings indicate that there are 13,003 

tax lots in the land base with 2,900 gross acres. 

Exhibit 3.6: Gross Acreage in Residential Land Base, Woodburn UGB 

 

Development Status 

Before the deduction of environmental constraints, the residential land base has been classified by 

development status to estimate land that is “committed” and not likely to be developed for additional 

residential uses. These definitions include residential land that is developed, tax lots that exempt 

residential development, public-ownership, and public right-of-way4, as described previously (results 

are summarized in Exhibit 3.7). 

Exhibit 3.7: Residential land base before environmental constraints are applied, Woodburn 

UGB 

 

                                                   

 

 

 

 

4 Includes right-of-way that is defined as a tax lot in the GIS database, which exempts residential development.  
This includes most major existing right-of-way which is excluded from the buildable land base.  

Generalized Plan Designation

Number 

of Taxlots Percent

Total Gross 

Acres Percent
Low-Density Residential 5,506       42% 1,988               69%

Medium-Density Residential 671          5% 459                  16%

High-Density Residential -           0% -                   0%

Commercial/Mixed Use 6,826       52% 454                  16%

Total 13,003    100% 2,900              100%

Source: City of Woodburn GIS data, FCS GROUP analysis.

Generalized Plan Designation

Acres on 

Vacant 

Taxlots

Developed or 

Non-Res Land 

Base

Public/ 

Unbuildable

Undersized (less 

than 3,000 SF)

Total 

Committed 

Acres

Low-Density Residential 431          162             593                  1,340                  55 0.90 1,396             

Medium-Density Residential 121          46               167                  284                     8 0.17 292                 

High-Density Residential -        -           -                   -                      0 0.00 -                 

Commercial/Mixed Use 105          12               117                  335                     2 0.00 337                 

Total 658         219             876                  1,960                 64 1.07                      2,025             

Source: City of Woodburn GIS data, FCS GROUP analysis.

Acres on 

Part-

Vacant 

Taxlots

Total Vacant 

& Part-Vacant 

Acres

Developed, non-residential and other constrained acres

253



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 34 

34 

Buildable Land after Constraints and Public Facilities  

The BLI methodology calculates the residential land base after accounting for the environmental 

constraints (described in the prior section), and future public facilities (e.g., streets and roads, parks 

and school facilities) per safe harbor assumptions allowed under OAR 660-024-0040 (10).5 The 

findings indicate that out of a total of 2,900 gross acres, 2,025 acres are committed, and 90 acres are 

environmentally constrained (see Exhibit 3.8).   

Approximately 75% of the buildable land inventory is classified as vacant and 25% is classified as 

partially vacant land. 

After allowing for future public facilities and future right-of-way, there are 607 net buildable acres 

within the vacant and part vacant land inventory. This includes 420 acres with low-density plan 

designations, 115 acres with medium-density designations, no explicit high-density designations and 

72 acres in commercial and mixed-use designations (see Exhibit 3.8). 

Exhibit 3.8: Vacant and Part-Vacant Residential land base after all constraints, Woodburn 

UGB, 2019 

 

Commercial and Mixed-Use Land Assumptions 

It should be noted that all vacant and part-vacant commercial and mixed-use land (72 acres in total) 

is included in the table above. This land was included because housing development is a permitted 

use (i.e. it is allowed) on land with commercial and mixed-use zoning.  However, since most 

commercial and mixed-use zoned land area will be developed for non-residential use (e.g., retail, 

services, office, etc.), it is assumed by the City of Woodburn that 35% of the commercial and mixed-

use land area will be developed as housing over the next 20 years. That assumption will be reflected 

in the “Residential BLI Results” section of this report below.  

                                                   

 

 

 

 

5 The Woodburn buildable land inventory assumes that 25% of the net buildable land area contained in the low-
density and medium-density residential land base is allotted to future land needs for roads, parks and school 
facilities.   

Generalized Plan Designation

Total 

Acres

Committed 

Acres

Env. 

Constrained 

Acres Buildable Acres

Less Future 

Public 

Facilities*

Net Buildable 

Acres

Low-Density Residential 1,988       1,396          31                     560                     140                  420                       

Medium-Density Residential 459          292             13                     153                     38                    115                       

High-Density Residential -           -              -                   -                      -                   -                        

Commercial/Mixed Use 454          337             45                     72                        -                   72                          

Total 2,900      2,025         90                    785                     178                 607                       

Source: City of Woodburn GIS data, FCS GROUP analysis.

* assumes 25% of builable low and medium densitiy land area is utilized for future public facilities.

254



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 35 

35 

Redevelopment Areas 

In accordance with OAR 660-024-0050, FCS GROUP also considered “redevelopable” lands, defined 

as follows by OAR 660-008-0005(7): 

“Redevelopable Land” means land zoned for residential use on which development has 

already occurred but on which, due to present or expected market forces, there exists the 

strong likelihood that existing development will be converted to more intensive residential 

uses during the planning period.” 

Given the unpredictable nature of real estate development, especially as it relates to residential 

redevelopment projects resulting in demolition and replacement of existing structures and 

development of net new housing units, the following broad-based methodology was used to 

estimate redevelopment potential in Woodburn: 

■ To comply with the redevelopment definition above, the Woodburn buildable land inventory 

includes an analysis of developed residential/commercial & mixed-use properties that have 

existing structures and are located within the Woodburn UGB. 

■ In order to sharpen the focus on land most likely to “be converted to more intensive 

residential use during the planning period”, the redevelopment land inventory includes: tax 

lots with over 10,890 square feet (1/4 acre) of buildable land area; and tax lots with “land 

values” that are greater than “improvement values” based on current county assessor records. 

As a proxy for “present or expected market forces” which will drive redevelopment, these 

remaining properties were considered the universe of “redevelopable” lands.  

■ Like the analysis of vacant and part-vacant lands described in preceding sections, 

“redevelopable” lands were by low, medium, high density residential and commercial/mixed-

use categories based on their underlying comprehensive plan and zoning classifications, and 

environmental constraints were removed to determine net buildable land area. 

■ Finally, this analysis assumes a rate of redevelopment which results in net new housing of the 

properties identified above. Woodburn planning staff recommended a rate of 3% based on 

redevelopment activity observed in the past. This factor was applied to the total universe of 

redevelopment land area to determine the net redevelopable land to be included in the 

Woodburn residential buildable land inventory (Exhibit 3.9). 

Exhibit 3.9: Redevelopable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB, 2019 

 

  

Land Classification Taxlots Map Acres

Environmental 

Constraints Net Lot Acres

Redevelopable 

Acres*

Low Density 53 182.3 23.0 159.3 4.8

Medium Density 22 28.9 0.1 28.8 0.9

High Density 0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Commercial and Mixed Use 79 95.3 0.0 95.3 2.9

Grand Total 154 306.5 23.1 283.4 8.5

Source: City of Woodburn GIS data, FCS GROUP analysis.

*Assumes a 3% redevelopment rate per City Staff.

255



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 36 

36 

Summary of Residential Buildable Land Inventory 

The combination of vacant, partially vacant and redevelopable land area for the residential and 

commercial/mixed use classifications results in the total Woodburn residential buildable land 

inventory.  The sum of all categories provides 567.1 acres of buildable residential land within the 

Woodburn UGB. As shown in Exhibit 3.10 this is primarily made up of 425.1 acres of low-density 

land (420 acres of vacant land and 4.8 acres of redevelopable land); and 115.9 acres of medium-

density land (115 acres of vacant and 0.9 acres of redevelopable land). The commercial and mixed-

use land area expected for housing includes 26.1 acres (71.6 net acres of vacant land plus 2.9 acres of 

redevelopment land) multiplied by the 35% housing conversion factor.6  

Exhibit 3.10: Summary of Residential Buildable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB, 2019 

 

Exhibits 3.11 and 3.12 illustrate the buildable vacant and partially vacant buildable land areas for 

the residential and commercial/mixed-use land base within the Woodburn UGB. 

 

                                                   

 

 

 

 

6 Estimate of residential land use within commercial and mixed-use zones provided by City of Woodburn planning 
staff based on prior and pending land use plan applications as of June 14, 2019.  

Land Classification

Vacant & 

Part 

Vacant

Redevel- 

opable 

Land

Housing Use 

Factor 

Assumption

Total Buildable 

Residential 

Land

Low Density 420.3       4.8 100% 425.1                 

Medium Density 115.1       0.9 100% 115.9                 

High Density -           0.0 100% -                     

Commercial and Mixed Use 71.6         2.9 35% 26.1                   

Grand Total        607.0            8.5                           -   567.1

Total Residential Buildable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB

Source: City of Woodburn Buildable Land Inventory analysis, June 2019.

256



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 37 

37 

Exhibit 3.11: Residential Buildable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB, 2019 

 

257



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 38 

38 

Exhibit 3.12: Commercial and Mixed-Use Buildable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB, 2019 

 

258



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 39 

39 

Section IV. LAND NEEDS 

RECONCILIATION 

This section provides an estimate of residential development capacity (measured in new dwelling 

units) and an estimate of Woodburn’s ability to accommodate needed new housing units for the 2019 

to 2039 period, based on the findings of the housing needs analysis.  

A comparison of 20-year residential land needs (demand) is made relative to the residential buildable 

land inventory.  This provides a means of reconciling housing land demand with buildable land 

supply within the UGB.   

Residential Land Needs Forecast Methods 

Determining residential land needs requires converting the number of housing units into net acres of 

land area.  This requires an understanding of local development code allowed housing types and 

density levels, which are grouped into low, medium and high-density levels. As shown previously in 

Exhibit 2.28, the range of allowable densities and average expected housing density is expressed in 

dwelling units per acre.  

Development density (measured in terms of dwelling units per net buildable acre of land area) along 

with projected housing demand is used to calculate residential land needs.  As indicated in Appendix 

A, the Woodburn development code allows a range in development densities depending upon 

residential and commercial and mixed-use land use zones.  City of Woodburn planning staff has 

estimated average densities for each zone type based on current development permitting activity and 

their professional judgement.  

Housing Forecast and Residential Land Needs Methods  

The HNA planning process included three housing forecast methods. 

■ Method 1, reflects a “safe harbor” housing forecast and related land needs scenario.   

■ Method 2, reflects the baseline housing forecast with local density assumptions.  

■ Method 3 (Hybrid), includes the recommended housing forecast and related land needs based 

on local density assumptions. 

"Safe harbor" means an optional course of action that a local government may use to satisfy a 

requirement of Goal 14 (urbanization); and if the city needs to expand their urban growth boundary, a 

safe harbor analysis lends protections from appeals on certain elements. A safe harbor is not the only 

way or necessarily the preferred way to comply with the requirements of a housing needs analysis. It 

was employed for the city of Woodburn as an alternative way of looking at residential land need 

scenarios for the 20 year forecast. 

259



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 40 

40 

Safe Harbor Method  

The steps taken to determine land needs using the safe harbor provisions include the following 

guidelines contained in OAR 660-024-0040(1)-(8). 

Coordinated Population Growth Forecast 

The land needs determination for a potential UGB expansion must be based upon the coordinated 

population growth forecast for the urban area as determined under rules in OAR-660-032. For this 

analysis, the 20-year planning period is 2019-2039.   

According to Portland State University population growth forecast, the population within the 

Woodburn UGB is projected to increase from 26,965 to 35,810, resulting in 8,845 net new 

residents by year 2039. 

Average Household Size  

Relevant findings regarding specific requirements include: 

(a) A local government may estimate persons per household for the 20-year planning period 

using the persons per household for the urban area indicated in the most current data for 

the urban area published by the U.S. Census Bureau. 

The most current estimate of persons per household in the City of Woodburn is 3.15 

per U.S. Census, American Community Survey: 2013-2017 estimates. 

Local Development Code Provisions  

Relevant findings regarding specific requirements include: 

(b) If a local government does not regulate government-assisted housing differently than 

other housing types, it is not required to estimate the need for government-assisted housing 

as a separate housing type. 

Woodburn does not regulate government assisted housing differently than other 

housing types.   

(c) If a local government allows manufactured homes on individual lots as a permitted use 

in all residential zones that allow 10 or fewer dwelling units per net buildable acre, it is not 

necessary to provide an estimate of the need for manufactured dwellings on individual lots. 

Woodburn allows manufactured homes on individual lots as a permitted use in all 

residential zones that permit fewer than 10 dwelling units per net buildable acre, 

subject to development standards.   

(d) If a local government allows manufactured dwelling parks required by ORS 197.475 to 

197.490 in all areas planned and zoned for a residential density of six to 12 units per acre, a 

separate estimate of the need for manufactured dwelling parks is not required. 

Woodburn allows manufactured dwelling parks in all zones which permit 4 to 7 dwelling 

units per acre.    

Housing Vacancy Rate Assumptions  

(e) A local government outside of the Metro boundary may estimate its housing vacancy rate 

for the 20-year planning period using the vacancy rate in the most current data published by 

the U.S. Census Bureau for that urban area that includes the local government. 

260



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 41 

41 

The most current estimate of overall housing vacancy in the City of Woodburn is 4.4% 

per U.S. Census, American Community Survey, 2013-2017 estimates. 

Method 1: Safe Harbor Housing Mix and Density Method 

This method is described in OAR 660-024-0040(8)(f) and “Table 1” from the rule.  According to the 

rule, Woodburn is grouped into the category of cities with a population over 25,000.   

As indicated in Exhibit 4.1, this method assumes 2,932 net new dwelling units, with a required mix 

as follows: 50% low-density, 25% medium-density, and 25% high-density.  

This method requires an overall (citywide) minimum density within residential base zones of: 6 

dwellings per net acre; 8 dwellings/acre for UGB analysis; and the city must allow at least 10 units 

per acre overall (citywide) on its buildable residential land base.  

Land needs are determined by dividing the housing need forecast (2,932 dwellings) by 8 dwellings 

per acre, which results in a potential UGB residential land need of 366 net buildable acres. The 

Woodburn UGB Buildable Land Inventory analysis determined that the UGB currently has 543 net 

buildable acres for future residential. Hence, the overall UGB would be sufficient to meet future 

demand.  

Exhibit 4.1 

 

 

 

Safe Harbor Combined Housing Mix and Density Method, Determination of Residential Land Need, Woodburn UGB

Factor Finding Units Source Notes

1 Current Population Est. (2019) 26,965             population Table A

2 Is Pop. Over 25,000? Yes

3 20-Yr Population Change 8,845               Table A

4 Population in Group Quarters 0.7% 60                    population Table B

Group quarters units 3.0 20                    dwelling units allowance

5 Population in Households 8,786               population calculation

6 Average Household Size 3.15 Table B

7 Number of Households 2,789               households calculation

8 Vacancy Factor 4.4% 123                  dwellings Table C

9 Dwelling Units Added 2,932               dwellings

10 Dwelling Mix Safe Harbor Percent Dwellings

  Low Density Residential 1 50% 1,466              dwellings see OAR 660-024-0040(f)

  Medium Density Residential 2 25% 733                 dwellings see OAR 660-024-0040(f)

  High Density Residential 25% 733                 dwellings see OAR 660-024-0040(f)

    Total 100% 2,932              dwellings calculation

11 Dwelling Unit Density Requirements DU/Net Acre 
3  UGB Land 

Need Net Acres 

  Required overall minimum 6 see OAR 660-024-0040(f)

  Assume for UGB analysis 8 366                 net acres see OAR 660-024-0040(f)

  Zone to Allow 10 see OAR 660-024-0040(f)
1 Includes single family detached dwellings, manufactured homes and mobile homes.

Method 1

2 Includes townhomes, plexes and group quarters units.
3 Analysis consistent with OAR 60-024-0040(f). This applies to all residential zones within the City and UGB.

261



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 42 

42 

Method 2: Baseline Housing Need Forecast Method 

This method includes emerging market trends and forecasts derived from Section 2 and assumes that 

the average household size declines slightly over the next 20 years. This is done in order to reflect 

national trends of shrinking household sizes (in large part due to the increasing share of empty 

nesters and retirees), as well as a recognition that the 3.15 average household size figure derived 

from the 2017 American Community Survey is the highest observed of any year from 2009 to 2017.  

The average household size figure in method two moves from 3.15 (current) to 3.07 (future) people 

per dwelling unit.  This results in a housing forecast of 3,012 dwelling units. But unlike the 

preceding method, this approach takes into account the expected average development density levels 

based on local market activity and City of Woodburn planning staff assumptions.   

The housing mix is as follows: 60.6% low density, 7.0% manufactured housing, 10.6% 

townhomes/plexes, 10.9% garden apartments, and 10.9% higher-density apartments.  Land needs are 

determined by dividing the housing needs by the average density assumptions as follows: 

■ Low density: 1,824 dwellings ÷ 6 units/acre = 304 acres 

■ Mfg. housing (or small lot cottages): 210 dwellings ÷ 8 units/acre = 26 acres 

■ Medium density townhomes/plexes: 320 dwellings ÷ 12 units/acre = 27 acres 

■ Medium density garden court apts.: 329 dwellings ÷ 16 units/acre = 21 acres 

■ Higher density apts.: 329 dwellings ÷ 31 units/acre = 11 acres 

Total land requirements equates to 388 net buildable acres (see Exhibit 4.2).  

Exhibit 4.2 

 

  

Source Notes

1 Future Housing Need

Net New 

Dwellings 

Expected  Housing Mix 

  Low Density Residential 1

      Single family detached 1,824                60.6% Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings

     Manufactured Housing 210                   7.0% Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings

  Medium Density Residential 2

      Townhomes, Plexes, ADUs 320                   10.6% Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings

      Apartments (garden apts.) 329                   10.9% Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings

  Higher Density 329                   10.9% Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings

    Total 3,012                100.0%

2 Expected Housing Density DUs per acre 
3

UGB Land Need 

(Net Acres)

  Low Density Residential 1

      Single family detached 6.0 304                 calculation

     Manufactured Housing 8.0 26                   calculation

  Medium Density Residential 2

      Townhomes, Plexes, ADUs 12.0 27                   calculation

      Apartments (garden apts.) 16.0 21                   calculation

  Higher Density 31.0 11                   calculation

    Total/Average 7.8 388                 calculation
1 Includes single family detached dwellings, manufactured homes and mobile homes.

Baseline Housing Need Forecast, Woodburn UGB

2 Includes townhomes, plexes and group quarters units.
3 Density estimates derived from City of Woodburn planning staff, June 2019.

262



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 43 

43 

Method 3 (Hybrid): Recommended Housing Need Forecast Method 

The HNA Advisory Committee and Planning Commission reviewed and discussed the baseline 

housing forecast and considered current multifamily market gaps described in Section 2.  As such, 

Method 3 was generated to address housing attainability needs and emerging multifamily 

development opportunities.   

Method 3 assumes that the total housing demand required to address population growth is consistent 

with the overall baseline housing forecast (Method 2) of 3,012 dwelling units. However, the expected 

medium and high-density housing mix is expected to be like Method 1.  Medium and high-density 

housing has been allocated among three housing types: townhomes/plexes; garden apartments, and 

higher-density apartments. This results in a net new housing mix as follows: 51.9% low density, 

10.6% townhomes/plexes, 10.9% garden apartments, and 26.6% higher density apartments.   

Land needs are determined by dividing the housing need forecast by the average density assumptions 

as follows: 

■ Low density (includes single family detached and mfg. housing): 1,563 dwellings ÷ 6 

units/acre = 261 acres 

■ Medium density townhomes/plexes: 320 dwellings ÷ 12 units/acre = 27 acres 

■ Medium density garden apts.: 329 dwellings ÷ 16 units/acre = 21 acres 

■ Higher density apts.: 800 dwellings ÷ 31 units/acre = 26 acres 

Total land requirements equates to 334 net buildable acres (see Exhibit 4.3).  

Exhibit 4.3 

 

  

1 Future Housing Need

Net New 

Dwellings 

Expected  Housing Mix 

  Low Density Residential 1 1,563                51.9%

  Medium Density Residential 2 733                   

      Townhomes, Plexes, ADUs 320                   10.6%

      Apartments (garden apts.) 329                   10.9%

  Higher Density 800                   26.6%

    Total 3,012                100%

2 Expected Housing Density DUs per acre 
3

UGB Land Need 

(Net Acres)

  Low Density Residential 1 6.0 261                 

  Medium Density Residential 2

      Townhomes, Plexes, ADUs 12.0 27                   

      Apartments (garden apts.) 16.0 21                   

  Higher Density 31.0 26                   

    Total/Average 9.0 334                 

3 Density estimates derived from City of Woodburn planning staff, June 2019.

Balance of baseline total dwelling demand forecast

calculation 

calculation 

calculation 

calculation 
1 Includes single family detached dwellings, manufactured homes and mobile homes.
2 Includes townhomes, plexes and group quarters units.

Source Notes

Method 2 

estimate based on pipline projects

Method 2 

calculation 

Recommended Housing Mix and Residential Land Needs, Woodburn UGB

263



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 44 

44 

Reconciliation of Land Supply and Demand 

A comparison of the 20-year residential land needs (demand) is made relative to the residential 

buildable land inventory.  This provides a means of reconciling residential land demand with the 

existing buildable land within the Woodburn UGB.   

The reconciliation of UGB residential land need and land supply is summarized below.  The results 

indicate that with the recommended housing forecast (Method 3), the Woodburn UGB would plan for 

3,012 net new dwellings over the next 20 years.  Based on the three methods evaluated, this would 

require between 333.5 acres (Method 3) and 366.5 acres (Method 1) of net land area.  As the 

Buildable Land Inventory shows the residential land supply to be 567.1 acres, the overall UGB is 

sufficient to address the 20-year housing need forecast (see Exhibit 4.4). 

Exhibit 4.4 

 

Recommended

Method 1: 

safe harbor 

housing mix

Method 2: 

baseline 

housing mix

Method 3: 

recommended 

housing mix

Dwellings/Units

Low Density 
1 1,466            2,034            1,563               

Medium Density 
2 733               649               649                  

Higher Density 733               329               800                  

Total 2,932            3,012            3,012               

Land Need (net acres)

Low Density 
1 330.2            260.5               

Medium Density 
2 47.2              47.2                 

Higher Density 10.6              25.8                 

Total 366.5            388.1            333.5               

Buildable Land Inventory (net acres)

Low Density Residential 
1 425.1            425.1            425.1             

Medium Density Residential 
2 115.9            115.9            115.9             

Higher Density Residential (Commercial & Mixed Use zones) 
3 26.1              26.1              26.1               

Total 567.1            567.1            567.1               

UGB Land Surplus/Deficit (net acres)

Low Density 
1 94.8              164.6               

Medium Density 
2 68.7              68.7                 

Higher Density Residential (Commercial & Mixed Use zones) 
3 15.5              0.3                  

Total 200.6            179.0            233.5               

Adequacy of UGB to meet housing need adequate adequate adequate

1 Includes single family detached dwellings, manufactured homes and mobile homes.
2 Includes townhomes, plexes, garden-court apartments, and group quarters units.

Reconcilation of Residential Land Need, Woodburn UGB

3 Includes higher density apartments. The phrase "high density" derives from OAR 660-038-0060 and 

applies to existing zoning districts allowing what Woodburn terms "medium" density of 16 or more 

units per acre:  RMN, DDC, CO, CG, NNC, & MUV.

264



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 45 

45 

Woodburn UGB Sufficiency Analysis 

The reconciliation analysis also indicates that the UGB has a surplus supply of low-density (94.8-

164.6 acres) and medium-density zoned buildable land (68.7 acres) to meet projected residential land 

needs for single family detached, manufactured housing, townhomes, duplex and garden apartment 

housing needs.  

The findings indicate that the 20-year land need for higher-density apartments exceeds the buildable 

land inventory for the RMN zone by 38 acres. This deficit could be accommodated within the 

remaining surplus supply of medium density zones (including the RM zone which currently limits 

development density to 16 units per acre) and/or some of the vacant commercial buildable lands 

(which include a total of 72 net buildable acres (according to the Woodburn HNA Buildable Land 

Inventory, May 2019).  

In review of the 2001 Economic Opportunities Analysis for the city of Woodburn the demand for 

commercial land over the 1999-2020 time exceeded the vacant commercial buildable land supply 

(146 acres).To respond to the need, on December 14, 2015, the city and Marion County jointly 

approved a remanded and amended version of the Woodburn UGB, which included an additional 23 

acres of commercial land. 

In conclusion, to fully address high-density land needs, the city will need to identify policy measures 

to ensure that the forecasted demand for 800 higher density apartments/condos can be accommodated 

within the UGB. The city can meet this demand on a portion of remaining vacant or redevelopable 

low or medium density zoned land and vacant commercial zoned land.  In order to reduce the 

conversion of vacant commercial zoned land to higher density apartments, the city may also consider 

rezoning up to 10 acres of vacant RM land to allow higher densities (e.g., increase allowable density 

from 16 to 24 units per acre) when certain objective standards are met (e.g., site 

size/configuration/access, proximity to public transit, etc.) to address the higher density multifamily 

housing needs. 

 

 

265



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 46 

46 

Section V. KEY FINDINGS AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

KEY FINDINGS FROM THE HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS 

 Based on the population growth forecasts for the Woodburn UGB (20-year population 

growth of 8,845 people) and housing and demographic characteristics, the baseline 

housing needs forecast plans for 3,012 net new dwelling units. A variety of housing is 

needed over the next 20 years, including 1,322 owner-occupied dwellings and 1,690 

renter-occupied dwellings. 

 Woodburn’s existing policies generally comply with Goal 10. The local development 

code allows a wide mix of housing types and density ranges (see Appendix A).  

 There is sufficient capacity within the current UGB to accommodate planned residential 

development and related land needs over the next 20 years. The current UGB contains 

567 acres of buildable residential land inventory, and residential land needs are 

forecasted to require 333.5 acres based on the recommended housing mix.   

 Woodburn has a need for additional affordable housing.  Woodburn has a current unmet 

need for affordable rental housing and the citywide rental vacancy rate of 3% is very low 

compared with other communities in Oregon.  Also, 26% of renter households in 

Woodburn are severely rent burdened.  

RECCOMMENDED HOUSING ACTIONS 

The City will need to optimize the available land within the UGB by considering the 

following: 

1. Continue to encourage medium and high-density development within RM, RMN, DDC, 

NNC, MUV and appropriate sites within the CO and CG zones.  

2. Consider amendments to development code standards regarding setbacks, parking 

requirements, etc. to ensure full utilization of vacant land for future development. 

3. Consider and adopt development code amendments that encourage infill within 

residential zones and redevelopment within commercial and mixed-use zones. 

4. In order to reduce the conversion of vacant commercial zoned land to higher density 

apartments, the city may also consider rezoning up to 10 acres of vacant or redevelopable 

low or medium density residential land to allow higher densities (e.g., increase allowable 

density from 16 to 24 units per acre) when certain objective standards are met (e.g., site 

size/configuration/access, proximity to public transit, etc.) to address the higher density 

multifamily housing needs. 

266



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 47 

47 

To help encourage or incentivize construction of affordable housing priced at 80% or below 

of the median family income levels, the City should consider the following: 

5. Identify public-owned properties that could be used for affordable housing. 

6. Partner with local housing authorities or non-profit housing developers to provide offsite 

infrastructure (sewer, water, road improvements) or parking that supports affordable 

housing development. 

7. Prepare a sliding scale system of System Development Charges (SDCs) which would 

provide charges that vary by home size and type. 

8. Provide policies that allow SDC deferrals for affordable housing developments until a 

certificate of occupancy is granted. 

9. Develop a tax abatement program, such as the multiple-unit limited tax exemption 

program, to promote development of affordable housing. 

10. Consider establishing a local affordable housing construction excise tax to be used to 

incentivize development of income restricted housing. 

Further policies have been recommended, however, due to the limited timeframe of this project, these 

policies have not been reviewed and approved by the Woodburn Planning Commission. Policies 

outlined in Appendix B will be discussed with the Planning Commission, refined based on Planning 

Commission input and summarized in a housing strategies report to follow.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

267



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 48 

48 

APPENDIX A: EXISTING DEV. CODE  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

268



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 59 

59 

GLOSSARY 

The definitions below do not necessarily supersede those in ORS, OAR, the WDO, or per WDO 1.02 

& 4.02.06B.6.b. the New Oxford American Dictionary, 2010 edition. 

Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU): An interior, attached or detached residential structure that is used 

in connection with or that is accessory to a single-family dwelling. [ORS 197.312(5)(b)]. 

Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI): An assessment of the capacity of land within the city Urban 

Growth Boundary to accommodate forecasted housing and employment needs. 

Buildable Residential Land: Includes land that is designated for residential development that is 

vacant and part-vacant and not constrained by existing buildings or environmental issues. 

Constrained land: Land that is unavailable for future net new residential development based on one 

or more factors, such as environmental protections, public lands, floodplains, or steep slopes.  

Cost Burdened: Defined by US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) as households 

who spend over 30% of their income on housing. 

Cottages: Small, single-level, detached units, often on their own lots and sometimes clustered 

around pockets of shared open space. A cottage is typically under 1,000 square feet in footprint. 

Density: Defined by the number of housing units on one acre of land.  

Development density: Expected number of dwelling units (per acre) based on current zoning 

designations.  

Family: A group two or more people (one of whom is the householder) related by birth, marriage, or 

adoption and residing together. 

High Density: Lots with the average density of 12+ dwelling units per acre [based on OAR 660-038-

0060(1)(b)(B)(iii)]. Best suited for multifamily housing such as apartments and condos.  

Housing Needs Analysis (HNA): The Housing Needs Analysis consists of four distinct reports that 

analyze the state of housing supply, housing affordability issues and the City's ability to meet 

projected housing demand going into 2040. 

Housing Unit (or Dwelling Unit): A house, an apartment or other group of rooms, or a single room 

is regarded as a housing unit when it is occupied or intended for occupancy as separate living 

quarters; that is, when the occupants do not live and eat with any other person in the structure and 

there is direct access from the outside or common hall. 

Household: Consists of all people that occupy a housing unit.  

HUD: Acronym for US Department of Housing and Urban Development, the federal agency dedicated to 
strengthening and supporting the housing market.  

Low Density: Lots with the average density of 3-4 dwelling units per acre [based on OAR 660-038-

0060(1)(b)(B)(i)]. Best suited for family housing such as single family detached homes. 

Manufactured Housing: is a type of prefabricated home that is largely assembled of site and then 

transported to sites of use. The definition of the term in the United States is regulated by federal law 

269



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 60 

60 

(Code of Federal Regulations, 24 CFR 3280): "Manufactured homes are built as dwelling units of at 

least 320 square feet in size, usually with a permanent chassis to assure the initial and continued 

transportability of the home. The requirement to have a wheeled chassis permanently attached 

differentiates "manufactured housing" from other types of prefabricated homes, such as modular 

homes.  

Manufactured Home Park (or manufactured home park): a local zoning designation that is 

specifically intended to address demand for this housing type. OAR chapter 813, division 007 is 

adopted to implement section 9, chapter 816, Oregon Laws 2009, and sections 2, 3 and 4, chapter 

619, Oregon Laws 2005, as amended by sections 10 to 12, chapter 816, Oregon Laws 2009, and 

sections 19, and 21, chapter 503, Oregon Laws 2011 for the purpose of regulating manufactured 

dwelling parks.  

Median Family Income (MFI): The median sum of the income of all family members 15 years and 

older living in the household. Families are groups of two or more people (one of whom is the 

householder) related by birth, marriage, or adoption and residing together; all such people (including 

related subfamily members) are considered as members of one family. 

Medium Density: Lots with the average density of 6-12 dwelling units per acre [based on OAR 660-

038-0060(1)(b)(B)(ii)]. Best suited for small lot housing such as single family attached, townhomes, 

plexes and cottages. 

Mixed Use: Characterized as two or more residential, commercial, cultural, institutional, and/or 

industrial uses into one combined building or building(s) on the same parcel of land.  

Multi-Family Housing: Stacked flats in a single buildings or groups of buildings on a single lot. 

Parking is shared, and entrance to units is typically accessed through a shared lobby.  See also WDO 

1.02 Definitions, “Dwellings … Multiple-Family Dwelling”:  A building on a single lot containing 

three or more dwelling units. Note: This definition does not include row houses, where attached 

single-family dwelling units are located on separate lots.” 

Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR): Administrative Rules are created by most agencies and some 

boards and commissions to implement and interpret their statutory authority (ORS 183.310(9)). Agencies 

may adopt, amend, repeal or renumber rules, permanently or temporarily. Every OAR uses the same 
numbering sequence of a three-digit chapter number followed by a three-digit division number and a four-

digit rule number. For example, Oregon Administrative Rules, chapter 166, division 500, rule 0020 is 

cited as OAR 166-500-0020. (oregon.gov) 

Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS): The codified laws of the State of Oregon. 

Part-vacant land: Unconstrained land that has some existing development, but can be subdivided to 

allow for additional residential development. 

Plexes and Apartments: Multiple units inside one structure on a single lot. Usually each unit has its 

own entry.  See also WDO 1.02 Definitions, “Dwellings … Multiple-Family Dwelling”:  A building 

on a single lot containing three or more dwelling units. Note: This definition does not include row 

houses, where attached single-family dwelling units are located on separate lots.” 

Seasonal dwellings: These units are intended by the owner to be occupied during only certain 

seasons of the year. They are not anyone’s usual residence. A seasonal unit may be used in more than 

one season; for example, for both summer and winter sports. Published counts of seasonal units also 

270



City of Woodburn  Housing Needs Analysis 

December 2019 

  page 61 

61 

include housing units held for occupancy by migratory farm workers. While not currently intended 

for year-round use, most seasonal units could be used year-round. 

Severely Cost Burdened: Defined US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) as 

households who spend over 50% of their income on housing. 

Single Family Attached: Dwelling units that are duplexes without a subdividing property line 

between the two to four housing units. “Attached” duplexes require a single building permit for both 

dwelling units. The “attached” units would be addressed with one numerical street address for the 

overall structure with separate alpha-numeric unit numbers for each dwelling.  

Single Family Detached: Free standing residential building, unattached, containing separate bathing, 

kitchen, sanitary, and sleeping facilities designed to be occupied by not more than one family, not 

including manufactured and mobile homes. 

Townhome (also known as duplexes, rowhouse, etc.): Attached housing units, each on a separate 

lot, and each with its own entry from a public or shared street or common area.   See also WDO 1.02 

Definitions, “Dwellings … Row House”:  “A building containing three or more dwelling units, 

arranged so that each dwelling unit is located on a separate lot. The building often consists of a series 

of houses of similar or identical design, situated side by side and joined by common walls.” 

Urban Growth Boundary (UGB): Under Oregon law, each of the state’s cities and metropolitan areas 

has created an urban growth boundary around its perimeter – a land use planning line to control urban 
expansion onto farm and forest lands.  

Vacant housing unit: A housing unit is vacant if no one is living in it at the time of enumeration, 

unless its occupants are only temporarily absent. Units temporarily occupied at the time of 

enumeration entirely by people who have a usual residence elsewhere are also classified as vacant.  

Vacant land: Vacant and part-vacant land identified within the local buildable land inventory that is 

not developed and unconstrained for future planned residential development.  

Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO): The land development and zoning code of the City of 

Woodburn, which the City Council last amended June 24, 2019 via Ordinance No. 2573. 

271



Page - 1 -  Ordinance No. 2576 Exhibit B Analyses & Findings 
 

Ordinance No. 2576 
 

Exhibit B:  Analyses & Findings 
 
 

Oregon law requires the City to have a housing needs analysis (HNA) through 
Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 197.175, 197.295-314, & 197.475-490 and 
Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660-008. 
 
The legislature in response to the national housing affordability crisis during its 
spring 2018 session allocated $1.73 million to the Department of Land 
Conservation and Development (DLCD) for housing planning technical 
assistance via House Bill (HB) 4006, and the enrolled bill allocated funding for 
the purpose of providing technical assistance to local governments in 
increasing the affordability of housing and required that DLCD spend the 
allocation by June 30, 2019. 
 
HB 4006 directed DLCD to prioritize cities with over 10,000 residents and in 
which 25% or more of rental households are “severely rent-burdened”, 
meaning households that each spend more than 50% of household income 
(HHI) on rent.  Woodburn is such a city. 

 
The City of Woodburn applied for technical assistance to analyze and report 
on Woodburn housing needs, and on June 28, 2018, DLCD notified the City 
that it selected Woodburn.  As part of the administration of technical 
assistance, the City entered into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with 
DLCD.  The City duly complied with the MOU and received an HNA final 
document that DLCD expects the City to adopt in return for technical 
assistance. 

 
On October 28, 2019, the Council held a work session, tentatively approved 
the HNA based upon removal of Appendix B “Draft Policies and Actions” that 
contains recommended measures, and requested Ordinance 2576 effecting 
the amendment.  Appendix B is not necessary to the HNA, and DLCD has not 
cited a statute or rule and informed the City that it is required to adopt 
Appendix B or any of its measures. 
 
Lastly, on December 9, 2019, the Council held a public hearing, reviewed the 
record, and heard testimony, setting the stage for Legislative Amendment LA 
2019-02 to the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan that adopts the HNA as part of 
Comprehensive Plan, Volume II. 

272



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __X__ City Attorney __X__ Finance __X__ 

 December 9, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Curtis Stultz, Public Works Operations Director  
   
SUBJECT: “Winter Averaging” Ordinance Amendment    
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the attached ordinance amendment.   
 
BACKGROUND/ DISCUSSION: 
 
Ordinance 2157 (Wastewater Discharge Fees) was adopted in 1995 and provided 
a process for “winter fee averaging,” where a customer’s fees could be averaged 
over the months of November, December and January.  However, the City’s 
current computer software must use months in the same calendar year for the 
winter averaging function and cannot support the current ordinance language.  
In order to solve this problem, staff has proposed a “housekeeping amendment,” 
where Ordinance 2157 is modified to use January, February and March for winter 
averaging.   
 
The proposed ordinance amendment corrects the “winter averaging” 
calculation issue and includes an emergency clause, which allows it to take 
effect immediately upon approval by the City Council so that it can be used by 
customers for this season. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None.  
 
 
Attachment 
 
Ordinance 2157 

273



WOODBURN ORDINANCE COMPILATION SANITATION 

ORDINANCE NO. 2157 PAGE 1 

 

 

 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2157 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING PLACEMENT OF CHARGES ON WASTEWATER DISCHARGE 
UTILIZING WATER USE MONITORING OR OTHER ESTIMATING METHODS FOR THE OPERATION 
AND MAINTENANCE OF MUNICIPAL SEWERAGE SYSTEMS, PROVIDING FOR SUCH CHARGES 
AND THE COLLECTION THEREOF, REPEALING ORDINANCE NO. 2059, AND SETTING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
THE CITY OF WOODBURN ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1.  General Provisions. That a charge, as provided in this ordinance, will be 

added to each municipal water bill or statement issued by the City of Woodburn. Such 
charges will apply to all monthly periods of water use and service received from the City, 
and such charges will be collected from water users in the same manner and under the 
same provisions of law as other charges for water use and services. Such charges will be 
levied against each water account, excepting those accounts providing only fire or 
irrigation service, and other services which do not utilize the city sewerage system for their 
wastewater treatment and disposal. 

 
A like charge may be made to all premises within the city limits which are supplied 

with water from sources other than the city water system. A separate charge will be 
collected from all premises outside the City which discharge to the city sewerage system. 
The premises connected to a water system other than the city system may be required 
to provide metering devices for the waste discharge calculations. An additional charge 
will be collected for “recreational vehicle waste water discharge” stations. All city 
municipal service buildings will continue to be exempted from the charges outlined in this 
ordinance unless modified by council action. Interpretation and administration of this 
ordinance and its provisions will be the responsibility of the City Engineer. 

 
This ordinance also deals with permitted industrial/commercial loading-related 

service charges. However, the city-issued waste discharge permits that reflect EPA and 
DEQ requirements and other capacity connection fee requirements related to loadings, 
are not covered by this ordinance. 

 
(Section 1 as amended by Ordinance 2286 passed May 14, 2001) 

 
Section 2. Abbreviations & Definitions: 

 
BOD = Biochemical oxygen demand 
SBOD = Soluble BOD 
cu. ft. = cubic feet 
gal. = gallon(s) 
TSS = Total suspended solids 
POTW = Public Owned Treatment Works 
EPA = Environmental Protection Agency 
DEQ = Department of Environmental Quality 

 
Single Family Unit: A  stick  built  or  manufactured  house,   designed  for 

permanent   occupation   by   a   single   family which 

274



WOODBURN ORDINANCE COMPILATION SANITATION 

ORDINANCE NO. 2157 PAGE 2 

 

 

 
 

includes kitchen and bathroom facilities, on its own lot, 
with or without accessory structures. 

 
Multi family Unit: 1) Any dwelling unit designed for separate, permanent 

occupation by more than one family and which each 
separate unit includes kitchen and bathroom facilities. 

 
2) Any recreation room with bathroom, sink, and 
cooking facilities. 

 
Section 3. Treatment Capability and Acceptance of Sewage: The City, at its 

discretion, may refuse to accept sewage loadings from industrial/commercial users or 
septage haulers, if such loading is beyond permitted loading or if such loading, in the 
opinion of the City, reasonably places the treatment process at risk or may cause 
violation of the City’s permit. 

 
Section 4. Industrial User Billing: Industrial users may be required to  install metering 

and sampling devices to monitor flow, BOD, suspended solids and any other necessary 
constituents. The industry may be required to combine all effluent lines to a single point 
for such metering/sampling and to monitor their effluent discharge. The City may bill on 
an estimated basis if the user fails to perform the required monitoring and sampling. Any 
or all of the following criteria may be used to determine if an industry is to be billed as an 
industrial user: 

 
A. The user is permitted to discharge more than 0.8 percent (0.8%) of the 

designed average dry weather hydraulic, organic or solid handling load to the City’s 
POTW. 

 
B. The user has a non-domestic flow of 25,000 gallons or more per average 

work day. 
 

C. The user is determined by the POTW Superintendent to have a significant 
impact upon POTW operations. 

 
D. The user comes under the national categorical pretreatment standards 

promulgated by the EPA. 
 

E. The City has issued the user an industrial discharge permit. 
 

Section 5. Monthly  Sewerage  Charge:  The  monthly  sewerage  charges required 
by Section 1 of this ordinance will be according to the following schedule: 

A. All sewer charges for residential, commercial and industrial customers will 
be based on a minimum plus volume of sewage discharged method. In addition, 
industrial customers will also be charged for BOD and TSS. 

 

B. Residential minimum plus volume method will be the average consumption 
of water for the four (4) winter months (November/December through February/March) 
and it will be considered as the amount of sewage discharged from each dwelling unit. 
The winter month average will be determined by the water meter readings taken or other 

275



WOODBURN ORDINANCE COMPILATION SANITATION 

ORDINANCE NO. 2157 PAGE 3 

 

 

 
 

needed estimating methods by Public Works for unusual cases. General estimating and 
billing methods are outlined below: 

 
1. In the first year of the minimum plus volume method implementation, 

the November/December through February/March bills will be based on the actual 
consumption for each month. Starting in March/April, each of the following twelve (12) 
months will be billed based on the average of the three (3) low months out of the four (4) 
recent winter months (November/December through February/March). Every year a 
new average will be calculated using the immediately preceding winter month’s 
consumption.  (Section 5(B)(1) amended by Ordinance 2164 passed March 25, 1996.) 

 
2. For residential units where a full four (4) months of consumption 

readings are not available for averaging, such as vacations or vacancies due to change 
in ownership, a minimum of three (3) full months of readings may be used for averaging 
or two full months of readings supplemented by partial month daily water consumption 
outlined under Section 5(B)(9). (Section 5(B)(2) amended by Ordinance 2164 passed 
March 25, 1996.) 

 
3. Residential structures that are served by the city sewerage system, 

but not connected to city water, will be billed at the city wide residential average 
consumption rate of 700 cu. ft. per unit 

 
4. If the winter average exceeds three other consecutive months 

average, then at the request of the property owner, the city may replace the winter 
average with the average of three other consecutive months for the remaining future 
annual billing cycle. No credit shall be given for the prior billings and there shall be no 
extra charge for the adjustment. Also, Public Works shall make adjustments to wastewater 
charges for properties disrupted by natural disaster that affects the flow of wastewater 
to the city system. (Section 5(B)(4) amended by Ordinance 2164 passed March 25, 1996.) 

 
a. Replacement of residential winter average with average of 

other three consecutive months and adjustment of charges: 
 

i. If the winter average exceeds three other consecutive 
months average, then at the request of the property owner, the city may replace the 
winter average with the average of three other consecutive months for the remaining 
future annual billing cycle. 

ii. The wastewater charges to an account when three-month 
average is implemented to replace winter average shall be adjusted as outlined below: 

 
 
 
 

Amount of credit shall be limited to the summation of 
actual revenue received in three months under consideration less summation of 
calculated revenue in the same three-month period that is used to develop lower billing 
average.  (Section 5(B)(4)(a) added by Ordinance 2171 passed June 10, 1996.) 

276



WOODBURN ORDINANCE COMPILATION SANITATION 

ORDINANCE NO. 2157 PAGE 4 

 

 

 
 

b. Adjustment to wastewater charges for properties disrupted 
by a natural disaster affecting wastewater flow: 

 
i. Public Works will evaluate the disruption to wastewater 

flow because of a natural disaster and make adjustment accordingly. During the period 
while a structure is being rehabilitated and there is no wastewater flow, there shall be no 
wastewater charge based on the winter average, otherwise an estimate that reflects the 
use of least flow will be used. (Section 5(B)(4)(b) added by Ordinance 2171 passed June 
10, 1996.) 

 
5. If there is no occupancy of buildings during the winter months, then 

the aver of the two (2) prior months, i.e., September and October, or 700 cu. ft., 
whichever is less, may be used for billing purposes, until and unless a representative 
average of the winter months is developed or estimated. 

 
6. For new structures or new customers, the city-wide residential 

average of 700 cubic feet per unit per month may be used until an actual average can 
be calculated using three (3) full months following occupancy. If the calculated average 
is below 700 cu. ft., then the calculated average will be used for billing, and a credit shall 
be given deducting the summation of the three-month average from the actual revenue 
received during that period. If the calculated average is above 700 cu. ft., then the city-
wide residential average of 700 cul ft. will be used for billing purposes until the next winter 
average is calculated. For new structures, the sewer charges begin when the certificate 
of occupancy is issued, or three (3) months after the installation of the water meter unless 
the owner notifies the city that the building is not occupied. (Section 5(B)(6) amended 
by Ordinance 2171 passed June 10, 1996.) 

 
7. All sewer structures located within 300 feet of an adequate city 

sewer main, and experiencing septic system failure, must connect to the city sewer 
system. No new subsurface wastewater treatment and disposal (septic tank system) shall 
be allowed within the city limits. (Section 5(B)7 as amended by Ordinance 2286 passed 
May 14, 2001.) 

 
8. There will be no additional charge for consumption analysis and 

adjustments other than that for leak adjustments as outlined in Section 9. 
 

9. When a dwelling unit has been occupied for not less than 10 days 
and/or the water consumption for the month is below 100 cu. ft., then partial month daily 
water consumption method may be used to project consumption for that month under 
consideration for averaging purposes. 

277



WOODBURN ORDINANCE COMPILATION SANITATION 

ORDINANCE NO. 2157 PAGE 5 

 

 

 
 

C. Commercial bills will be based on the actual water use for that month. 
Commercial structures that are connected to city water and are located within 100 feet 
of an adequate sewer line but not connected to the sewer, will be charged the minimum 
usage of 600 cu. ft. per unit. 

 
D. Industrial bills will be based on the actual consumption for that month plus 

the loading charges (BOD and TSS). 
 

E. RATES: 
Customer Class 

Minimum 
Charge 

Minimum 
Volume 

Volume Charge/ 
Above Minimum 

1. RESIDENTIAL 
a. Single Family, Churches 

PER UNIT 

 
 
$20.20 

 
 

500 cu. ft. 

 
 

$3.59/100 cu.ft. 

b. Multi Family, Apartments, 
Mobile Home in a Park, 
Condos, Motel, Hotel 
PER UNIT 

 
 
 
$20.20 

 
 
 

500 cu. ft. 

 
 
 

$3.59/100 cu.ft. 

c. Residential unit not on 
City metered water 
system, PER UNIT 

 
 
$27.38 

 
 

- - - - - - 

 
 

- - - - - - 
(NOTE: Above is based on estimate discharge of 700 cu. ft./mo. City 
may require metering if higher discharge is estimated by the City 
Engineer) 

 
2. COMMERCIAL 

Businesses, Schools, R.V. Parks, Care Centers, etc. 
PER METER $25.54          600 cu. ft.       $5.49/100 cf. 

 
Above Minimum 
a) Volume Charge 

3.  INDUSTRIAL $54.62    1,000 cu. ft.  $2.27/100 cu.ft. 
(includes first 25 lbs. BOD and 9 lbs. TSS) b) BOD Charge: 

$0.85/lb. 
c) TSS Charge: 

$0.25/lb. 
4. ABANDONED OR NON REVENUE PRODUCING SERVICE: 

Abandonment procedures may be started by the City, if a building is 
unoccupied for a period of 18 months, with proper notification to the 
property owner, as outlined in Resolution No. 1100, and/or minimum 
billing may be started for the building under consideration. 

 
5. WASTEWATER DISCHARGE STATION - RV, etc. (in addition to standard 

charge) 
a. Residential type sewage discharge station at commercial 

establishments, 
 

PER MONTH 

278



WOODBURN ORDINANCE COMPILATION SANITATION 

ORDINANCE NO. 2157 PAGE 6 

 

 

 

i.  For multiple RV dump stations $25.54 Minimum/connection 
ii. For individual RV units in Park $2.75 Minimum/connection 

 
6.   SEPTAGE - per truck load 

 per 50 cu. ft. 

a.  Residential, PER GALLON $0.0625 $28.00/min. 
b.  Commercial, PER GALLON $0.0825 $28.00/min. 

 
Effective July 1, 2005 the septage rate will be: 
a.  Residential, PER GALLON $0.070 $30.00/min. 
b.  Commercial, PER GALLON $0.095 $30.00/min. 

 

Septage rates above apply only to the service area identified in the 
Pudding River Service Provider Study, March 1995. Other areas will be 
charged $0.085 PER GALLON for residential or commercial septage. 

 
[Section 5.E.6 as amended by Ordinance 2367, passed July 26, 2004.] 

 
7. Individual Recreational Vehicles discharging at Wastewater Treatment 

Plant 
 

Per vehicle NO CHARGE 
 

8. Mixed Residential/Commercial Accounts 
This category uses the residential or commercial rates outlined under 
subsections “1” to “3” above. The criteria for using a mixed 
residential/commercial method are outlined below: 

 
a) If no monitoring device is available, then the City may reasonably 

estimate charges based on the available facts, such as number of 
employees, product, or other criteria. 

 
b) If one City monitoring device serves more than one category of user, 

then the charges will be as follows: 
 

1) If separation of service is not practical (as determined by the City 
Engineer), then the service charge will be at the residential rate 
for the first 700 cubic feet of water, for each residential unit. The 
remaining will be at the commercial rate. 

 
2) If service monitoring separation is practical but not utilized, then 

the charge for the entire service will be at the commercial rate. 
The customer may request the City for a separate monitoring 
device for each category of service by paying the established 
meter installation fee. 

279



WOODBURN ORDINANCE COMPILATION SANITATION 

ORDINANCE NO. 2157 PAGE 7 

 

 

 
 

 

Section 6. Capital Cost Recovery Agreements. The City, at its discretion, may enter 
into agreements with industrial dischargers for the purpose of recovering the City’s 
incurred or anticipated costs used to modify POTW that benefit the industry. This cost, 
after Council’s approval, may be divided into a number of payments, and added to the 
monthly invoice, rather than one lump sum payment. The cost recovery agreements may 
reflect the construction costs, interest, engineering and administration costs for POTW 
modifications needed to accommodate industrial growth. 

 
Section 7. Large Septage Load Charge: The intent of this charge  is  to  discourage 

users from discharging large loads (lbs./day) of permitted waste to the city system during 
the dry weather season (June, July, August, September, October) that could reduce 
reliability of the city sewerage system. Prior to the construction of the new treatment 
plant, if septage waste is accepted at the present treatment system during the dry 
weather season, and if such loads will not place the treatment process at risk, the septage 
hauler rate may be multiplied by a factor of two (2). If the load will place risk to treatment 
process, then the City may choose not to accept such a load. 

 
Section 8. Unauthorized Connection and Service: 

 

A. Unauthorized Connection: A 25 percent (25%) administrative charge may 
be added to the service connection or capacity fee if a property is connected to the 
system without first obtaining the proper permit and paying the required fees. This 25 
percent (25%) may be added to the regular fee in effect at the time the unauthorized 
connection is discovered by the City. The added surcharge may be excused if the 
property owner volunteers the information and comes forward to pay the required 
connection fee. 

 
B. Unauthorized Service: An administrative charge of 25 percent (25%) may 

be added to the City utility service charge if a property receives City service and the 
customer does not inform the City to start the billing. The charge calculated will be limited 
to a twelve (12) month period. The City may make a reasonable estimate of the amount 
due. 

 
C. This section will not be construed to limit the City’s right to pursue any and 

all available legal remedies in regards to unauthorized connections or service. 
 

Section 9. Customer Billing Adjustments.   If the City, in the preceding    twelve 
(12) months, has overcharged a customer for the sewer service, and it is brought to the 
attention of the City Engineer, then he will make an adjustment using available records 
of the past year. The adjustment will be limited to a period of four (4) months falling within 
the past year. A similar adjustment for undercharge maybe made but it will be limited to 
a period of two (2) months. In the case of water leakage, an adjustment for a one or two 
month period will be made if the leak has been promptly repaired and the request for 
leak adjustment has been made within six (6) months. Such adjustments will not exceed 
100% of the estimated excess flow attributable to the leak. A charge of $10.00 will be 
added for any sewer charge adjustment due to water leaks. 

280



WOODBURN ORDINANCE COMPILATION SANITATION 

ORDINANCE NO. 2157 PAGE 8 

 

 

 
 

Section 10. Installation of Monitoring Clean Out:  If the City wants to install a  clean 
out on the service line near the house or business for infiltration monitoring and reduction, 
it may do so if a ten (10) day notice prior to construction activity has been provided to 
the property owner. The City may not charge for the installation of the clean out or for 
monitoring and infiltration reduction although it may be located on the private property. 

 
Section 11. Increase in Rates and Charges. Future rate adjustments will be 

established by Council action at a frequency and in an amount determined to be fiscally 
responsible for supporting service obligations, ensure POTW compliance with EPA/DEQ 
regulations, and to protect the environment and public health. 

 
Section 12. Service Agreements. All prior Council-approved service agreements 

between the City and a customer will remain in force for the term of the agreement. 
However, the requirements of this ordinance and other applicable ordinances, including 
the rate increase provisions, must be met. 

 
Section 13. Use of Monies Collected. That the monies collected pursuant to the 

provisions of this ordinance will be used to pay the costs of construction, operation, 
maintenance and expansion of sanitary and storm sewers, sewage 
treatment  plants,  pumping  stations,   and  related facilities  and  services,  including 
necessary administrative and engineering costs. 

 
Section 14. Administration. Interpretation and administration of this ordinance and 

its provisions will be the responsibility of the City Engineer. 
 

Section 15. Severability Clause. If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section or 
portion of this ordinance for any reason may be adjudged invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such judgment will not affect, impair, or invalidate any of the 
remainder of this ordinance. 

 
Section 16. Repeal.  Ordinance No. 2059 is hereby repealed. 

 

Section 17. Effective Date.  This ordinance is effective on November 1, 1995. 
 
 

Passed by the Council September 11, 1995, and approved by the Mayor 
September 12, 1995. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

281



Page 1  Council Bill No. 3116  
                Ordinance No. 2577 
 
 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 3116 
ORDINANCE NO. 2577 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE 2157 (WASTEWATER DISCHARGE FEES) TO 
MODIFY THE CALCULATION PROCEDURE USED FOR WINTER AVERAGING THAT 
PROVIDES THE RESIDENTIAL MONTHLY SEWERAGE CHARGE AND DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY 
 
 WHEREAS, on November 1, 1995, the Woodburn City Council adopted 
Ordinance 2157 approving placement of charges on wastewater discharge 
utilizing water use monitoring or other estimating methods for the operation and 
maintenance of municipal sewerage systems, providing for such charges and the 
collection thereof; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 5 of the Ordinance specifies a "winter averaging" 
calculation procedure for residential customers that estimates and sets the 
customer's monthly sewerage charge for the entire year; and 
 
 WHEREAS, with the City's computer software system used for water and 
sewer billing, a modification to the winter averaging calculation is necessary so 
that the Ordinance aligns with the capabilities of the system and reflects the City's 
calculation procedure; NOW THEREFORE, 
 
 THE CITY OF WOODBURN ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.   Section 5.B. of Ordinance 2157 is amended to read as follows: 

 
Section 5. Monthly Sewerage Charge: The monthly sewerage charges 

required by Section 1 of this ordinance will be according to the following 
schedule:  

 
B.  Residential minimum plus volume method will be the average 

consumption of water for the three (3) winter months of January, February, and 
March, and it will be considered as the amount of sewage discharged from 
each dwelling unit. The winter month average will be determined by the water 
meter readings taken or other needed estimating methods by Public Works for 
unusual cases. General estimating and billing methods are outlined below: 
 

1.  In the first year of the minimum plus volume method 
implementation, the January, February, March bills will be based on the actual 
consumption for each month. Starting in April, each of the following twelve (12) 
months will be billed based on the average of the three (3) winter months 

282



Page 2  Council Bill No. 3116  
                Ordinance No. 2577 
 
 

(January, February, March). Every year a new average will be calculated using 
the immediately preceding winter month’s consumption.  
 

2.  Residential structures that are served by the city sewerage 
system, but not connected to city water, will be billed at the city wide residential 
average consumption rate of 700 cu. ft. per unit. 
 

3.  If the winter average exceeds three other consecutive months' 
average, then at the request of the property owner, the city may replace the 
winter average with the average of three other consecutive months for the 
remaining future annual billing cycle. There shall be no extra charge for the 
adjustment. Also, Public Works shall make adjustments to wastewater charges 
for properties disrupted by natural disaster that affects the flow of wastewater to 
the city system.  
 

a. Replacement of residential winter average with average of other 
three consecutive months and adjustment of charges:  
 

i. If the winter average exceeds three other consecutive 
months' average, then at the request of the property owner, the city may 
replace the winter average with the average of three other consecutive months 
for the remaining future annual billing cycle.  

 
ii. The wastewater charges to an account when three-month 

average is implemented to replace winter average shall be adjusted as outlined 
below:  
 
Amount of credit shall be limited to the summation of actual revenue received 
in three months under consideration less summation of calculated revenue in 
the same three-month period that is used to develop lower billing average.  
 

b. Adjustment to wastewater charges for properties disrupted by a 
natural disaster affecting wastewater flow:  
 

i. Public Works will evaluate the disruption to wastewater flow 
because of a natural disaster and make adjustment accordingly. During the 
period while a structure is being rehabilitated and there is no wastewater flow, 
there shall be no wastewater charge based on the winter average, otherwise 
an estimate that reflects the use of least flow will be used.  
 

4.  If there is no occupancy of buildings during the winter months, 
then the average of  two (2) prior months, (e.g. September and October), or 700 

283



Page 3  Council Bill No. 3116  
                Ordinance No. 2577 
 
 

cu. ft., whichever is less, may be used for billing purposes, until and unless a 
representative average of the winter months is developed or estimated.  
 

5.  For new structures or new customers, the city-wide residential 
average of 700 cubic feet per unit per month may be used until an actual 
average can be calculated using three (3) full months following occupancy. If 
the calculated average is below 700 cu. ft., then the calculated average will be 
used for billing, and a credit shall be given deducting the summation of the 
three-month average from the actual revenue received during that period. If 
the calculated average is above 700 cu. ft., then the city-wide residential 
average of 700 cul ft. will be used for billing purposes until the next winter 
average is calculated. For new structures, the sewer charges begin when the 
certificate of occupancy is issued, or three (3) months after the installation of the 
water meter unless the owner notifies the city that the building is not occupied.  
 

6. All sewer structures located within 300 feet of an adequate city 
sewer main, and experiencing septic system failure, must connect to the city 
sewer system. No new subsurface wastewater treatment and disposal (septic 
tank system) shall be allowed within the city limits.  
 

7. There will be no additional charge for consumption analysis and 
adjustments other than that for leak adjustments as outlined in Section 9.  
 

8. When a dwelling unit has been occupied for not less than 10 days 
and/or the water consumption for the month is below 100 cu. ft., then partial 
month daily water consumption method may be used to project consumption 
for that month under consideration for averaging purposes. 
 
Section 2.  Emergency Clause. This ordinance being necessary for the 
immediate preservation of the public peace, health, and safety since it is in 
City’s best interest to adopt the winter averaging calculation procedure prior 
to January 2020, an emergency is declared to exist and this ordinance shall 
take effect immediately upon passage by the Council and approval by the 
Mayor. 
 
 
Approved as to form:      
 City Attorney  Date 
 
 
 Approved:   
  Eric Swenson, Mayor 

284



Page 4  Council Bill No. 3116  
                Ordinance No. 2577 
 
 

 
Passed by the Council   

Submitted to the Mayor   

Approved by the Mayor   

Filed in the Office of the Recorder   

 
 
ATTEST:   
  Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
  City of Woodburn, Oregon 
 

285



 Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ____x__ City Attorney ___x___  

   December 9, 2019 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director 
 Colin Cortes, AICP, CNU-A, Senior Planner 
 
SUBJECT: Design Review DR 2019-03 Pacific Valley Apartments Final Decision 
  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Authorize the mayor to sign the attached final land use decision.  

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The City Council called up the Planning Commission decision on the subject 
project pursuant to Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) 4.02.02 and then 
on November 12, 2019 held a public hearing that resulted in the Council 
tentatively approving the project with revisions to the site and landscape plans 
presented by the applicant at the meeting and denying the requested variance 
from the requirement to construct a wall along the east rear property line. In order 
to finalize the Council decision, staff supplemented the original analyses and 
findings with analyses and findings within the decision document that memorialize 
the Council reasons for its denial of Variance VAR 2019-02, Request 7 regarding 
an Architectural Wall. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None. 

 
Attachment: 

 
Final Decision document and its attachments (December 9, 2019) 

286



 
 

Final Decision  
City Council 

 

File number(s):  DR 2019-03, PLA 2019-03, & VAR 2019-02 

Project name:  Pacific Valley Apartments 

Date of decision: December 9, 2019 

Applicant: Leeb Architects; attn Robert Leeb, Principal in Charge & Doug Hamilton, 308 SW 
1st Avenue, Suite 200 Portland, OR 97204-3567 

Landowner: West Coast Real Estate Holdings, Attn: Eugene Labunsky, 25030 SW Parkway 
Avenue, Suite 110, Wilsonville, OR 97070-9816 

Site location:  1310 & 1340 N. Pacific Highway; Tax Lots 051W08DC00100 & 051W08DB02800 
 

Summary:  First, the Woodburn Planning Commission held a public hearing on October 10, 2019 and 
unanimously approved Design Review, Property Line Adjustment, and Variance consolidated 
applications package (Type III) with the conditions recommended by staff through the staff report 
published October 3. 

Second, the City Council called up the Commission decision on October 28, 2019 pursuant to Woodburn 
Development Ordinance (WDO) 4.02.02 and held a de novo public hearing on November 12, 2019 that 
resulted in the Council tentatively approving the project per the revised site and landscape plans 
(Attachment 106A) and strikethrough-and-underlined Conditions V3-PR and V7-AW (102B) submitted by 
the applicant the date of the hearing.  Staff returned to Council on December 9, 2019 with this final 
decision document for the mayor’s signature.  Supplemental analyses and findings are contained in this 
Final Decision.  

The request was for site development of 6.67 acres into 204 apartments across ten buildings A-H, J, & K.  
The buildings are three-story walk-ups, conventional for new construction.  The complex includes also a 
club house / leasing office, barbeque (BBQ) pit, play area, maintenance shed, four recycling and trash 
enclosures, and “Jacobsen path” – a public 8-foot wide concrete bicycle/pedestrian path along where 
Jacobsen Road was vacated long ago, which is along the western half of the south property line and 
connecting the on-site walkway system with the highway sidewalk.   

The subject property is in the Commercial General (CG) zoning district. 

Section references are to the Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO). 

 

287

mailto:fangelo@angeloplanning.com
mailto:cdoxsee@angeloplanning.com
file://WFS/Department/Community%20Development/Community%20Development/Planning/2019/Conditional%20Use/CU%202019-05%20DR07%20EXCP03%20V05%20-%201800%20W%20Hayes%20St%20Nellie%20Muir%20ES/Final%20decision/1550%20Mt.%20Hood%20Ave
https://marioncounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=b41e1f1b340a448682a2cc47fff41b31&find=051W08DC00100
https://marioncounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=b41e1f1b340a448682a2cc47fff41b31&find=051W08DB02800
https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo


 

Page 2 of 17 

City Council Decisions on Applications: 

• Design Review 2019-03 – This application is granted as modified by the applicant when it was 
 submitted to the City Council.  The application is subject to applicable conditions of approval 
 and justified and explained by findings contained in this Final Decision.   

• Property Line Adjustment 2019-03 - This application is granted as modified by the applicant 
 when it was submitted to the City Council.  The application is subject to applicable conditions of 
 approval and justified and explained by findings contained in this Final Decision.    

• Variance Requests 2019-02 – The variance requests are decided as follows: 

 Request #1.   Street access minimum number (WDO 3.01.05C) - Granted. 

  Request #2.   Driveway minimum number (WDO 3.04.03A.2.b) - Granted. 

 Request #3.   Parking ratio minimum (WDO Table 3.05A) – Granted. 

 Request #4.   Compact parking percentage maximum (WDO 3.05.03C) – Granted. 

 Request #5.   Drive aisle width minimum (WDO Table 3.05C) – Granted.  

       Request #6.   Parking area curb height minimum (WDO 3.06.021) – Granted. 

 Request #7.   Architectural Wall (WDO Table 3.06D & 3.06.06) – Denied.   

This decisions on these variance requests are subject to applicable conditions of approval and justified 
and explained by findings contained in this Final Decision.   

Conditions of Approval: 

General 

G1.  Prior to building permit application, the applicant shall submit revised site plans meeting the 
conditions of approval to the Planning Division and obtain Division approval. 

G2.  The applicant or successor shall develop the property in substantial conformance with the final plans 
submitted and approved with these applications, except as modified by these conditions of approval.  
Were the applicant to revise plans other than to meet conditions of approval or meet building code, even 
if Planning Division staff does not notice and signs off on building permit issuance, Division staff retains 
the right to obtain restoration of improvements as shown on an earlier land use review plan set in service 
of substantial conformance. 

G3. References: The descriptions below define certain words, phrases, and assumptions in the context of 
the conditions of approval: 

• “Access way” means an on-site walkway paved at least eight (8) feet wide to serve as a 
bicycle/pedestrian path to and from sidewalk – or to and from an off-street public 
bicycle/pedestrian path – and that is ADA-compliant. 

• “ADA” refers to the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 
• “Adjusted Parcel No. 1” is the resulting west half of the subject property and fronts the highway. 
• “Adjusted Parcel No. 2” is the resulting east half of the subject property. 
• “Director” refers to the Community Development Director. 
• “Highway” refers to N. Pacific Highway (U.S. 99E). 

288



 

Page 3 of 17 

• “Jacobsen path” refers to an off-street public bicycle/pedestrian path that is poured concrete at 
least eight (8) feet wide and ADA-compliant and extends between the sidewalk and the east 
north-south walkway within Street Corridor “K”, a distance of at least six hundred and twenty 
(620) feet, and refers also to a corollary public easement that is (a) at least twelve (12) feet wide 
that has the path within its boundaries, (b) extends to the east line of adjusted Parcel No. 2 
adjacent to Tax Lot 051W08DD02600 (1217 Greenview Drive), and (c) is to the satisfaction of the 
Director.  (The path corridor overlaps long-vacated Jacobsen Road, and the name is an informal 
interim name for unique and easy reference.)  Where the path crosses the asphalt south cross 
access drive aisle, (a) the concrete shall continue, and (b) the crossing shall be a speed table / 
raised crossing a minimum four (4) inches above the asphalt grade. 

• “PLA” means property line adjustment. 
• “PUE” means public utility easement. 
• “ROW” means right-of-way. 
• “Street Corridor ‘G’” refers to the southeast-northwest future local street corridor seventy (70) 

feet in width that assumes a ROW of sixty (60) feet plus two 5-foot PUEs.  The corridor aligns with 
the sixty foot width of Tax Lot 051W08DA06200 (1297 Greenview Drive). 

• “Street Corridor ‘K’” refers to the north-south future local street corridor seventy (70) feet in 
width that assumes a ROW of sixty (60) feet plus two 5-foot PUEs.  The corridor east edge aligns 
near the southeast corner of Tax Lot 051W08DB02600 (1400 N. Pacific Highway). 

• “WDO” refers to the Woodburn Development Ordinance. 
 

G4.  Due date:  Unless a condition specifies otherwise, conditions including those relating to ROW and 
easement dedications and construction of frontage/public/street improvements are due by building 
permit issuance. 

G5.  Tree preservation:  Protection during construction: 

The applicant shall protect the preserved trees pursuant similar to City of Portland Title 11.60.030, 
specifically either the subsections set of C.1.a.(1), (3) and C.1.b., e., & f. (clear and objective) and D.; 
or, the subsections set of C.2.a., b., & d.-f. (arborist’s discretion) and D. as modified below and shall 
do so between Design Review approval and issuance of certificate of occupancy (C of O): 

C.  Protection methods. The Tree Plan shall show that the contractor adequately protects trees to be 
preserved during construction using one of the methods described below: 

1.  Clear & Objective Path. 

a.  A root protection zone is established as follows: 

(1) For trees on the development site - a minimum of 1 foot radius (measured horizontally 
away from the face of the tree trunk) for each inch of tree diameter (see Figure 80-2) 

  

289

https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo
https://www.portlandoregon.gov/citycode/article/636286


 

Page 4 of 17 

 

Figure 80-2 

Root Protection Zone 

  

  

 

(3)  Existing encroachments into the root protection zone, including structures, paved 
surfaces and utilities, may remain. New encroachments into the root protection zone are 
allowed provided: 

(a)  the area of all new encroachments is less than 25 percent of the remaining root 
protection zone area when existing encroachments are subtracted; and 

(b)  no new encroachment is closer than 1/2 the required radius distance (see Figure 60-
1); 

  

290



 

Page 5 of 17 

 

Figure 60-1 

Permissible RPZ Encroachments 

    

 

b.  Protection fencing 

(1)  Protection fencing consisting of a minimum 6-foot high metal chain link construction 
fence, secured with 8-foot metal posts shall be established at the edge of the root 
protection zone and permissible encroachment area on the development site. Existing 
structures and/or existing secured fencing at least 3½ feet tall can serve as the required 
protective fencing. 

(2)  When a root protection zone extends beyond the development site, protection fencing 
is not required to extend beyond the development site. Existing structures and/or existing 
secured fencing at least 3½ feet tall can serve as the required protective fencing. 

e.  The following is prohibited within the root protection zone of each tree or outside the limits 
of the development impact area: ground disturbance or construction activity including vehicle 

291



 

Page 6 of 17 

or equipment access (but excluding access on existing streets or driveways), storage of 
equipment or materials including soil, temporary or permanent stockpiling, proposed buildings, 
impervious surfaces, underground utilities, excavation or fill, trenching or other work activities; 
and 

f.  The fence shall be installed before any ground disturbing activities including clearing and 
grading, or construction starts; and shall remain in place until final inspection by Planning 
Division staff. 

2.  Arborist’s Discretion. When the prescriptive path is not practicable, the applicant may propose 
alternative measures to modify the clear and objective root protection zone (RPZ), provided the 
following standards are met: 

a.  The alternative RPZ is prepared by an arborist who has visited the site and examined the 
specific tree’s size, location, and extent of root cover, evaluated the tree’s tolerance to 
construction impact based on its species and health, identified any past impacts that have 
occurred within the root zone, and forwarded a report through the developer to Planning 
Division staff; 

b.  The arborist has prepared a plan providing the rationale used to demonstrate that the 
alternate method provides an adequate level of protection based on the findings from the site 
visit described above; 

d.  If the alternative methods require the arborist be on site during construction activity, the 
applicant shall submit a copy of the contract for those services prior to permit issuance and a 
final report from the arborist documenting the inspections and verifying the viability of the 
tree(s) prior to final inspection by the Planning Division; 

e.  If the alternative tree protection method involves alternative construction techniques, an 
explanation of the techniques and materials used shall be submitted; 

f.  The arborist shall sign the tree preservation and protection plan and include contact 
information. 

D.  Changes to tree protection. Changes to the tree protection measures during the course of the 
development may be approved as a revision to a permit provided that the change is not the result of an 
unauthorized encroachment into a root protection zone (RPZ), and the applicant demonstrates that the 
tree protection standards of this Section continue to be met. When an unauthorized encroachment has 
occurred, the City may pursue an enforcement action or other remedy. 

 

G6-PW.  Public Works:  Follow the appended "Public Works Comments September 30, 2019" (Attachment 
102A). 

 

  

292



 

Page 7 of 17 

Design Review 2019-03 

D1.  ROW:  To meet WDO Figure 3.01B, as part of PLA recordation and regarding N. Pacific Highway (U.S. 
99E) the applicant shall dedicate six (6) feet of ROW and along the ROW a PUE of ten (10) feet. 

D2.  Street corridors:  To meet WDO 3.01, as part of PLA recordation and regarding Street Corridors “G” 
& “K”, the applicant shall for each dedicate either (a) sixty (60) feet of ROW and along each side a PUE of 
five (5) feet or (b) a PUE of seventy (70) feet. 

D3.  Jacobsen path:  To meet WDO 3.01, the applicant shall: 

a. Easement:  As part of PLA recordation and regarding said path, dedicate a PUE of at least twelve 
(12) feet in width and extending from the highway newly dedicated ROW to the rear east property 
line of adjusted Parcel No. 2. adjacent to Tax Lot 051W08DD02600 (1217 Greenview Drive); and 

b. Improvement:  Improve said path per Condition G3.  Also, if the path is concrete, the concrete 
shall continue where the path crosses the asphalt south cross access drive aisle. 

 

D4.  Cross access:  To meet WDO 3.04.03B, the applicant shall: 

a. Extend from the driveway a drive aisle each to the north and south property lines of adjusted 
Parcel No. 1 adjacent to Tax Lots 051W08DB02700 (1390 N. Pacific Highway) and 
051W08DC00300 (1220 N. Pacific Highway). 

b. To meet WDO 3.04.03B.1 & 3, establish a public access easement and private maintenance 
agreement to the satisfaction of the Director and revocable only with the concurrence of the 
Director. 

c. The easement width shall be minimum twenty (20) feet and centered on the drive aisle centerline. 
 

D5.  Parking stall double striping:  To meet WDO 3.05.02K, the applicant shall delineate parking stalls with 
double parallel lines pursuant to Figure 3.05C and stripe them as such in the field prior to building permit 
final inspection. 

D6.  Bicycle parking near main entrance:  To meet WDO 3.05.03E, prior to building permit final inspection 
the applicant shall provide bicycle parking within fifty (50) feet of a main entrance.  In the context of a 
new construction apartment complex with conventional three-story buildings with open stairwells, each 
apartment building has two main entrances as follows:   

a. In Buildings A & C-G there are four points where a building main wall plane intersects the walkway 
serving building ground floor entrances and the stairwell to upper floor entrances; 

b. In Buildings B, H, & J there are two such points; 
c. Each building has either (a) two walkways with two points each totaling the four or (b) one 

walkway with two points total; and so 
d. The condition shall apply to two points minimum for each of Buildings A & C-G and one point 

minimum for Buildings B, H, & J and apply to one point minimum per walkway. 
  

293



 

Page 8 of 17 

Property Line Adjustment 2019-03 

PLA-1.  Street access:  To meet WDO 3.04.01A, landlocked adjusted Parcel No. 2 shall have access to the 
highway across adjusted Parcel No. 1 by means of a public access easement and private maintenance 
agreement to the satisfaction of the Director, and revocable only with the concurrence of the Director. 

PLA-2PW.  Public Works:  Sewer access:  Follow the appended "Public Works Comments September 30, 
2019" (Attachment 102A), Comment Other 1. 

PLA-3.  Recording:  To meet WDO 5.01.08B.5., upon City approval of the subject property line adjustment 
(PLA), the applicant shall revise the drawing or drawings as needed and record the re-plat with Marion 
County.  The expiration date is per WDO 4.02.04B.  Subsection 2. that refers to "the activity approved in 
the decision has commenced" means recordation of the subject PLA, and to this end the applicant shall 
apply to Marion County for recordation by April 10, 2020 and complete recordation by October 9, 2020. 

 

Variance 2019-02 

V1-SA.  Street access minimum number (WDO 3.01.05C):  The proposal is exempt from WDO 3.01.05C, 
and the applicant shall: 

a. Reserve Street Corridors “G” and “K” per Conditions G3 & D2; and 
b. Construct the public cross access drive aisles and dedicate corollary easements accordingly per 

Condition D4. 
 

V2-DN.  Driveway minimum number (WDO 3.04.03A.2.b): 

a. The proposal is exempt from WDO 3.04.03A.2.b., and the applicant shall: 
b. Reserve Street Corridors “G” and “K” per Condition G3 & D2; and 
c. Construct the public cross access drive aisles and dedicate corollary easements accordingly per 

Condition D4. 
 

V3-PR.  Off-street parking ratio minimum WDO (Table 3.05A): 

a. Dwelling ratio:  The minimum ratio shall be by unit type as follows: 
i. For each studio dwelling, 1.0 stall; 

ii. For each one-bedroom, 1.851.80 stalls; 
iii. For each two-bedroom, 1.851.80 stalls; and 
iv. For each three or more bedroom unit type, 2.0. 

b. Clubhouse parking:  Staff interprets WDO Table 3.05A row 37 such that a “community club 
building” (clubhouse) requires its own parking only for stand-alone clubhouses or in the context 
of residential subdivisions, and that apartment complex so-called clubhouses are not subject to 
the community club building parking ratio. 

c. Compact parking:  At least twenty percent (20%) of the minimum amount of stalls shall be 
compact. 

d. Bicycle parking amount and distribution:  The applicant shall provide a minimum number of 
bicycle parking stalls as follows: 

 

294



 

Page 9 of 17 

i. At least one (1) per dwelling in each dwelling in the outdoor closet of the balcony or patio 
in which the applicant shall install a wall-mounted folding or retractable hook designed 
for the hanging of a bicycle;  

ii. At least one (1) stall at the base of each building stairwell, with each of these locations 
having a bicycle parking sign with minimum face dimensions of (1) foot wide by one-and-
a-half (1½) feet high; 

iii. At least four (4) stalls within fifty (50) feet of the newly dedicated highway ROW; 
iv. At least four (4) stalls within fifty (50) feet of the Jacobsen path easement. 
v. At least eight (8) among the clubhouse / leasing office, play area, and barbeque (BBQ) 

area. 
vi. At least two (2) stalls outside and near each apartment building spaced to conform to the 

50-foot distance provision of WDO 3.05.03E as applied through Condition D6. 
vii. In no case shall the total number of bicycle parking stalls equal fewer than 1.1 per 

dwelling, and in no case shall the minimum coverage/sheltering from precipitation of 
bicycle parking be for fewer than seventeen (17) stalls. 

e. Bicycle standards:  Stalls shall conform to City of Portland Title 33, Chapter 33.266.220C (amended 
5/24/2018), except that the applicant may ignore subsections C6, C7, & C5c, and that C4b does 
not apply to the outdoor storage closets for which the minimum stall depth from wall instead 
shall be four (4) feet minimum.  Vertical clearance instead shall be eight (8) feet or, where a stall 
is under stairs, six (6) feet. 

f. Sidewalk:  The highway sidewalk shall remain eight (8) feet wide as proposed (instead of 6 feet 
typical). 

g. Access way, highway:  At least one access way shall remain as proposed that extends onto the site 
at least three hundred (300) feet from the sidewalk. 

h. Access way, Jacobsen path:  At least one access way shall remain as proposed that extends onto 
the site at least one hundred and seventy (170) feet from the Jacobsen path. 

i. Jacobsen path: 
a. Improvement:  The applicant shall construct the proposed Jacobsen path and provide a 

public easement per Condition G3 & D3a.   
b. Long-range planning:  Until July 1, 2030, if any of the following were to occur, then the 

applicant shall construct or pay the City a fee in-lieu to construct extension of the path to 
either the east property line or a point no farther west than one hundred and seventy-five 
(175) feet west of the southeast corner of adjusted Parcel No. 2.: 

i. The applicant or any successors and assigns apply to the City for a Type III or IV 
planning / land use / zoning review. 

ii. For the neighboring property to the south, Tax Lot 051W08DC00300 (1220 N. 
Pacific Highway), an applicant A obtains a Type III or IV planning / land use / zoning 
approval to partially or wholly redevelop that property.  In this scenario, the 
applicant or any successors and assigns need not construct or pay the City a fee in-
lieu if (a) the City were to condition approval such that applicant A would be the 
one to construct or pay the City and (b) if the applicant or any successors and 
assigns grant permission to an applicant A to come onto adjusted Parcel No. 2 and 
construct.  Also in this scenario, the applicant or any successors and assigns shall 
construct or pay the City for half of the path if the City were to condition approval 
such that the path would straddle the property line and applicant A would construct 
the south half side of the path or pay the City a fee in-lieu towards construction of 
the south half side. 
 

295

https://www.portlandoregon.gov/bps/31612
https://www.portlandoregon.gov/bps/article/53320#page=25


 

Page 10 of 17 

iii. A fee in-lieu shall be at least 200% of a licensed civil engineer’s cost estimate. 
c. The applicant shall install a permanent all-weather pole sign at the Jacobsen path 

temporary east terminus that states in lettering two (2) inches high minimum: “This Public 
Path is Planned for Future Extension.”  The sign face shall be no lower than 3½ ft above 
grade and no higher than 5 ft and of minimum dimensions of one-and-a-half (1½) feet by 
(1) foot.  This is due prior to building permit final inspection. 

j. Parking demand management:  The applicant or any successors and assigns, if recouping the costs 
of parking, shall instead of doing so from multi-family rent do so by charging a separate, listed, 
and uniform parking fee and only to leaseholders whose households choose to park their vehicles 
on site. Guest and visitor vehicles and – if any – such stalls shall be excluded from such fee.  A 
uniform parking fee means not charging tiered fees for garage stalls, carport stalls, reserved stalls, 
open air stalls, standard size stalls, or compact stalls premised on perception of some stalls being 
more desirable and valuable than others.  It also means that the fee amount must be uniform – 
either as a rate or an absolute value – for all leaseholders subject to the parking fee, but does not 
mean that the fee must be fixed indefinitely.  Documentation of the uniform parking fee is due by 
building permit final inspection. 

k. Trial period:  Until July 1, 2021, there shall be a trial period in which the Director may receive 
evidence of a chronic parking overflow problem and choose to investigate, review, and act upon 
it, including by obtaining the latest documentation of the uniform parking fee.  This condition 
authorizes the Director to require that the applicant or any successors and assigns apply for and 
receive approval of a solution to the satisfaction of the Director.  The review shall default to a 
Type II process, but the Director may instead elevation the review to Type III to obtain Planning 
Commission review and decision.  The Director may condition that the applicant or any successors 
and assigns fulfill the offer made through the revised narrative (submitted September 4, 2019, p. 
13) to contact a car share company and allow a parking space or two to be allocated such a 
company car or cars for tenant use.  (This condition does not subvert WDO 4.02.07 Modification 
of Conditions.) 

 

V4-CP.  Compact parking (WDO 3.05.03C): 

a. Percentage:  The compact parking maximum as a percentage of the required minimum amount 
of parking shall be sixty percent (60%; instead of 20% typical) and hundred percent (100%) of any 
amount in excess of the minimum required. 

b. Striping:  Each stall shall be striped “COMPACT ONLY” in lettering one (1) foot high minimum. 
c. Wheel stops:  Where used, wheel stops shall be four (4) inches high maximum. 

 

V5-DA. Drive aisle (WDO Table 3.05C):   

a. The minimum drive aisle widths shall be per the table below (instead of 24 feet typical): 
Parking Context Minimum Drive Aisle Width (feet) 

One-way Travel Two-way Travel 
Single Lane Paired Lanes 

Standard or ADA-
compliant stalls 

18 10 per lane; 20 total 20 

Compact stalls 16 9 per lane; 18 total 20 
No adjacent stalls 10 9 per lane; 18 total 20 

b. The condition applies up to newly dedicated ROW so as not to interfere with the driveway 

296



 

Page 11 of 17 

minimum width provisions of WDO Table 3.04A. 
c.    Lighting: 

i. Full cut-off:  Exterior lighting fixtures shall be full cut-off or fully shielded models. 
ii. Heights:   

(a) Wall:  Exterior wall-mounted fixtures shall be no higher than ten (10) feet above 
walkway finished grade.  (This height limit is not applicable to emergency egress 
lighting and permanent wall signs allowed through WDO 3.10 were they to have 
interior illumination.) 

(b) Parking pole:  Exterior pole-mounted fixtures within four (4) feet of or in parking, 
loading, and vehicular circulation areas shall be no higher than fourteen-and-a-half 
(14½) feet above vehicular finished grade. 

(c) Other pole:  Remaining exterior pole-mounted fixtures, if any, shall be no higher 
than twelve (12) feet above grade. 

 

V6-CH.  Curb dimensions (WDO 3.06.02I):  Curb or curbing that delineates on-site walkways and 
landscaped, parking, and vehicular circulation areas shall have a minimum height and width each of four 
(4) inches (instead of 6 inches typical). 

V7-AW.  Architectural Wall (WDO Table 3.06D & 3.06.06):  No Commission conditions remain because 
the Council denied the wall variance request. 

a. The east rear property line subject to the Architectural Wall provisions of Table 3.06D and 
3.06.06 is exempt from those provisions..   

b. Landscaping: 
i. The applicant shall landscaped the east rear setback of six (6) feet to the minimum 

planting density of WDO Table 3.06A, row “Buffer yards”. 
ii. The landscaping shall include evergreen shrubbery planted at the large category 

minimum size per WDO Table 3.06B. 
iii. The applicant shall include within the landscaping of the east rear setback of ten (10) 

feet at least seven (7) trees of which at least three (3) shall be large category large per 
WDO Table 3.06B. 

c. Lighting: 
i. Full cut-off:  Exterior lighting fixtures shall be full cut-off or fully shielded models. 

ii. Heights:   
(a) Wall:  Exterior wall-mounted fixtures shall be no higher than ten (10) feet above 

walkway finished grade.  (This height limit is not applicable to emergency egress 
lighting and permanent wall signs allowed through WDO 3.10 were they to have 
interior illumination.) 

(b) Parking pole:  Exterior pole-mounted fixtures within four (4) feet of or in parking, 
loading, and vehicular circulation areas shall be no higher than fourteen-and-a-half 
(14½) feet above vehicular finished grade. 

(c) Other pole:  Remaining exterior pole-mounted fixtures, if any, shall be no higher 
than twelve (12) feet above grade. 

d. Railings/fence:  The following applies to the Building C four patios closest to the east rear 
property line:  To lessen encroachment of persons and outdoor storage into the rear setback, 
the outermost edges of the patio concrete slabs shall have either metal railings or cedar fencing 
at least three (3) feet high but no more than five (5) feet high. 

297



 

Page 12 of 17 

 

Expiration:  Per Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) 4.02.04B., a final decision expires within 
three years of the date of the final decision unless: 

1. A building permit to exercise the right granted by the decision has been issued; 
2. The activity approved in the decision has commenced; or 
3. A time extension, Section 4.02.05, has been approved. 

  

298



 

Page 13 of 17 

Notes to the Applicant:  The following are not planning / land use / zoning conditions of approval, but 
are notes for the applicant to be aware of and follow:  
 

1. Records:  Staff recommends that the applicant retain a copy of the subject approval. 

2. Fences, fencing, & free-standing walls:  The approval excludes any fences, fencing, & free-standing 
walls, which are subject to WDO 2.06 and the permit process of 5.01.03. 

3. Signage:  The approval excludes any signage, which is subject to WDO 3.10 and the permit process of 
5.01.10. 

4. PLA Time Limit:  WDO 4.02.04B. specifies that, “A final decision on any application shall expire within 
three years of the date of the final decision unless:  1. a building permit to exercise the right granted 
by the decision has been issued; 2. the activity approved in the decision has commenced; or 3. a time 
extension, Section 4.02.05, has been approved.  Because unrecorded re-plats lingering indefinitely 
have burdened staff, a condition sets sooner time limits for subsection 2. to begin and finish 
recordation. 

5. PLA Mylar signature:  The Community Development Director is the authority that signs plat Mylars 
and not any of the mayor, City Administrator, Public Works Director, or City Engineer.  Only one City 
signature title block is necessary. 

6. PLA Plat Tracker:  Marion County maintains a plat tracking tool at 
<http://apps.co.marion.or.us/plattracker/>.  Use it to check on the status of a recordation request 
to the County.  City staff does not track County plat recordation. 
 

7. Other Agencies:  The applicant, not the City, is responsible for obtaining permits from any county, 
state and/or federal agencies, which may require approval or permit, and must obtain all applicable 
City and County permits for work prior to the start of work and that the work meets the satisfaction 
of the permit-issuing jurisdiction.  The Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) might require 
highway access, storm drainage, and other right-of-way (ROW) permits.  All work within the public 
ROW or easements within City jurisdiction must conform to plans approved by the Public Works 
Department and must comply with a Public Works Right-of-Way permit issued by said department.  
Marion County plumbing permits must be issued for all waterline, sanitary sewer, and storm sewer 
work installed beyond the Public Right-of-Way, on private property. 

8. Inspection:  The applicant shall construct, install, or plant all improvements, including landscaping, 
prior to City staff verification.  Contact Planning Division staff at least three (3) City business days prior 
to a desired date of planning and zoning inspection of site improvements.  This is required and 
separate from and in addition to the usual building code and fire and life safety inspections.  Note that 
Planning staff are not primarily inspectors, do not have the nearly immediate availability of building 
inspectors, and are not bound by any building inspector’s schedule or general contractor convenience. 

9. Stormwater management:  The storm sewer system and any required on-site detention for the 
development must comply with the City Storm Water Management Plan, Public Works storm water 
practices and the Storm Drainage Master Plan. 

299

http://apps.co.marion.or.us/plattracker/


 

Page 14 of 17 

10. Public Works Review:  Staff performs final review of the civil plans during the building permit stage.  
Public infrastructure must be constructed in accordance with plans approved by the City, as well as 
current Public Works construction specifications, Standard Drawings, Standard Details, and General 
Conditions. 

11. ROW:   

a. Dedication:  The Public Works Department Engineering Division has document templates for 
ROW and easement dedications that applicants are to use. 

ROW – and public utility easement (PUE) – dedications are due prior to building permit issuance 
per Public Works policy. 

b. Work:  All work within the public ROWs or easements within City jurisdiction must require plan 
approval and permit issuance from the Public Works Department. All public improvements 
construction work must be performed in accordance with the plans stamped “approved” by the 
City, and comply with the City’s Standard Specifications and Standard drawings. 

12. Franchises:  The applicant provides for the installation of all franchised utilities and any required 
easements. 

13. Water:  All water mains and appurtenances must comply with Public Works, Building Division, and 
Woodburn Fire District requirements.  Existing water services lines that are not going to be use with 
this new development must be abandoned at the main line.  The City performs required abandonment 
of existing water facilities at the water main with payment by the property owner.  All taps to existing 
water mains must be done by a “Hot Tap” method and by approved City of Woodburn Contractors.  
The applicant shall install the proper type of backflow preventer for all domestic, lawn irrigation and 
fire sprinkler services.  The backflow devices and meters shall be located near the city water main 
within an easement, unless approved otherwise by Public Works. Contact Byron Brooks, City of 
Woodburn Water Superintendent, for proper type and installation requirements of the backflow 
device at (503) 982-5380. 

14. Grease Interceptor/Trap:  If applicable, a grease trap would need to be installed on the sanitary 
service, either as a central unit or in the communal kitchen/food preparation area.  Contact Marion 
County Plumbing Department for permit and installation requirements, (503) 588-5147. 

15. Fire:  Fire protection requirements must comply with the Woodburn Fire District standards and 
requirements.  Place fire hydrants within the public ROW or public utility easement and construct 
them in accordance with Public Works Department requirements, specifications, standards, and 
permit requirements.  Fire protection access, fire hydrant locations and fire protection issues must 
comply with current fire codes and Woodburn Fire District standards.  See City of Woodburn Standard 
Detail No. 5070-2 Fire Vault.  The fire vault must be placed within the public right-of-way or public 
utility easement. 

16. SDCs:  The developer pays System Development Charges prior to building permit issuance.  Public 
Works Department staff will determine the water, sewer, storm and parks SDCs after the developer 
provides a complete Public Works Commercial/Industrial Development information sheet. 

  

300

http://www.ci.woodburn.or.us/?q=pw_standard


 

Page 15 of 17 

Council Call-up Supplemental Analyses & Findings for VAR 2019-02 [Request 7:  Architectural Wall]: 

The following supplements the original analyses and findings for the consolidated applications package 
by presenting analyses and findings for the City Council denial on November 12, 2019 of the 
Architectural Wall variance request.  It also replaces in particular the staff findings in the Planning 
Commission staff report Attachment 102 that were in support of the wall variance request. 

The decision is premised on the request failing to meet one of the two variance criteria, that strict 
adherence to the standards of this ordinance remains possible and would not impose an excessive 
burden on the property owner (WDO 5.03.12B.1) based on a few factors. 

Among the factors in WDO 5.03.12C, the Council found that granting the variance would be materially 
injurious to adjacent properties, specifically the six house lots along the west side of Greenview Drive, 
because of visual and noise factors (C.2.a), the decision is based in part on public testimony and 
photorealistic renderings evidence, indicating that apartment upper-floor balconies would eliminate 
house rear yards privacy and testimony alleging occupation of balconies and presence of children as 
sources of noise.  The Council found that conventional contemporary three-story apartment buildings 
close to the east rear property line conflict with the six one-story houses along the west side of 
Greenview Drive, thus justifying the administration of the wall provisions in WDO Table 3.06D and 
3.06.06.  

Accordingly, because the Council denial made moot the applicant’s revisions to Condition V7-AW, staff 
struck most of condition.  Staff relocated V7-AWc (exterior lighting fixture height maximums) to 
Condition V5-DA. 

 

Appeals:  Per WDO 4.01.11E., the decision is final unless appealed pursuant to Oregon Revised Statutes 
(ORS), state administrative rules, and WDO 4.02.01.  The appeal due date to the Oregon Land Use Board 
of Appeals (LUBA) is three weeks (21 days) from the final decision date per Oregon Revised Statutes 
(ORS) 197.830(9) and Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 661-010-0015.  A valid appeal must meet state 
requirements. 

A copy of the decision is available for inspection at no cost, and the City would provide a copy at 
reasonable cost at the Community Development Department, City Hall, 270 Montgomery Street, 
Woodburn, OR 97071.  For questions or additional information, contact Vicki Spitznogle, Administrative 
Assistant, at (503) 982-5246 or vicki.spitznogle@ci.woodburn.or.us. 

  

301

http://www.ci.woodburn.or.us/sites/default/files/11-10%20revised%20web%20Ordinance%20Bookcopywmaster_36.pdf#page=746
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/displayDivisionRules.action?selectedDivision=3096


 

Page 16 of 17 

Attachments:   

• Planning Commission Oct. 10, 2019 Staff Report Attachment 101. Marked Tax Maps (2 sheets) 
• 102A. Public Works Comments September 30, 2019 (2 pages) 
• 102B. Applicant’s testimony Nov. 12, 2019 (2 pages) 
• 104. Highway 99E Corridor Plan excerpted (2012; 9 pages) 
• 105. Transportation System Plan (TSP) Figure 7-1 (2005) 
• 106. Site plans (submitted Sept. 4, 2019; abridged from 18 to 17 sheets) 
• 106A.  Revised site and landscape plans Nov. 12 2019 (2 sheets) 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Colin Cortes, AICP, CNU-A 

Senior Planner 

 

Affirmed, 

 

________________________________   December 9, 2019 

Eric Swenson, Mayor   

 

ES/cmc 

cc: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director 

Dago Garcia, P.E., City Engineer 

Ted Cuno, Building Official 

Jason Space, GIS Technician 

Robert Leeb, Principal in Charge, Leeb Architects (applicant) 

Doug Hamilton, Leeb Architects (project manager) 

Eugene Labunsky, West Coast Real Estate Holdings (landowner) 

Testifiers (13 in order of street address): 

David Rosales (1160 Greenview Dr) 

Lupita Peña-Baltazar (1165 Greenview Dr) 

302



 

Page 17 of 17 

Ricardo Vazquez Rodriguez (1189 Greenview Dr) 

Marlene Hernandez (1199 Greenview Dr) 

Craig Roushausen & Sandra Camacho-Otero (1235 Greenview Dr) 

Ida Allen (1258 Greenview Dr) 

Ulf & Kim Bjorkland (1281 Greenview Dr) 

Alex, Fred, & Filanida Muraviov (1297 Greenview Dr) 

Merle Stutzman (11623 Broadacres Rd NE, Hubbard, OR 97032) 

Marion County Assessor’s Office 

303

http://www.co.marion.or.us/AO/Pages/default.aspx


^̂

1

1

Ð

Ð

Ð

3421-0193

220.00
316.51

105.04
177.53 (177) 77.05

137.74ACCESS1400A1
NW COREASEMENT N89 55W 347.3010011300 V43-3511100 713-702

'GROUND LEASE' 3415-0418 PARCEL 2 PAR. 2 1945-0119701.07 AC 78.190.21 AC

17
5.

00

89.0212
3.

15

104.8012
1.

22

12
1.

18

P.P.  2000 -41
N59 40 30W

12
3.

3 
(1

23
.1

5)

900100020
2.

43

36
.90

300PAR. 1
0.29 AC 70176.97 (177) 77.0527

3.
06

67.85
S89 50 50E

14
0.

24
 (1

40
.11

)

17
4.

74

215.42

10

701200

41
0.

00

2.93 AC70
.6

3

1400 S3
3 

45
 0

5W
  1

53
.1

3

PARCEL 1 9 703.04 AC 70

19
45

-0
11

9

67
.4

0P.P.  91 -66

708 CS 34642

70LENNER 'S
17

3.
94

430.00

65
.4

4

N3
0 

20
 0

0E
   

  3
83

.0
0

NOTE: ASSESSED WITH TAX LOT

7071501 500 ON MAP 05 1W 08DA300429.95PARCEL 2 70

1.22 AC400.19 3 65
.6

7

30.56 70400 59.14

6

70

705

1500

70

PARCEL 2

59
.10

25.78

704

13
6.

80

19
45

-0
11

9

70

49
.2

9

P.P.
97 -106

25
.9

3

703

95
6-

00
57

85
.33

S88 13 52W  269.71300 702 15.2370 8.00 S89 49W  16.164 CH (1066.82)17000.94 AC 19
45

-0
03

8

30070 90
1-

01
49

49
.76

300 1

70 9.68 AC
27.62

27
.48

70

NOTE - REMAINDER OF THIS

83
.54

1800
PARCEL ON MAP 05 1W 08DA

300 9

70

91
5-

04
49

53
.8

5

12.45 16.164 CH  (1066.82)8 S89 40E 486.31

132.5
HIGHWAY

70 2600
1901 N63 20W 308.20

0.43 AC
7 70 2700

70

21
3.

79

3002

22
6.

24

97
2-

04
12

1900

700.53 AC
6

70

22000.95 AC 705

70 SUB.

N3
1 

50
E 

 7
.3

1 
CH

96
5-

00
69

704

70

2300

25
6.

55

296 703

N3
1 

50
E 

 3
10

.0
0

25
6.

55

300 702

70

2400 S89 40E 360.000.95 AC 8.082 CH (533.412)70

300 1 1010.8270 2800

17
01

S59 40 30E 300

17
0.

0

3 70

S89 40E 1010.61

70

2

93
1-

03
65

45

44

45

90

AVENUE

60

VAN LIEU CT 60

60

60

STREET

60

JAMES ST.

60

95 90 MT HOOD AVE

50 (MR 57)

SE
R

VI
C

E 
  D

R

44'

MT JEFFERSON AVE 44'

60

52'

PA
CI

FI
C 

   
HI

GHW
AY

   
 N

o.
99

E

44'

ALEXANDRA AVE
84

60

50

GRE
EN

VI
EW

GRE
EN

VI
EW

DR
IV

E

CTR SEC
1/16 COR

1/16 COR

1/16 COR

103 03 93 5

103 03 03 5

103 03 93 5

103 03 93 5

103 03 03 5

103 03 93 5

103 03 93 5

1502
PARCEL 1
0.67 AC

4.44 AC

P.P.

2019 -010

35.00
40

9.
87

55
8.

16

400.17
30.60

316.09

30
.0

0

121.00

121.00

24
3.

00

24
3.

00

88
.2

3

645.18

500

SEE MAP
051W08CD

SEE MAP
051W08DD

SEE MAP
051W08DC

SEE MAP
051W08A

SEE MAP
051W08B

SEE MAP
051W08DA

SEE MAP
051W08CA

MARION COUNTY, OREGON
NW1/4 SE1/4 SEC8 T5S R1W W.M.

WOODBURNWOODBURN
05 1W 08DB05 1W 08DB

SCALE   1" = 100'

FOR ADDITIONAL MAPS VISIT OUR WEBSITE AT
www.co.marion.or.us

DISCLAIMER:  THIS MAP WAS PREPARED
FOR ASSESSMENT PURPOSES ONLY

05 1W 08DB05 1W 08DB
WOODBURNWOODBURN

05 1W 08DB05 1W 08DB

05 1W 08DB05 1W 08DB

LEGEND
LINE TYPES

CORNER TYPES

Section Corner<Ò
1516

21 22

Waterline - Non Bndry

Railroad Centerline

Historical Boundary
Easement

Taxcode Line
Map Boundary

Road Right-of-Way
Taxlot Boundary

Railroad Right-of-Way
Private Road ROW
Subdivision/Plat Bndry
Waterline - Taxlot Bndry

NUMBERS
Tax Code Number000 00 00 0

All acres listed are Net Acres, excluding any
portions of the taxlot within public ROWs

Acreage

Tick Marks: A tick mark in the road indicates that the
labeled dimension extends into the public ROW

0.25 AC

NOTES

200.00
175.00

PLOT DATE: 5/17/2019

CANCELLED NUMBERS
100
200
600
700
800
1600
2100
2500

R! DLC Corner
<Ò 1/4 Section Cor.Ð 1/16TH Section Cor.

Attachment 101

304

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Text Box
Attachment 101



^̂

Ð

Ð

R!

<Ò

Ð

S89 40E 1010.61100

92C
-10

171
144

.81

193
.94

S87 15E 985.60

170
.0

944
-02

13

170
.0

S87 15E 985.38300
223.80

169.231200145
.34

59.
83

40 90.00
92.412400 60.60939

-02
52,

3

92.24

47.
50

2700 2600N57 53W 129

215.33 24
.49 2500116

.62

24.49

350.92  N86 56W 70
.70

139 116.60

24.4928.02
89.10 96 10 58.6482.5048.

531300 180
0

229.22 28002300 88.
21

948.
53

51.47400
105.03

FR. PARCEL 2 96 2900139 129 95.
16 80.79 AC500882

-02
84

156
.79

53.
50

6.50 16.4960.
00

61.0058.6422001400P.1, FR. P2 2596 96 24230.64 AC 86.00

95.86

77.50

105.03 4300420041009.47 PART.
173.15 21.24236

.64

20
6.9

5

60.
003000121.73 60.

00 7 99.9596 96139 92.3122GREENVIEW

4000129 64.4250.
75

105.03
PLAT

210015009685.
73

118.3296 43.12310069
.24

75
.00

S79 11E 87.14

60.
00

60.
00

6 90.74

440021 287.95 48.68 57.9
6

105.03
103.46 4500390024.29 1 67.

71

139640.84

96139 20.73129 35.7860.
00

85.84
53200 93.0816001993 -27

700 46002000 81.33

105
.65

892
-03

48

401 1496 20 67.
78

FR. PARCEL 2 900 69.
58

25.
22 ACRES

3800 87.
78

0.61 AC 0.44 AC 118.28245
.85

4

30
.09

93.07 15114.18

54.
18

88 9.6696217
.52

19
0.5

4

3300 61.
82

129 19(84.81)

23.
88 47008.00 75.

00

281
.70

37001900244-

60
.001700 881776

85.
82

139.86S0
3 1

5W
 21

4.1
8

318
2.3

0

63.4530'
 AC

CES
S E

AS
EM

EN
T

59
.75

5 44.
00

96.0976.41 55
.67

158.28 1698.5215
5.8

4

3400125590-12 1825
.45350086.60 25

.49

6.70590-112,113 (91
.51

)

48003600102
.74

130.93 90
.55

590-108 24.06 133
.07

(71.05) 74
.15

32.34590-123 50 64
.59

590-123 103.00109.70 1 2 90
.14

64
.59

85.00590-124 74
.84

93.00 1788.27

90 590-114 592-22090 597-752
60.01

90.007500 590-12180.00 591-26316300 60.004
92.02

70.00

20
.00

6100 80.006000
67.98

511
0

6PARCEL 111
0

19570011
0 590011

0 0.28 AC 5500 9400 930011
8.0

0

PARCEL 111
8.0

0

0.34 AC13
5.9

8

90 1 97
.00 0.25 AC13
5.9

4

0.38 AC10 97
.00

90
CS 36293 16

1.0
0

7400 580224
60.03

P.P.
70.0010

0

PARCEL 390.00 20
3.6

5

20
4.8

2

10
0

0.32 AC10
0 6400 10

0 P.P.
64

.00

6101 130.0090 2SUNSHINE
PARCEL 2 189 P.P. 94-99

92.0220

16
3.6

5

90 5801 67.98

16
2.3

0

1.70 AC7300

16
1.3

1

65.00 PARCEL 2 1991  -  1
00

EAST
20.00

100.00
0.21 AC48

.80 6500 80.0058005.00 9200PAR 1 0.24 AC 9100CS 36293 0.16 AC 7700860010
0

0.23 AC12
4.0

0

58.
91

257
6.7

3

113.4 3

10
4.0

2

16
70

.00

57
7.9

1 60
.00

100.09
100.00

8

70
.00

90

60
.0010

4.0
0

65.00 65.001995
7800130.00 117200 90001790 CENTENNIAL

60.00
70.00

10
0.0

0

60.005803
50.00

6600

50
.00

12
0.0

0

20
0.0

0

28.07

3PARCEL 241
4.5

0 60
.00

100.08

14
0.0

0

15ACRES
S66 58E

87000.60 ACCS 3629310
0 8800VIEW 70

.00
6700VA

CA
TE

D
60

9-7
46

77.65 790042
9.9

9

80.004 7 8900

12
1.8

1

4

11
9.9

3

60
.00

100.067100 114.05 PART.  PLAT

49.17

60
.00

7000 S76 53E 130.01

55
.36

1220
.00

1413 800070.00 70.00

10
0.0

0

55.36

80
.0010

0.0
0

79.
45 -42

11.
74 35.01

68005191
.17

660.57 5 100.05

60
.00

S37 55E

6900 116.13 80.00
8100

80.00
S46 37W

130.01
54.63

12
8.7

1

10 SUB.
126.38

990 ADD.
8500 6223.76 8400 100.04

60
.00

35.61
85.59 90.01 98 -46

8300380.01 80.01 8200130.01

80
.00

80.00 8

80
.00

80.00 7

54
.63

100.02

60
.00

STREET

60

JAMES ST.

60

44

44

50 55

60

44'

44'

PA
CIF

IC

60

ALEXANDRA AVE
84

60

44

DRIVE

KE
NN

ED
Y  

  S
TR

EE
T

GRE
EN

VIE
W

HIG
HW

AY
    N

o.9
9E

60

60
70 HARDCASTLE  AVENUE  (CR 534)60

60

LA
NE

DU
NN

    
CT

OR
CH

AR
D

CENTENNIAL  DRIVE

60

60

50GRE
EN

VIE
W

GRE
EN

VIE
W DR

IVE

NELSON
 PARK

60

60LANE

OR
CH

AR
D

70 70 60 HARDCASTLE  AVENUE  (CR 534)
60

HE
RT

IAG
E A

VE
NU

E

R=45

1/16 COR
1/16 COR

SE CORJ.COOLEY
DLC 50

SW CORC.C.COOLEYDLC 41

1/4 COR

1/16 COR

103 03 93 5

103 03 93 5

103 03 03 5

103 03 03 5 103 03 03 5

103 03 03 5
99.90

62
.00

62
.00

99.98

100.13

11
8.4

3

11
7.3

5

7600

7601

PARCEL 1

PARCEL 2

P.P.

2018-037

SEE MAP
051W08CD

SEE MAP
051W08DD

SEE
MAP

051W17BA SEE MAP
051W17AB

SEE MAP
051W17

SEE MAP
051W08DB SEE

MAP
051W08DA

SEE MAP
051W08CA

MARION COUNTY, OREGON
SW1/4 SE1/4 SEC8 T5S R1W W.M.

WOODBURNWOODBURN
05 1W 08DC05 1W 08DC

SCALE  1" = 100'

FOR ADDITIONAL MAPS VISIT OUR WEBSITE AT
www.co.marion.or.us

DISCLAIMER:  THIS MAP WAS PREPARED
FOR ASSESSMENT PURPOSES ONLY

05 1W 08DC05 1W 08DC
WOODBURNWOODBURN

05 1W 08DC05 1W 08DC

05 1W 08DC05 1W 08DC

LEGEND
LINE TYPES

CORNER TYPES

Section Corner<Ò
1516

21 22

Waterline - Non Bndry

Railroad Centerline

Historical Boundary
Easement

Taxcode Line
Map Boundary

Road Right-of-Way
Taxlot Boundary

Railroad Right-of-Way
Private Road ROW
Subdivision/Plat Bndry
Waterline - Taxlot Bndry

NUMBERS
Tax Code Number000 00 00 0

All acres listed are Net Acres, excluding any
portions of the taxlot within public ROWs

Acreage

Tick Marks: A tick mark in the road indicates that the
labeled dimension extends into the public ROW

0.25 AC

NOTES

200.00
175.00

PLOT DATE: 7/18/2018

CANCELLED NUMBERS
200
600
800
1000
1100
4900
5000
5100
5200
5300
5400
5500
5600
6200
8401
8701
8801

9001
9101
9201
9401

R! DLC Corner
<Ò 1/4 Section Cor.Ð 1/16TH Section Cor.

305

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight



Design Review DR 2019-03;  
Property Line Adjustment PLA 2019-03;  

Variance VAR 2019-02 
1310-1340 N Pacific Hwy 
Public Works Comments 

 September 30, 2019 

CONDITIONS OF LAND USE APPROVAL: 

1. The Applicant, not the City, is responsible for obtaining permits from state, county and/or 
federal agencies that may require such permit or approval. All work within the Oregon 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) right-of-way requires the applicant to obtain 
approval and permits from ODOT. 
 

2. The Applicant shall obtain approval from the Oregon Department of Transportation 
(ODOT) for the storm drainage analysis that will impact ODOT’s system. The storm 
drainage hydraulic analysis shall comply with both ODOT and City’s requirements. 
 

3. The applicant shall obtain approval from ODOT for the proposed access to Pacific 
Highway (Hwy 99E). The access shall comply with both ODOT and City’s requirements. 
 

4. Final review of the Civil Plans will be done during the building permit application.  Public 
infrastructure will be constructed in accordance with plans approved by public works and 
ODOT. 

CONDITIONS TO BE ADDRESS DURING THE BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION 

5. All City-maintained facilities located in private property shall require a minimum of 16-foot 
wide utility easement conveyed to the City by the property owner.  This is the applicant’s 

responsibility to provide, not the City’s. Utilities of unusual depth, size or location may 

require a larger width. 
  

6. Provide and record the required right-of-way dedication, public utility easements, 
pedestrian easements, and waterline easements prior to building permit issuance.  
 

7. Applicant to provide for the installation of all franchise utilities and shall provide any 
required easements for these facilities. All permanent utility services to the development 
shall be underground 

8. Department of Environmental Quality Erosion Control 1200C permit will need to be 
obtained for this development prior to City issuance of permit.  
 

9. If required a Permit from the Oregon Division of State Lands and US Army Corps of 
Engineering will need to be obtained to mitigate/delineated wetlands. This shall be 
obtained prior to city issuance of permit. 

 
 

10. Street lighting plan and design shall be approved by the City and ODOT. 
 

306

colinco
Text Box
Attachment 102A



11. All sewer mains are a gravity system and the termini of sewer lines locations and depths 
shall be such that it is suited for future extensions to adjoining areas. Extend sanitary 
sewer main to northerly property line, end line with a manhole. 
 

12. Sewer main located on the south side of the property shall be properly abandon according 
to Public Works or Building Department requirements.  The line to be abandon by either 
filling the line with CDF or removing the line, requirement is pending final location of 
proposed buildings and existing sewer line.   
 

13. All sanitary sewer laterals serving the proposed developments are private up to the main 
line.  The main line is located along Highway 99E. 
 

14. The water mains serving this development shall be a looped system, shall be sized in 
accordance with flow and fire protection requirements.   
 

15. Fire hydrants locations and fire protection requirements shall be as per the Woodburn Fire 
Districts and City of Woodburn requirements. 
 

16. Actual fire hydrant locations and in-line valving locations shall not be determined until the 
construction final plan review.   

OTHER: 

1. Each lot, shall have its own sanitary sewer service connection to the main with proper 
private easements.  

 

 

307



 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

12 November 2019 

 

Colin Cortes 
City of Woodburn Community Development Department 

970 N. Cascade Drive 

Woodburn, OR 97071 

 

Reference: DR 2019-03, PLA 2019-03 & VAR 2019-02 “Pacific Valley Apartments” at 

1310 & 1340 N. Pacific Hwy (Tax Lots 051W08DC00100 & 

051W08DB02800) 

Subject:   Proposed Revisions to Design Review Application & Conditions of Approval 

Dear Mr. Cortes, 

In anticipation of the 11/12/19 City Council call-up hearing of Pacific Valley Apartments, the 

following revisions to the Design Review application are proposed:  

1. Building C is rotated into a north-south direction to angle the building away from the 

east property line.   

2. The drive aisle in front of Building C is reduced from double loaded parking to 

single loaded and the total number of parking spaces is reduced from 382 spaces 

to 373 spaces. 

3. The unit mix of Building C is revised to change six (6) two-bedroom units to six (6) 
one-bedroom units and to reduce the building length by eleven (11) feet. 

4. Landscaping between Building C and the east property line is revised to increase 

the buffer to the neighboring lots. 

The Conditions of Approval issued in the 10/10/19 Planning Commission Final Decision are 

proposed to be revised as follows: 

 V3-PR.  Off-street parking ratio minimum WDO (Table 3.05A): 

a. Dwelling ratio:  The minimum ratio shall be by the unit type as follows: 

i. For each studio dwelling, 1.0 stall; 

ii. For each one-bedroom, 1.851.80 stalls; 
iii. For each two-bedroom, 1.851.80 stalls; and 

iv. For each three or more bedroom unit type, 2.0. 

V7-AW.  Architectural Wall (WDO Table 3.06D & 3.06.06): 

iii. The applicant shall include within the landscaping of the east 

rear setback of ten (10) feet at least seven (7)nine (9) trees of 

which at least two (2)three (3) shall be large category per WDO 

Table 3.06B. 

 

 

308

colinco
Text Box
Attachment 102B



 

 

   

The following exhibits are attached as revisions to the Design Review application 

(electronic and hard copies): 

Exhibit 02 Site Plan/ Project Information (11/11/19) 

Exhibit 17 Landscape Yard Plan (11/11/19) 

 

Sincerely, 

Leeb Architects LLC 

Doug Hamilton 

309



 

Woodburn Development Ordinance Section 2.03 Ord. No 2562 9/10/2018 

Uses Allowed in Commercial Zones 

Table 2.03A 

Use Zone 

Accessory Uses (A)     Conditional Uses (CU)     Permitted Uses (P) 

Special Permitted Uses (S)     Specific Conditional Uses (SCU) 
DDC CG CO MUV NNC 

5 Motor vehicle towing  CU 3    

6 Parking lots and garages  P P P  P 

7 Recreational vehicle park  CU 1    

D Miscellaneous      

1 Facilities during construction  S S S S S 

2 Fence or free-standing wall  A A A A A 

3 Temporary outdoor marketing and special event: 

a. Arts and crafts 

b. Food and beverages, including mobile food 

services 

c. Seasonal sales of fireworks, Christmas trees, 

produce or plant materials 

d. Amusement rides and games 

e. Entertainment 

f. Any other merchandise or service which is neither 

accessory to a primary, permanent use of the 

property nor marketed by employees of that 

permanent use 

S S S S S 

E Residential      

1 Attached single-family (row houses) dwellings  P P 2  P P 

2 Child care facility, group home, and nursing home P 8 P 8 P 8 P 8 P 8 

3 
One dwelling unit, in conjunction with a commercial 

use  
P P P P P 

4 Multiple-family dwellings P P CU P P 

1. Not allowed in the Gateway Overlay District 

2. Only allowed in the Gateway Overlay District 

3. Allowed outright if not within 200 feet of residentially zoned properties 

4. Within a building, no outdoor storage or repair 

5. All outdoor storage and display shall be enclosed by a seven foot masonry wall. 

6. Existing uses are allowed as a permitted use, new uses are not allowed in the MUV 

7. Drive-throughs are not allowed 

8. Child care facility for 13 or more children, group home for six or more persons 

  

310

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Text Box
Attachment 103



 
 

  

Highway 99E Corridor Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted July 9, 2012 

 

311

colinco
Text Box
Attachment 104



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  

July 2012   9 

consists of a single-story building with a surface parking lot in front of it; however, the size and 
configuration of the building and the parking lot vary by site. 

Large-scale redevelopment opportunities in the central part of the corridor are limited to the area 
around the Mt. Hood / Molalla / Highway 99E intersection. There are a number of small to medium-
scale or infill redevelopment opportunities between Mt. Hood / Molalla and Lincoln.  Redevelopment 
south of Lincoln will face greater challenges due to the number of smaller and shallow parcels in this 
area.   

South of Cleveland there is substantial vacant and redevelopable land. Comprehensive Plan designations 
in this area include Industrial, Commercial, Low-Density Residential, and Medium-Density Residential.  
Existing land uses include a variety of commercial/industrial uses such as self-storage, manufactured 
home sales, a bank, automobile repair and salvage, and food processing businesses; a small apartment 
complex; a manufactured housing development; and farms. 

Corridor Design Tools 

A variety of tools and strategies can be used throughout the Highway 99E corridor to improve 
pedestrian and bicyclist access, comfort and mobility, corridor aesthetics, and safety for all users in the 
corridor.  These tools and strategies were identified and described in Technical Memorandum #5: 
Opportunity Design Toolbox (April 7, 2011).  The Toolbox includes Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities such 
as Crossing Treatments, Sidewalks and Bike Lanes, and Connectivity; Streetscape Elements; Gateways; 
Signage; Site Development; Access Management; and Redevelopment Opportunities.  The tools 
described formed the building blocks of the initial corridor design options developed by the Project 
Team, and the most suitable tools have been incorporated into the recommendations in the Corridor 
Plan. 

V. Corridor Plan Overview 

The corridor was divided into four segments for the purposes of developing land use and transportation 
recommendations.6  The boundaries of the corridor segments are shown on Figure 2.  This section 
summarizes the key land use and transportation changes associated with the Corridor Plan.  These are 
also illustrated graphically in Figure 2: Key Corridor Enhancements on page 12.  

Transportation 

Highway 99E Cross-Sections 

The Corridor Plan proposes no physical streetscape changes to Highway 99E north of Lincoln (Segments 
1 and 2).  South of Lincoln (in Segments 3 and 4), the highway would be widened to accommodate bike 
lanes, sidewalks, street trees, and room for amenities such as street lights and enhanced transit stops, 
bringing the highway up to the City’s adopted Major Arterial standards.  While motor vehicle and freight 
mobility remains the highway’s primary purpose, the landscaping and wider sidewalks would help make 

                                                           
6
 See Draft Corridor Plan Design Concepts (May 2011) for further explanation of how the corridor was divided into segments.  

Fundamentally, the four segments reflect differences in existing land use and transportation conditions and, as anticipated in 
earlier stages of this project, now reflect different land use, urban design, and transportation solutions. 

312

colinco
Highlight



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  

July 2012   10 

the highway safer and more attractive for pedestrians.  The existing 80-foot right-of-way would need to 
expand to approximately 100 feet in Segment 3 (from Lincoln to south of Cleveland) to accommodate 
these physical streetscape improvements.  South of Cleveland (in Segment 4), the roadway would be 
widened from the existing two-lane highway to add a continuous two-way left turn lane, wider 
shoulders (also serving as buffered bike lanes), and sidewalks (separated from the travel lanes by a 
landscaped buffer or vegetated stormwater swale). Here, these improvements would likely fit within the 
existing right-of-way.  The proposed cross-sections for each segment of the highway are shown in Figure 
3: Roadway Cross-sections for Highway 99E on page 13.7 

Intersection Modifications 

The other key modification proposed for the roadway system is a recommended change to street 
connections and circulation surrounding the Young Street and Cleveland Street intersections.  Currently, 
the intersections of Birds Eye and Highway 214 and of Silverton and Highway 99E are located very close 
to other intersections and intersect at odd angles, creating a dangerous situation for drivers.  This area 
has a history of crashes due to these issues.   

The Plan proposes to restrict turn movements at these intersections in the short-term, and close them 
completely and vacating the public street right-of-way in the long term8 (conceptual illustrations of the 
short-term modifications are shown in Figure 4 on page 14; long term conceptual alignments are shown 
on Figure 5 on page 15).  Consistent with the City’s adopted TSP, a new traffic signal is planned at 
Cleveland Street and Highway 99E (this is shown on Figure 5).9  No changes are proposed to the existing 
Bird’s Eye Avenue railroad crossing.   The intersection of George Street and OR 214 is also recommended 
for closure in the long term, once a suitable connection is made at the eastern end of George Street.  It 
is important to note that the solutions illustrated on pages 14 and 15 are conceptual in nature and are 
intended to express a short and long term way forward to improve conditions at this intersection. 
Further refinement will take place in close consultation with the business and property owners affected 
as engineering designs are produced, prior to any changes being made.  The specific needs of the 
businesses in the area for vehicle access (including trucks) will be taken into consideration during the 
engineering design stage.   

The proposed turn restrictions and eventual street closures would enhance safety in the area by 
reducing vehicle turning conflicts.  In addition, vacation of the street right-of-way that would no longer 
be needed after closure of the streets would create an opportunity for lot consolidation (i.e. the 
opportunity for a single property owner or developer to acquire a group of properties and bring them 
under common ownership), adding approximately 27,000 square feet of developable commercial land at 
this highly visible corner location.  

                                                           
7
 ODOT Rail Division has advised that a two-way center turn lane on Highway 99E should not approach any closer than 325 feet 

to the existing railroad track on either side of the crossing.  This is because it is important for drivers to focus on the crossing 
and be alert for signals without the added distraction of turn movements, jockeying for position, and potential sideswipe 
collisions in the immediate approaches to a crossing.  Two-way turn lane traffic is difficult to control and presents a temptation 
to motorists to drive around lowered crossing gates. 
8
 Note that vacation of right-of-way may require action by both the City and ODOT. 

9
 Prior to installation in this location, a new signal must meet ODOT traffic warrants, have Region 2 Traffic Manager support, 

and obtain State Traffic Engineer Office approval.     

313



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  

July 2012   11 

Other Transportation Improvements 

Additional transportation improvements are identified in Appendix B and summarized briefly below: 

 Measures to improve safety and convenience for pedestrians crossing Highway 99E, such as 
enhancements at signalized intersections and mid-block protected crossings.   

 Signal timing and intersection improvements to accommodate the expected changes in traffic 
flow due to closing the Silverton Avenue intersection and the increased traffic generation 
potential from the new Mixed Use area.  

 Improvements to connectivity through new street connections and bicycle / pedestrian 
accessways. 

 Adoption of access management policies for the corridor to improve safety for vehicles, bicycles, 
and pedestrians.  (Recommendations related to access management are addressed in Section 
VII beginning on page 23.) 

Land Use and Urban Design 

The centerpiece of the land use and design features of the Corridor Plan is a new “Mixed Use Village” 
centered at the intersection of Young Street and Highway 99E.  The mixed use area is intended to 
provide an activity node on Highway 99E and a sense of connection to Downtown Woodburn. The new 
Mixed Use Village will be implemented through a new zoning designation with a slightly different mix of 
uses and different set of site design standards than exists today under the existing General Commercial 
zoning.  Over time, through new development and redevelopment, the new zone will create a more 
pedestrian-oriented, walkable streetscape with buildings close to the sidewalk and parking lots situated 
to the rear or side of buildings.  The proposed new zone is described in more detail in Section VIII 
beginning on page 30.  

The proposed new zone will be implemented in phases, beginning with an area near the Young Street 
intersection (“Phase 1”), where a gateway treatment and other public investments could help spur 
redevelopment.  The new zone will be applied throughout the remainder of Segment 3 when 
improvements to Highway 99E are programmed.10  The exception is for properties currently outside city 
limits, where the new zone will be applied upon annexation into the city.  This phasing approach is 
illustrated on Figure 2.    

Conceptual illustrations of potential redevelopment in the Mixed Use Village are provided in Section IV.  
These illustrations are intended to show what future development could look like within the Mixed Use 
Village; they are aspirational rather than regulatory. 

Outside of the Mixed Use Village, the land use regulations would remain largely unchanged, although 
modifications related to access management, special street setbacks, and frontage improvements would 
apply throughout the corridor. These recommendations are summarized in Section VI. 

                                                           
10

 Rezoning is recommended to occur for Phase 2 through a legislative action by the City once funding for the detailed 
engineering design of the improvements to Highway 99E in Segment 3 is committed. 

314

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  

July 2012   12 

Figure 2: Key Corridor Enhancements 

 

315

colinco
Highlight



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012  Appendix B: 2  

 Close the intersection of George Street at Highway 214 to through motor vehicle travel, leaving 
it accessible by pedestrians, bicycles, and emergency vehicles only. This project shall not be 
constructed prior to the project that would construct a new local street connecting George 
Street to Highway 214 just west of the urban growth boundary (see New Streets, project (a)).  

New Streets 

The following projects are added to the intermediate to long-term (next 10-15 years) project list on page 
7-6 of the TSP: 

 Construct a new local street connecting George Street to Highway 214 just west of the eastern 
urban growth boundary.  

 Enhance north-south connectivity of local streets paralleling the Highway 99E corridor as part of 
property development or subdivision and/or by extending Cooley Road from Hardcastle Avenue 
to Highway 214. 28 

Pedestrian Plan 

The pedestrian plan described on pages 7-9 and 7-10, as well as Figure 7-3, of the TSP is amended to 
include the following projects: 

 Install countdown pedestrian timers and construct ADA enhancements at signalized 
intersections along Highway 99E.  

 Construct curb extensions to shorten pedestrian crossing distances on approaches to Highway 
99E where appropriate (no curb extensions are to be constructed that would narrow the width 
of Highway 99E itself). Street approaches where curb extensions should be considered include: 
Alexandria Avenue, James Street, Williams Street, Blaine Street, Aztec Drive, Laurel Avenue, and 
Tomlin Avenue. 

 Provide pedestrian and bicycle access to Highway 99E from adjacent residential neighborhoods. 
This will require development of accessways and obtaining easements. Pedestrian/bicycle 
accessways must include a paved surface of at least 10 feet wide with a minimum vertical 
clearance of 10 feet. Potential locations for pedestrian/bicycle accessways connecting to 
Highway 99E include: from June Way (near the Audrey Way intersection), from Johnson Street, 
from Elm Street, from Wilson Street, and from Hawley Street (possibly part of future street 
extension). 

 Construct enhanced pedestrian crossings of Highway 99E. Identification of crossing locations 
should occur through collaborative efforts with the community and the Oregon Department of 
Transportation. The maximum potential for enhanced pedestrian crossing locations is estimated 
to include: three crossings between Mt Hood Avenue and Hardcastle Avenue, one crossing 
between Hardcastle Avenue and Lincoln Street, and three crossings between Lincoln Street and 

                                                           
28

 Because an extension of Cooley Road as described would run outside of the city’s UGB, it is included as a purely conceptual 
project to be considered at a later date if the land in question is eventually added to the UGB.  The incremental improvement of 
north-south connectivity through new street connections east of Highway 99E may accomplish the same objective and 
eliminate the need for Cooley Road itself to be extended. 

316

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012  Appendix B: 5  

Table B1: Cost Estimates for Proposed Transportation Improvements 

Project 
No. 

Project Title 
Estimated 

Capital Cost* 
Owning 

Jurisdiction** 

Ten to Fifteen Years (2010-2020) 

Tier 1: Short Term Projects 

1 
Restrict turning movements and eventually close Silverton Avenue 
intersection with Highway 99E 

$16,000 State/City 

2 
Restrict turning movements and eventually close Birds Eye Avenue 
intersection with Highway 214 

$23,000 State/City 

3 Implement Traffic Management Plan for Highway 99E corridor $45,000 State 

4 
Install pedestrian countdown timers and construct ADA ramps at 
signalized intersections on Highway 99E (3 intersections) 

$110,000 State 

5 
Construct curb extensions on select approaches to Highway 99E - 
parallel to highway, not narrowing highway (8 intersections) 

$60,000 State/City 

6 Construct enhanced pedestrian crossings along Highway 99E (7 total) $280,000 State 

Tier 2: Medium Term Projects 

7 
Coordinate Highway 99E traffic signals from Hardcastle Avenue to Young 
Street (and future Cleveland Street signal) 

$55,000 State 

8 
Improve Highway 99E/Young Street intersection to add a westbound 
lane (providing separate left, through, and right lanes) and protective-
permissive left turn phasing on eastbound and westbound approaches 

$550,000 State 

9 
Close George Street intersection with Highway 214, maintaining passage 
for pedestrians, bicycles, and emergency vehicles 

$60,000 State/City 

10 
Construct new local street connecting George Street to Highway 214 
just west of the eastern UGB 

$425,000 City 

11 Extend Mill Creek corridor off-street pathway to Belle Passi Road $840,000 County/City 

12 
Construct pedestrian/bicycle accessways between Highway 99E and 
residential areas (total of 5 locations – highly variable costs) 

$675,000 City 

Tier 3: Long Term Projects 

13 
Highway 99E widening from Lincoln Street to 1,150 feet south of 
Cleveland Street 

$7,150,000 State 

14 
Highway 99E widening from 1,150 feet south of Cleveland Street to 
proposed southern UGB 

$5,130,000 State 

15 
Improve roadway lighting along Highway 99E corridor (assumed 60% of 
corridor) 

$2,110,000 State 

16 Enhance north-south connectivity of local streets paralleling the 
Highway 99E corridor as part of property development or subdivision 

$8,270,000 County/City 

317

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight

colinco
Highlight



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012  Appendix B: 6  

and/or by extending Cooley Road from Hardcastle Avenue to Highway 
214 *** 

 Grand Total $25,799,000  

Notes:  

* Cost estimates are in 2011 dollars. 

** Owning Jurisdiction does not necessarily indicate the likely funding source for the improvement.  In some cases, 
private development or other funding sources may contribute part or all of the cost of the improvement. 

*** Because an extension of Cooley Road would run outside of the city’s UGB, it is included as a conceptual project 
to be considered at a later date if the land in question is eventually added to the UGB.  The incremental 
improvement of north-south connectivity through new street connections east of Highway 99E may accomplish 
the same objective and eliminate the need for Cooley Road itself to be extended. 

318



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012  Appendix B: 7  

Figure B2: Proposed Transportation Improvements 

 

319



ROBIN

WOODLAND

CLU
B

C
O

U
N

TR
Y

COUNTRY CLUB

M
ER

ID
IA

N

LINCOLN

LINCOLN

Oregon 214

 

 

 

 

 

 

PARR

 

CROSBY

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STACY
ALLISON 

 

 

 

A
6T

H

 

AR
NEY

 

 

 

 

 

 

BO
O

NE
S 

FE
RR

Y

 

 

 

 

 

 

H
ER

IT
AG

E

SHENANDOAH

EAST HARDCASTLE

JU
LI

E

KOFFLER

HENRYS

COUNTRY

STAFNEY

CARSON

FE
S

C
U

E

D
U

N
N

LAUREU

MULBERRY

MCCORMICK

BUNKER

C
AH

IL
L

LANDAU

6T
H

GARDEN

AN
N

A

WARREN
LU

BA

GREENVIE
W

KOERNER

TE
N 

O
AK

S

KE
LO

W
N

A

CONSTITUTION

DEER RUN

C
LA

C
K

AM
A

S

EAGLE

MAYANNA

PLUM

SANTIAM

VERA

WOODBURN-H
UBBARD

STEVEN

NEKIA

GOUDY GARDENS

FINZER

LI
LA

C

GEORGE

EV
ER

G
R

E
E

N

THOMPSON

IRONWOOD

JUDY

O
R

E
G

O
N

N
O

 N
A

C
AR

O
L

M
C

LA
U

G
H

LI
N

CAMAS

JA
NA

LE
AS

U
R

E

OATS

C
O

R
BY

JORY

ALEXANDRA

DOUD

W
HIT

NEY

RYE

SILVERTON

LINDA

MEADOW

AZTEC

IN
DU

ST
RI

AL

BR
YA

N

MYRTLE

C

HA
W

LE
Y

TUKWILA

W
O

R
KM

AN

R
O

Y

C
O

LU
M

B
IA

HARRISON

SERRES

PANA

COMMERCE

Q
U

IN
N

H
AL

L

TOMLIN

PU
B

LI
C

JU
NE

KING

ST
U

B
B

VANDERBECK

JAMES

PR
IN

C
ET

O
N

CLEVELAND

U
M

PQ
U

A

GARFIELD

D

CARL

4T
H

EAST LINCOLN

PROGRESS

EL
M

EL
AN

A
SA

LL
A

L

BO
O

NE
S 

FE
RR

Y

RAINIER

WILSON

BROW
N

BELLE PASSI

COOLE
Y

B

5

C
AS

C
A

D
E

SM
IT

H

W
O

O
D

LA
N

D

STARK

HAZELNUT

BLAINE

CROSBY

CLEVELAND

AS
TO

R

HARDCASTLE

GA
TC

H

W
IL

LO
W

LEBRUN SE
TT

LE
M

IE
R

PA
R

K

PARR

OGLE

YOUNG

HAYES

5T
H

A

AR
N

E
Y

3R
DLINCOLN

2N
D

1S
T

BU
TT

EV
IL

LE

FRONT

Oregon 219

Oregon 219

Oregon 211

O
regon 214 

Ore
go

n 
99

 E

CHERRY

Figure 7-1
Functional Classification

Designations
City of Woodburn TSP

Legend
Existing Facility

Freeway

Major Arterial

Minor Arterial

Service Collector

Access Street

Proposed New Facility

Minor Arterial

Service Collector

Access Street

Railroad

Historic Settlemier Transportation
Corridor

Urban Growth Boundary

Proposed Urban Growth Boundary

0 2,500

Feet

Note (1):   Roadway facilities shown outside the UGB are  recommended, not planned
                 facilities in the TSP, and are logical extensions and improvements to the
                 planned roadway network.  Land use decisions to authorize these as planned
                 facilities and improvements would occur as part of a subsequent UGB
                 amendment adding these areas or a subsequent amendment to the TSP.
         (2):  New facilities are only represented conceptually, actual alignment likely to vary.

File Path: \\rosa\proj\ODOT\185701\GIS\data\MapDocuments\ReportFigures\7-01_funct_class.mxd, Date: 01 11, 2005 9:35:17 AM 320

colinco
Text Box
Attachment 105



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITIndex

Sheet Index

Pacific Valley Apartments
Rendering - Composite Aerial Site Plan 01

Site Plan - Project Information 02

Site Plan - Area Calculations 03

Civil Vicinity Map 04

Civil Existing Conditions 05

Civil Site Plan 06

Civil Easements Plan 07

Civil Grading Plan 08

Civil Utilities Plan 09

Civil Water Plan 10

Civil Storm Plan 11

Civil Sewer Plan 12

Civil Property Line Adjustment 13

Civil Property Line Adjustment 14

Landscape Plan 15

Landscape Plan 16

Landscape Yard Plan 17

Landscape Yard Plan 18

Lighting Plan 19

Lighting Plan 20

Lighting Cut Sheets 21

Street Lighting Plan 22

Elevations - Building Type 1 23

Elevations - Building Type 2 24

Elevations - Clubhouse 25

Detail Elevations 26

Trash Enclosure Details 27

Trash Enclosure Details 28

Attachment 106 

321

colinco
Text Box
Attachment 106



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITRendering
Composite Aerial Site Plan 01

Attachment 106 

322



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITSite Plan
Project Information 02

17'

ACCESS EASEMENT

35'

6' RIGHT OF WAY
DEDICATION

PROPERTY
LINE

PLAY
AREA

CLUB
HOUSE

ST
AT

E 
HI

GH
W

AY
 9

9E
 - 

NO
RT

H 
PA

CI
FI

C 
HI

GH
W

AY

26
'

26
'

6'

32
'

8'

8'

20'

6'

6'

17' 20' 6'6'

13
'

6'

20
'

13
'

17
'

20
'

13
'

6'

7.5'

9'

7.5' 9'7.5'

5' SIDE/ PARKING
SETBACK

DOG WASTE
STATION

10' REAR
SETBACK

10' PUBLIC UTILITY
EASEMENT

70' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
FOR FUTURE RIGHT OF WAY

TREES TO BE
REMOVED

4" CURBS -
TYP.

BBQ

CONCRETE PEDESTRIAN
CROSSINGS

CARPORTS TRASH ENCLOSURE
SEE 1/A3

EXTERIOR STORAGE
CLOSETS WITH WALL
MOUNT BIKE RACK
(2'-4" x 4'-6" FLOOR AREA)

DOUBLE STRIPING
PER WDO 3.05.02(K)

WHEELSTOPS

BIKE RACK W/
(2) 2'x6' BIKE SPACES
AT EACH STAIRWELL

(4) 2'x6' BIKE SPACES
W/ TIRE PUMP

6' TYP.

DD

NEW 8' SIDEWALK

23'

23'

21.5'

23'

SECONDARY
DRIVEWAY

28' R.

28' R.

28' R.

10'

5.
5'

2'

VISION CLEARANCE
AREA PER WDO
3.03.06(B)(5)

10
'

10'

6' 6'

50'

12' ACCESS
EASEMENT

5' SIDE/ PARKING
SETBACK

17'

15
'

19
'

19
'

19
'

17' 6'20'8' 19'

6' 9'
9'

8'

9'

V

V

9'
VAN-ACCESSIBLE
AISLE

70' PUBLIC UTILITY
EASEMENT FOR FUTURE
RIGHT OF WAY

9'

9'

9'

6' 6'

5'

V

8' CONCRETE
PEDESTRIAN/
BIKE PATH

BIKE RACK W/ (2) 2'x6'
BIKE SPACES

EXISTING CURB

28' R.

EXISTING TREES
TO REMAIN

ALEXANDRA AVE.

100 SF CONCRETE PATIO
(6.5' x 8' BALCONIES ABOVE)

SIGNIFICANT TREE
TO BE REPLACED

17'

6' BENCH

15
'

6'
6'

6'
9'

19'

26'

17'
6'

8' 9'
6'

19
'

6'

6'6' 8'

6' 8'

7' 6'

6' TYP.

8'

8'

A

FG

B

C

DE

J

H

K

28' R.

9'

28' R.

17' 6'20'6'

9'

17'

20
'

POROUS GRASS PAVING
FIRE ACCESS LANE W/
MOUNTABLE CURB

28' R.

FUTURE 8' PEDESTRIAN/
BIKE PATH BY OTHERS

MAINTENANCE
BUILDING

Leeb Architects
08.30.19
LAND USE REVIEW

WEST COAST HOME SOLUTIONS
PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

1310 & 1340 N. PACIFIC HIGHWAY
WOODBURN, OREGON A1

SCALE:  1"=40'-0"1 SITE PLAN

160'0' 80' 

UNIT SUMMARY
1-BEDROOM:   36 (18%)
2-BEDROOM: 150 (74%)
3-BEDROOM:   18 (9%)
TOTAL: 204

VEHICLE PARKING
STANDARD: 169 (44.5%)
COMPACT: 213 (55.5%)
TOTAL: 382 (1.86 SPACES/UNIT)

COVERED: 192 (50%)
UNCOVERED: 190 (50%)
TOTAL: 382

ACCESSIBLE:     9 (2%)

BICYLE PARKING
COVERED:   34 (51.5%)
UNCOVERED:   32 (48.5%)

  66

NOTE:
5% OF PARKING SPACES TO BE
PROVIDED WITH A CONDUIT SYSTEM FOR
THE FUTURE INSTALLATION OF ELECTRIC
VEHICLE CHARGING STATIONS PER OAR
918-020-0380

Attachment 106 

323



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITSite Plan
Area Calculations 03

PARKING LOT
LANDSCAPING AREA
34,964 SF
(34% OF PARKING LOT AREA)

PARKING LOT AREA
103,264 SF

RECREATION AREA
(EXTERIOR)
3,200 SF

COMMON OPEN SPACE
107,585 SF
(37% OF SITE AREA)

SITE AREA
290,780 SF

RECREATION AREA
(INTERIOR)
1,400 SF

DRIVEWAY AREA
2,157 SF

Leeb Architects
08.30.19
LAND USE REVIEW

WEST COAST HOME SOLUTIONS
PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

1310 & 1340 N. PACIFIC HIGHWAY
WOODBURN, OREGON A2

SCALE:  1"=40'-0"1 SITE PLAN - AREA CALCULATIONS

160'0' 80' 

Attachment 106 

324



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITCivil Existing Conditions

05

Attachment 106 

325



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITCivil Site Plan

06

Attachment 106 

326



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITCivil Easements Plan

07

Attachment 106 

327



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITCivil Utilities Plan

09

Attachment 106 

328



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITCivil Property Line Adjustment

13

Attachment 106 

329



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITCivil Property Line Adjustment

14

Attachment 106 

330



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITLandscape Plan

15

Attachment 106 

331



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITLandscape Plan

16

Attachment 106 

332



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITLighting Plan

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.3

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.5

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.3

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.5

0.7

3.0

1.7

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.8

2.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.4

0.6

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.3

0.3

1.3

3.8

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.6

1.9

2.5

1.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.9

2.8

0.8

0.6

1.7

3.4

1.9

0.9

0.7

0.8

1.6

2.8

0.6

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.9

1.9

1.2

4.2

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.8

1.4

0.6

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.7

1.5

3.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

2.5

1.8

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.9

1.0

0.7

1.4

1.3

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.1

0.6

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

1.0

0.8

0.3

0.2

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.7

1.0

3.3

4.3

1.0

0.3

0.1

0.7

2.9

2.9

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.8

2.2

2.7

2.7

0.7

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.6

3.0

3.4

2.1

1.2

0.7

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

2.7

0.7

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.5

2.4

3.3

2.7

1.5

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.4

0.6

1.1

2.1

0.7

0.6

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.5

1.5

3.9

3.1

1.6

1.0

0.7

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.6

1.6

3.3

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

3.3

2.9

2.6

1.8

1.1

0.9

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

1.0

1.3

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.6

1.4

1.7

2.0

1.7

1.3

1.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.9

3.5

2.2

2.0

1.7

1.3

1.3

0.2

0.5

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.7

1.7

2.9

2.5

1.8

1.1

0.8

0.3

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.0

2.8

4.4

3.2

1.7

1.0

0.6

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.8

2.2

4.1

3.4

1.6

0.8

0.4

0.1

0.5

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.5

0.6

1.3

3.8

3.3

1.6

0.8

0.3

0.5

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.5

1.4

3.9

4.0

2.9

1.5

0.9

0.4

0.8

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.6

1.0

2.0

2.8

2.5

1.5

1.0

0.4

1.0

1.4

1.6

1.3

0.9

1.4

2.3

2.0

1.9

1.6

1.2

0.7

1.3

1.6

1.9

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.3

1.9

1.9

1.5

1.3

0.7

1.5

1.7

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.3

2.0

2.6

2.1

1.4

1.1

0.4

1.3

1.6

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.9

3.5

3.2

2.0

1.2

0.9

0.2

1.0

1.5

1.7

1.5

1.0

0.5

1.3

2.6

1.8

1.1

0.9

0.3

0.8

1.2

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.4

0.6

1.8

1.7

2.4

2.1

0.6

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.6

5.0

4.1

1.1

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.9

4.4

3.2

2.0

1.4

1.8

1.2

3.3

2.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

3.3

3.4

2.6

1.5

2.9

1.7

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.6

1.8

3.7

2.7

1.4

1.5

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.7

2.3

2.6

2.5

1.7

3.3

1.7

3.2

2.1

1.3

1.2

1.3

0.7

2.6

2.7

2.4

1.6

1.6

0.9

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.7

1.7

3.8

2.7

1.7

3.3

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.9

3.4

4.4

2.9

1.4

1.6

0.7

3.3

2.1

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

1.0

3.6

2.9

1.3

0.5

0.3

1.7

1.5

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.8

2.4

3.9

2.7

1.4

1.3

0.5

0.6

3.3

2.1

1.1

1.0

0.8

1.1

3.1

3.0

2.2

1.6

3.5

0.9

0.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.9

1.6

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.4

0.6

0.4

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.6

3.2

1.6

1.3

1.8

3.4

0.7

0.6

3.1

2.0

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.0

1.5

1.9

1.4

1.3

1.5

0.5

0.4

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

2.0

3.4

2.6

1.7

1.8

2.6

0.6

0.4

1.0

1.2

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.1

2.1

2.7

1.5

1.4

1.6

0.6

3.2

1.9

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.2

1.4

1.2

0.9

1.2

4.1

4.5

2.5

1.8

3.9

5.0

0.9

0.3

0.3

0.6

0.5

0.7

0.3

0.3

0.5

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.9

1.9

1.5

1.3

2.3

2.4

0.9

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.1

0.9

0.8

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.5

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.7

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.1 0.1 0.1

FG

J

H

K

Statistics

Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min MIN 
AVG.

ADA PARKING-1 2.0 fc 3.5 fc 0.8 fc 4.4:1 2.5:1 1.0 FC

ADA PARKING-2 2.1 fc 3.7 fc 0.8 fc 4.6:1 2.6:1 1.0 FC

ADA PARKING-3 1.2 fc 1.3 fc 1.0 fc 1.3:1 1.2:1 1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-4 1.6 fc 2.9 fc 0.7 fc 4.1:1 2.3:1  1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-5 1.5 fc 3.1 fc 0.7 fc 4.4:1 2.1:1  1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-6 1.4 fc 3.3 fc 0.3 fc 11.0:1 4.7:1 1.0 FC
LIGHT SPILL BLDG. F 0.1 fc 0.5 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT SPILL ON BLDG. K 0.0 fc 0.2 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT TRESSPASS NORTH PROPERTY LINE 0.1 fc 0.3 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT TRESSPASS SOUTH PROPERTY LINE 0.0 fc 0.2 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
OVARALL PARKINING & DRIVEWAY 1.2 fc 6.6 fc 0.1 fc 66.0:1 12.0:1

Schedule

Symbol Label Quantity Manufacturer Catalog Number Description Lamp Number 
Lamps Filename Lumens Per 

Lamp
Light Loss 

Factor Wattage

A
58 Lithonia Lighting CLX L24 1500LM HEF  

L/Lens  MVOLT GZ10 30K 
90CRI

CLX LED Linear 24" 1,500 lumens, 
Premium Efficiency, Less louver, 
L/Lens ,  General distribution, 
MVOLT, 0-10V dimming, 3000 
CCT, 90 CRI

LED 1 CLX_L24_1500LM
_HEF_L_Lens_MV
OLT_GZ10_30K_9
0CRI.ies

1221 0.85 10.39

B
27 Lithonia Lighting DSX0 LED P1 30K T3S 

MVOLT HS
DSX0 LED P1 30K T3S MVOLT with 
houseside shield

LED 1 DSX0_LED_P1_30
K_T3S_MVOLT_HS
.ies

3632 0.85 38

C
15 Lithonia Lighting DSXW1 LED 10C 700 30K 

T3S MVOLT
DSXW1 LED WITH (1) 10 LED 
LIGHT ENGINES, TYPE T3S OPTIC, 
3000K, @ 700mA.

LED 1 DSXW1_LED_10C
_700_30K_T3S_M
VOLT.ies

2593 0.85 26.2

D
15 Lithonia Lighting WST LED P1 30K VF 

MVOLT DS VG
WST LED, Performance package 1, 
3000 K, visual comfort forward 
throw, MVOLT, dual switching, 
vandal guard

LED 1 WST_LED_P1_30K
_VF_MVOLT_DS_V
G.ies

1664 0.85 14

Mounting
Hieght
10 Ft.

20 Ft.

10 Ft.

10 Ft.

Leeb Architects
03.18.19
DESIGN REVIEW

WEST COAST HOME SOLUTIONS
PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

1310 & 1340 N. PACIFIC HIGHWAY
WOODBURN, OREGON

For Information
Only

Not for
Construction

19

Attachment 106 

333



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITLighting Plan

1.6

2.7

2.9

1.6

1.2

1.5

1.5

1.0

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.7

1.1

1.5

1.5

0.9

1.6

2.8

2.8

1.4

1.6

2.8

2.3

1.5

1.0

1.4

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.7

1.1

1.6

1.3

0.9

1.8

3.1

2.3

1.1

0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.7

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.1

0.9

0.8

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.5

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.7

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.5

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.5

0.8

1.2

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

1.6

1.4

1.3

0.7

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.5

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.2

0.4

1.5

1.9

1.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.7

2.8

1.3

0.8

0.7

0.6

1.5

2.9

2.6

1.9

0.2

0.4

0.6

2.1

1.2

0.8

0.7

0.6

2.8

6.6

4.7

2.9

1.9

4.9

3.7

0.6

0.3

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

1.7

3.1

3.3

2.5

1.4

2.8

1.9

0.3

0.4

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

1.1

1.8

1.6

1.1

1.6

1.1

0.3

0.9

3.6

1.5

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.6

1.0

0.9

0.8

1.4

0.9

0.2

0.5

1.1

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.6

2.4

1.0

0.9

0.9

3.0

1.6

0.3

0.4

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.4

0.5

1.5

1.3

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.2

0.8

3.1

1.6

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.2

0.7

2.4

1.8

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.7

1.9

1.2

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.9

1.5

2.7

1.8

0.8

0.9

0.4

0.1

0.6

1.3

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.3

2.0

2.6

2.0

1.5

1.3

3.5

1.0

0.2

0.9

3.7

1.6

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.3

0.8

0.9

1.3

1.1

0.9

1.2

0.6

0.2

0.6

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.4

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.6

0.6

0.1

0.7

1.9

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

0.4

1.9

2.0

2.2

1.6

1.3

3.2

0.8

0.1

0.8

3.1

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.1

0.4

1.4

2.6

1.4

0.7

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.3

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.3

1.0

1.2

2.2

1.5

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.9

1.0

0.8

0.8

3.4

2.3

2.0

1.4

1.6

2.2

0.8

0.2

0.5

1.3

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.5

1.1

1.2

2.1

1.5

2.7

5.9

1.1

0.2

0.8

3.6

1.5

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.5

1.3

1.9

2.5

1.3

0.9

1.0

0.3

0.1

0.5

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

3.2

2.7

2.5

1.2

1.8

2.9

0.5

0.1

0.7

2.3

1.4

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.3

0.7

1.0

1.7

1.1

0.8

0.9

0.3

0.1

0.8

2.7

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.2

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.2

0.9

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.5

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.4

1.0

1.3

1.4

0.3

0.1

0.8

3.2

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.1

0.8

2.7

2.3

2.2

1.1

1.9

2.1

0.4

0.1

0.6

1.7

1.2

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

1.8

3.6

2.5

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.8

1.5

2.0

2.0

1.5

3.6

3.2

0.6

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

1.5

3.7

1.9

1.4

1.2

1.8

1.8

0.9

0.4

0.7

2.5

1.3

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.0

0.7

2.5

1.4

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.9

2.3

1.5

0.6

1.2

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.3

0.8

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

4.5

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.4

2.6

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.9

3.5

1.5

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.4

0.8

0.8

3.3

1.2

2.1

2.9

2.4

1.7

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.4

0.6

1.5

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

0.3

0.7

0.4

0.3

1.2

1.8

1.3

1.0

0.9

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.4

1.2

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.1

0.3

1.7

2.9

0.6

0.5

0.9

1.6

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.2

0.7

0.9

0.4

0.4

1.0

1.9

2.6

2.2

1.7

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.2

0.2

0.6

2.8

1.7

3.3

2.8

2.2

1.4

0.8

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.4

1.4

0.8

0.4

1.4

1.8

1.1

0.6

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.2

0.3

0.5

2.8

1.7

0.5

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.1

1.1

1.1

0.3

1.1

0.7

0.2

0.1

0.3

0.6

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.1

1.1

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.7

0.9

1.0

0.8

0.5

0.6

1.0

1.2

1.2

0.8

0.5

0.9

1.2

1.5

1.3

0.9

0.6

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.5

1.2

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.6

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.6

1.0

1.4

1.7

1.4

1.4

0.4

0.8

1.1

1.4

1.3

1.2

0.2

0.5

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.1

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.6

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

A B

C

DE

Statistics

Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min MIN 
AVG.

ADA PARKING-1 2.0 fc 3.5 fc 0.8 fc 4.4:1 2.5:1 1.0 FC

ADA PARKING-2 2.1 fc 3.7 fc 0.8 fc 4.6:1 2.6:1 1.0 FC

ADA PARKING-3 1.2 fc 1.3 fc 1.0 fc 1.3:1 1.2:1 1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-4 1.6 fc 2.9 fc 0.7 fc 4.1:1 2.3:1  1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-5 1.5 fc 3.1 fc 0.7 fc 4.4:1 2.1:1  1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-6 1.4 fc 3.3 fc 0.3 fc 11.0:1 4.7:1 1.0 FC
LIGHT SPILL BLDG. F 0.1 fc 0.5 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT SPILL ON BLDG. K 0.0 fc 0.2 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT TRESSPASS NORTH PROPERTY LINE 0.1 fc 0.3 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT TRESSPASS SOUTH PROPERTY LINE 0.0 fc 0.2 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
OVARALL PARKINING & DRIVEWAY 1.2 fc 6.6 fc 0.1 fc 66.0:1 12.0:1

Schedule

Symbol Label Quantity Manufacturer Catalog Number Description Lamp Number 
Lamps Filename Lumens Per 

Lamp
Light Loss 

Factor Wattage

A
58 Lithonia Lighting CLX L24 1500LM HEF  

L/Lens  MVOLT GZ10 30K 
90CRI

CLX LED Linear 24" 1,500 lumens, 
Premium Efficiency, Less louver, 
L/Lens ,  General distribution, 
MVOLT, 0-10V dimming, 3000 
CCT, 90 CRI

LED 1 CLX_L24_1500LM
_HEF_L_Lens_MV
OLT_GZ10_30K_9
0CRI.ies

1221 0.85 10.39

B
27 Lithonia Lighting DSX0 LED P1 30K T3S 

MVOLT HS
DSX0 LED P1 30K T3S MVOLT with 
houseside shield

LED 1 DSX0_LED_P1_30
K_T3S_MVOLT_HS
.ies

3632 0.85 38

C
15 Lithonia Lighting DSXW1 LED 10C 700 30K 

T3S MVOLT
DSXW1 LED WITH (1) 10 LED 
LIGHT ENGINES, TYPE T3S OPTIC, 
3000K, @ 700mA.

LED 1 DSXW1_LED_10C
_700_30K_T3S_M
VOLT.ies

2593 0.85 26.2

D
15 Lithonia Lighting WST LED P1 30K VF 

MVOLT DS VG
WST LED, Performance package 1, 
3000 K, visual comfort forward 
throw, MVOLT, dual switching, 
vandal guard

LED 1 WST_LED_P1_30K
_VF_MVOLT_DS_V
G.ies

1664 0.85 14

Mounting
Hieght
10 Ft.

20 Ft.

10 Ft.

10 Ft.

Leeb Architects
03.18.19
DESIGN REVIEW

WEST COAST HOME SOLUTIONS
PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

1310 & 1340 N. PACIFIC HIGHWAY
WOODBURN, OREGON

For Information
Only

Not for
Construction

20

Attachment 106 

334



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITElevations
Building Type 1

  BUILDING TYPE 1 - NORTH ELEVATION

  BUILDING TYPE 1 - SOUTH ELEVATION

  BUILDING TYPE 1 - EAST ELEVATION

  BUILDING TYPE 1 - WEST ELEVATION

1

3

2

4

20’0’

20’0’

20’0’

20’0’

0’

0’

33’-9”
AVG. HT.

33’-9”
AVG. HT.

23

Attachment 106 

335



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITElevations
Building Type 2

  BUILDING TYPE 2 - NORTH ELEVATION

  BUILDING TYPE 2 - SOUTH ELEVATION

  BUILDING TYPE 2 - EAST ELEVATION

  BUILDING TYPE 2 - WEST ELEVATION

1

3

2

4

20’0’

20’0’

20’0’

20’0’

0’

0’

33’-9”
AVG. HT.

33’-9”
AVG. HT.

24

Attachment 106 

336



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITElevations
Clubhouse

  CLUBHOUSE - NORTH ELEVATION

  CLUBHOUSE - SOUTH ELEVATION

  CLUBHOUSE - EAST ELEVATION

  CLUBHOUSE - WEST ELEVATION

1

3

2

4
10’0’10’0’

10’0’ 10’0’

16’-9”

AVG. HT.

16’-9”

AVG. HT.

0’

0’

25

Attachment 106 

337



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

04 September 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITDetail Elevations

COMPOSITION ROOFING

STANDING SEAM METAL ROOFING

METAL GUARDRAIL

FIBER CEMENT TRIM BAND

WOOD SUPPORT BRACKETS

WOOD TRUSS

VINYL WINDOWS w/ TRIM

FIBER CEMENT SHINGLE SIDING,
MATERIAL-3

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING,
MATERIAL-2

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING,
MATERIAL-1

VINYL WINDOWS w/ TRIM

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING,
MATERIAL-1

STONE VENEER,
MATERIAL-4

ENLARGED ELEVATION - CLUBHOUSE

MATERIAL-1
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING

RED/ORANGE

MATERIAL-2
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING

DARK GREEN

MATERIAL-3
FIBER CEMENT STRAIGHT-

EDGE SHINGLE SIDING
TAN

MATERIAL-4
STONE VENEER

VARIEGATED

ENLARGED ELEVATION - TYPICAL BUILDING

26

Attachment 106 

338



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

12 November 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITSite Plan
Project Information 02

17'

ACCESS EASEMENT

35'

6' RIGHT OF WAY
DEDICATION

PROPERTY
LINE

PLAY
AREA

CLUB
HOUSE

ST
AT

E 
HI

GH
W

AY
 9

9E
 - 

NO
RT

H 
PA

CI
FI

C 
HI

GH
W

AY

26
'

26
'

6'

32
'

8'

8'

20'

6'

6'

17' 20' 6'6'

13
'

6'

20
'

13
'

17
'

20
'

13
'

6'

7.5'

9'

7.5' 9'7.5'

5' SIDE/ PARKING
SETBACK

DOG WASTE
STATION

10' REAR
SETBACK

10' PUBLIC UTILITY
EASEMENT

70' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
FOR FUTURE RIGHT OF WAY

TREES TO BE
REMOVED

4" CURBS -
TYP.

BBQ

CONCRETE PEDESTRIAN
CROSSINGS

CARPORTS TRASH ENCLOSURE
SEE 1/A3

EXTERIOR STORAGE
CLOSETS WITH WALL
MOUNT BIKE RACK
(2'-4" x 4'-6" FLOOR AREA)

DOUBLE STRIPING
PER WDO 3.05.02(K)

WHEELSTOPS

BIKE RACK W/
(2) 2'x6' BIKE SPACES
AT EACH STAIRWELL

(4) 2'x6' BIKE SPACES
W/ TIRE PUMP

6' TYP.

D
D

NEW 8' SIDEWALK

23'

23'

21.5'

23'

SECONDARY
DRIVEWAY

28' R.

28' R.

28' R.

10'

5.
5'

2'

VISION CLEARANCE
AREA PER WDO
3.03.06(B)(5)

10
'

10'

6' 6'

50'

12' ACCESS
EASEMENT

5' SIDE/ PARKING
SETBACK

17'

15
'

19
'

19
'

19
'

17' 6'20'8' 19'

6' 9'
9'

8'

9'

V

V

9'
VAN-ACCESSIBLE
AISLE

70' PUBLIC UTILITY
EASEMENT FOR FUTURE
RIGHT OF WAY

9'

9'

6' 6'

5'

V

8' CONCRETE
PEDESTRIAN/
BIKE PATH

BIKE RACK W/ (2) 2'x6'
BIKE SPACES

EXISTING CURB

28' R.

EXISTING TREES
TO REMAIN

ALEXANDRA AVE.

100 SF CONCRETE PATIO
(6.5' x 8' BALCONIES ABOVE)

SIGNIFICANT TREE
TO BE REPLACED

17'

6' BENCH

15
'

6'
6'

6'
9'

19'26'

8' 9'
6'

19
'

6'

6'6' 8'

6' 8'

7' 6'

6' TYP.

8'

8'

A

FG

B

DE

J

H

K

28' R.

9'

28' R.

17' 6'20'6'

9'

17'

20
'

POROUS GRASS PAVING
FIRE ACCESS LANE W/
MOUNTABLE CURB

28' R.

FUTURE 8' PEDESTRIAN/
BIKE PATH BY OTHERS

MAINTENANCE
BUILDING

C

9'

Leeb Architects
11.08.19
LAND USE REVIEW

WEST COAST HOME SOLUTIONS
PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

1310 & 1340 N. PACIFIC HIGHWAY
WOODBURN, OREGON A1

SCALE:  1"=40'-0"1 SITE PLAN

160'0' 80' 

UNIT SUMMARY
1-BEDROOM:   42 (21%)
2-BEDROOM: 144 (71%)
3-BEDROOM:   18 (9%)
TOTAL: 204

VEHICLE PARKING
STANDARD: 160 (43%)
COMPACT: 213 (58.5%)
TOTAL: 373 (1.82 SPACES/UNIT)

COVERED: 192 (51.5%)
UNCOVERED: 181 (48.5%)
TOTAL: 373

ACCESSIBLE:     9 (2%)

BICYLE PARKING
COVERED:   34 (51.5%)
UNCOVERED:   32 (48.5%)

  66
NOTE:
5% OF PARKING SPACES TO BE
PROVIDED WITH A CONDUIT SYSTEM FOR
THE FUTURE INSTALLATION OF ELECTRIC
VEHICLE CHARGING STATIONS PER OAR
918-020-0380

Attachment 106A

339

colinco
Text Box
Attachment 106ASheet 1 of 2



Pacific Valley aPartments

land Use reView

12 November 2019

1310 & 1340 north Pacific highway 
woodbUrn, oregon

EXHIBITLandscape Plan

15

Attachment 106A

340

colinco
Text Box
Attachment 106ASheet 2 of 2



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __X____ City Attorney __X____ Finance ___X__ 

   December 9, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council (Acting as the Local Contract 

Review Board) through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Eric Liljequist, Public Works Projects & Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Award of a Contract for New Production Well for the Parr Road 

Treatment Plant  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Award a contract for design, bid and construction management services for the 
New Production Well for the Parr Road Treatment Plant Project for $529,349 to 
Murraymith, Inc.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Staff utilized a Request for Proposals (RFP) process to solicit engineering and design 
services for the New Production Well at the Parr Road Treatment Plant Project. The 
RFP was advertised on the City website and in the Daily Journal of Commerce. Staff 
received a total of two proposals that satisfied the requirements of the RFP.  Staff 
reviewed both proposals in accordance with the RFP guidelines and state 
requirements (ORS 279C.105).  
 
After a thorough evaluation process, the City selected Murraysmith, Inc. as the 
highest-ranking proposer. City staff proceeded to negotiate a scope of work and 
fee for services to complete this design work and to provide construction 
management services during the construction phase. 
 
Murraysmith, Inc. is a well-qualified firm and familiar with the current City water 
system.  The negotiated contract for final design, bid and construction 
management services for this project is in the amount of $529,349. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Per the 2018 Woodburn Waster Master Plan, the New Production Well at the Parr 
Road Treatment Plant Project will provide a new water source for future customer 

341



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
December 9, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
growth within the recently expanded urban growth boundary areas and other 
developments that have been or will be annexed into the City of Woodburn in the 
coming years.  This contract award will allow completion of this project.   
 
The procurement process for soliciting these services and the contract award is in 
conformance with public contracting laws of the State of Oregon as outlined in 
ORS Chapter 279 and the laws and regulations of the City of Woodburn.  Therefore, 
staff is recommending that the contract be awarded accordingly to the highest 
ranked proposer. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The Personal Service Contract will be funded from the approved 2019/20 fiscal 
year budget from the water fund. 
 

342



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __X____ City Attorney __X____ Finance ___X__ 

    December 9, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council  
 
FROM: Jim Row, Assistant City Administrator 
 
SUBJECT: Award Personal Service Agreement to Opsis Architecture LLP 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Authorize the City Administrator to enter into a Personal Services Agreement with 
Opsis Architecture LLP in the amount of $979,320 plus reimbursable expenses 
estimated to be $20,000 to provide architectural schematic design and 40%-50% 
design development services for the Community Center Project. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In April 2019, staff issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) to solicit architectural and 
engineering services for the design of the Community Center Project. The RFP was 
advertised on the City website and in the Daily Journal of Commerce.   
 
The City received a total of four proposals that satisfied the requirements of the 
RFP.  Staff reviewed the proposals in accordance with the RFP guidelines and state 
requirements and Opsis Architecture was selected as the highest ranked proposer.  
 
During initial discussions, staff elected to task Opsis Architecture with undertaking 
phase 1 program planning and preliminary design work, prior to initiating the 
completion of full design documents.  The phase 1 project, which was recently 
completed, included a needs assessment, operational & program evaluation, site, 
land use & zoning analysis, an operating financial pro-forma, and an updated 
concept plan.   
  
DISCUSSION: 
 
At the conclusion of the phase 1 design process, the Community Center Citizens 
Advisory Committee (CAC) recommended that the City pursue the preferred 
option 1a concept plan, as prepared by the design team.  At the October 14, 2019 
meeting, the City Council directed staff to move forward with the design process 

343



Woodburn Urban Renewal Agency 
December 9, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
for the preferred option 1a concept plan, which is estimated to cost nearly $53 
Million to design and construct.  However, during their November 2, 2019 goal 
setting retreat, the City Council determined that they would like to see two 
alternative concept plans for the project; one estimated to cost $30 Million and a 
second estimated to cost $40 Million.   
 
Opsis Architecture immediately began preparing concept plans for those 
alternatives and is presenting them to the City Council at tonight’s meeting.      
 
The phase 2 schematic design & design development project is anticipated to take 
5-6 months to complete.  The amount of work that will be completed during the 
design development portion will bring that phase to the 40%-50% complete level, 
depending on which version of the community center project the City Council 
elects to pursue.  For example, the amount of currently available funding will allow 
the design development work to be taken to the 40% complete level for the $53 
Million option 1a project, whereas a $32 Million project can be taken to the 50% 
complete level. 
 
Staff assumes that the City Council might not be prepared to make a decision 
about which of the Add Alternatives to include in the project beyond the Base-
Reduced Program Option that was presented tonight.  Even so, we are 
recommending that the Council authorize this contract award so that the design 
team can prepare more detailed designs and cost estimates for the Base Program 
and the Add Alternates, which will allow for a more informed and well vetted 
decision to be made a few months down the road.  It is also anticipated that the 
City Council might wish to have the Community Center Citizens Advisory 
Committee participate in the review/ recommendation process, which we 
certainly have the time to provide for.    
 
This phase of work will include architectural, mechanical, structural, civil and 
electrical design, as well as the development of an updated cost estimate, 
colored plans, elevations, and renderings.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
During the 2017 Regular Session, the Oregon Legislature authorized the award of a 
$1,000,000 Lottery Bond Grant to the City for the community center project.  The 
City has also allocated an additional $285,347 from the sale of City owned property 
to the project, bringing the total available funding to $1,285,347.  The funds are 
included in the adopted FY 19/20 budget and approximately $215,000 has been 

344



Woodburn Urban Renewal Agency 
December 9, 2019 
Page 3 
 
 
spent to date, which includes $33,304 to develop designs for the two lower cost 
alternative concept plans.   
 
The Professional Services Agreement for the phase 2 design project is in the amount 
of $979,320 plus reimbursable expenses, which are estimated to be approximately 
$20,000. 
 
 

345



 

 
 

 

November 27, 2019 
 
 
Mr. Jim Row 
Public Works Director 
City of Woodburn  
190 Garfield Street 
Woodburn, OR  97071 
 
Reference: Woodburn Community Center  

Schematic Design and Design Development 
  Proposal for Professional Services  
   
Dear Jim: 
 
This letter represents the Opsis Architecture fee proposal to provide Architectural Schematic Design and a 
defined percentage of Design Development services for the Woodburn Community Center Project.  The 
proposal is based on developing a Base Design option with total project costs within $32-$33 million and 
Add-Alternate options for a total project cost of not more than $47 million. The Base Design option is 
comprised of an approximate 41,000gsf addition and 15,000gsf remodel / upgrades to the existing 
natatorium. The addition will include a one-court gym, small and large group exercise rooms, cardio/weight 
fitness area, community room (divisible into three rooms), child watch room, special events/birthday party 
room, administrative offices, lobby, casual activities lounge, lockers and universal changing rooms, and 
support spaces as outlined in Exhibit A. (See attachment.) 
 
The Add-Alternate list includes the possible additions of the Boys & Girls Club, second gym court, elevated 
walk / jog track, and warm water program pool combined with a waterslide / run-out to be located where the 
existing wading pool is situated. The City Council will determine which of the add-alternates to pursue and 
develop during the Schematic Design and Design Development phases. Depending on the number of and 
type of add-alternates that are selected to be developed; the percentage completion of the Design 
Development phase will vary between 40%-45%.  Once the number and type of alternates are determined 
in conjunction with the City of Woodburn; Opsis will amend the contract to include the specific percentage 
completion for Design Development to be provided at the end of this contract phase of work. 
 
This fee proposal will be an addition to the Personal Services Agreement currently entered between the City of 
Woodburn and Opsis Architecture and includes services described as follows. We are proposing a fixed fee as 
outlined in Exhibit C. (See attachment.) 
 
SCOPE OF WORK 
The City of Woodburn is engaging in the design of a community center in preparation for the General 
Election Bond Campaign in November 2020.  The design team will work with the City and its stakeholders 
to develop the concept design approved by the city council.  The outcome of this work will include 
development of the design, documentation, project and operational costs and renderings to assist in the 
forthcoming Bond effort.  Upon voter approval of the project, the City intends to complete Design 
Development and Construction Documents.  Once the documentation phases are complete, the project is 
planned to be permitted and bid for construction.  Post-bond work would be completed under a separate or 
amended contract and is not included in this proposal. 
 
The design team will complete Schematic Design and complete a percentage of Design Development as 
noted above. 
 
 

346



Proposal for Woodburn Community Center  
November 27, 2019 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 
 

 

 
Base program elements in the community center include: 
 

• Lobby and casual activities lounge 
• Large and small group exercise rooms 
• Fitness cardio/weight room  
• Multi-purposes community room (dividable, with warming kitchen) 
• Child watch room 
• Special events/birthday party room 
• Single multi-purpose gymnasium court 
• Lockers and universal changing rooms 
• Natatorium renovation 
• New expanded parking 
• Site improvements 

 
Add-alternate program elements in the community center may include one or more of the following: 
 

• Boys and Girls Club program area 
• Additional multi-purpose gymnasium court 
• Indoor elevated walk/jog track 
• Warm water program pool with runout slide located in the existing natatorium 

 
Schematic Design Services 
The primary objective of this task is to define the site and building relationships, character, and locations 
and to establish the project scope such that it is attainable within the program requirements and budget of 
the Project. The consultant shall include the following deliverables, related services and activities: 
 

• Architectural Design – Services responding to scope of work (Predesign) requirements and 
consisting of preparation of conceptual site and building plans, schematic sections and elevations, 
preliminary selection of building systems and materials, development of approximate dimensions, 
areas and volumes. 

• Civil/Site Design – Services consisting of site planning including layout of site features, building 
position, preliminary grading, location of paving for walkways, driveways and parking. 

• Structural Design – Services consisting of recommendations regarding basic structural material 
and systems, analysis, and development of conceptual design. 

• Mechanical Design – Services consisting of consideration of alternate materials, systems and 
equipment, and development of conceptual design solutions for energy sources/conservation, 
heating, ventilating and air conditioning (HVAC), plumbing, fire protection, and general space 
requirements. 

• Electrical Design – Services consisting of consideration of alternate systems, recommendations 
regarding basic electrical materials, systems and equipment, analysis, and development of 
conceptual design solutions for power service and distribution, lighting, communication raceways, 
fire detection and alarms, and general space requirements. 

• Construction Cost Estimate based on development of Schematic Design. 
• Code Analysis (egress, restroom fixture count, setback requirements, parking requirements). 
• Development of schedules for decision-making, design, and documentation. 
• Develop Revit model with immediate context. 
• Develop Preliminary Renderings 

 
Design Development Services (Percentage completion to be determined) 
Based on approval of the Schematic Design Package and Cost Estimate, Design Development shall 
address requirements for a negotiated project scope and shall include the following deliverables, related 
services and activities: 
 

347



Proposal for Woodburn Community Center  
November 27, 2019 

Page 3 of 4 
 

 
 

 

 
 

• Architectural Design – Services consisting of continued development and expansion of 
architectural Schematic Design Documents to establish the intended scope, relationships, forms, 
size, and appearance of the project through plans, sections and elevations, typical construction 
details, materials selections and equipment layouts. 

• Structural Design – Services consisting of continued development of the specific structural 
system(s) and Schematic Design Documents in sufficient detail to establish basic structural system 
and dimensions, structural design criteria, foundation design criteria, preliminary sizing of major 
structural components, critical coordination clearances, and outline specifications or materials lists. 

• Mechanical Design – Services consisting of continued development and expansion of mechanical 
Schematic Design Documents and development of outline specifications or materials lists to 
establish approximate equipment sizes and capacities, preliminary equipment layouts, required 
space for equipment, chases and clearances, acoustical and vibration control, visual impacts and 
energy conservation measures. 

• Electrical Design – Services consisting of continued development and expansion of electrical 
Schematic Design Documents and development of outline specifications or materials lists to 
establish criteria for lighting, electrical and communication raceways, approximate sizes and 
capacities of major components, preliminary equipment layouts, required space for equipment, 
chases, and clearances. 

• Reviewing and updating schedule for decision-making, design, and documentation. 
• Bond Support – Development of colored plans, sections, elevations and renderings. 

 
CONSULTANT TEAM 
Our project consultant team includes trusted consultants with whom we’ve collaborated on many past 
successful community center projects. Our proposed team for this scope of work includes: 
 

Structural Engineering KPFF Consulting Engineers 
Mechanical / Electrical Engineering Interface Engineers 
Landscape Architecture Lango Hansen 
Civil Engineering KPFF Consulting Engineers 
Aquatic Design Counsilman-Hunsaker 
Operational Planning Ballard & King 
Placemaking Graphics Mayer Reed 
Food Service Halliday Associates 
Supplemental Building Code Code Unlimited 
Cost Estimating ACC Cost Consultants 

 
FEE 
We propose a fixed fee for Schematic Design and a fee to be determined percentage of Design 
Development, delineated in the attached Exhibit C Design Fee Matrix. 
 
PROJECT SCHEDULE 
Our estimated time to complete this effort is approximately 21 weeks, based upon the attached Exhibit 
B Overall Project Schedule. 
 
 
 
 
REIMBURSABLES 
Reimbursables are additional and include expenses incurred by Opsis and Consultants directly related to 
the project such as transportation, printing, deliveries, and other similar project-related costs.  A 10% mark-
up is applied to reimbursable expenses for processing. 
 

348



Proposal for Woodburn Community Center  
November 27, 2019 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 

 

Reimbursable Estimate: 
Ballard*King 2 trips at $1,500 each $3,000 
 (Air travel/Car Rental/Lodging)  
Counsilman-Hunsaker 2 trips at $2,000 each $4,000 
 (Air travel/Car Rental/Lodging)  
Opsis and Portland Consultants Mileage $5,000 
Reproduction Expenses Printing and Reports $10,000 
Total  $22,000 

 
INVOICING 
Invoices will be rendered once a month based on percent complete and reimbursable expenses incurred. 
 
Please feel free to call me if you have any questions. We look forward to working with the City of Woodburn 
and assisting with the planning of its future. 
 
Sincerely,  

  
James Kalvelage, Partner, FAIA, LEED AP BD+C 
Opsis Architecture, LLP 
 
Enclosures: 
Exhibit A:  Baseline Plan Option 
Exhibit B: Overall Project Schedule dated November 27, 2019 
Exhibit C:  Fee Matrix dated November 27, 2019 
Exhibit D: Opsis Billing Rates 
 

349



DN

DN

DN

Control 
Point

6162 SF

(E) COMPETITION
POOL

6598 SF

(E) NATATORIUM
671 SF

(E) POOL
MECHANICAL

ROOM

476 SF

(E) POOL
STORAGE

6552 SF

MULTI-PURPOSE
GYMNASIUM

669 SF

BUILDING
SUPPORT

623 SF

CHILDWATCH

621 SF

SPECIAL EVENTS

472 SF

RECEPTION /
ADMIN

160 SF

VESTIBULE

1332 SF

LOBBY
180 SF

SAUNA

252 SF

AQUATIC OFFICE

2027 SF

CIRCULATION

246 SF

SPA

231 SF

WOMENS RR

231 SF

MENS RR

68 SF

JANITOR

60 SF

RR

76 SF

CW STORAGE

301 SF

STAFF
BREAKROOM

150 SF

P&R DIRECTOR

426 SF

STAFF OPEN
OFFICE

270 SF

STAFF
WORKROOM

123 SF

STAFF SHOWER

336 SF

STORAGE

ENTRY PLAZA

276 SF

STAIR

73 SF

ELEVATOR

1468 SF

MEN'S LOCKER
ROOM

309 SF

LIFEGUARD
CHANGING /

BREAK
244 SF

STAFF LOCKER

120 SF

FACILITY
MANAGER

120 SF

SENIOR CENTER
OFFICE

148 SF

IT

800 SF

(E) WADING POOL

931 SF

LOUNGE

1 - BLUE

1 - LIGHT BLUE

2 - ORANGE

3 - RED

5 - YELLOW ORANGE

6 - PURPLE

7 - GREY

8 - CIRCULATION

Outdoor Amenity

RAMP UP

EXISTING HVAC UNIT

OAK STREET

S
 1

S
T

 S
T

S
 2

N
D

 S
T

421 SF

MP STORAGE

83 SF

KITCHEN
STORAGE

390 SF

KITCHEN

3301 SF

MULTI-PURPOSE

112 SF

SE STORAGE 2259 SF

CIRCULATION

1474 SF

WOMEN'S
LOCKER ROOM

RAMP
DN LINE OF BUILDING 

OVERHEAD

OPEN TO 
ABOVE

OPEN TO 
ABOVE

Woodburn Community Center
11/22/19City Of Woodburn Oregon

0 32 FT168

N

15,290 sf
29,440 sf
44,730 sf

Existing Natatorium
Addition                                                                  
Sub-total                                                  

Level 01 - Base Plan

REDUCED FOOTPRINT - BASE PLAN

AQUATICS

AQUATICS

CIRCULATION

RECREATION SPACES

COMMUNITY SPACES

LOUNGE

ADMINISTRATIVE

BUILDING SUPPORT

OUTDOOR AMENITY

EXHIBIT A

350



OPEN TO 
GYMNASIUM 

BELOW

OPEN 
TO 

BELOW

ROOFTOP 
MECHANICAL

276 SF

STAIR

868 SF

MULTI-PURPOSE
EXERCISE SMALL

1417 SF

MULTI-PURPOSE
EXERCISE LARGE

195 SF

MP STORAGE

71 SF

ELEVATOR

148 SF

MP STORAGE

187 SF

CARDIO
STORAGE

102 SF

FIT ASSESSMENT

4816 SF

CARDIO /
WEIGHTS

2276 SF

CIRCULATION

98 SF

BLDG SUPPORT

OPEN 
TO 

BELOW

NEW
ROOF 

BELOW

2 - ORANGE

5 - YELLOW ORANGE

5.1 - YELLOW

6 - PURPLE

7 - GREY

101 SF

JAN

57 SF

RR

57 SF

RR

OPEN 
TO 

BELOW

57 SF

RR

344 SF

STRETCHING

Woodburn Community Center
11/22/19City Of Woodburn Oregon

0 32 FT168

N

11,380 sfAddition                                                            

Level 02 - Base Plan

REDUCED FOOTPRINT - BASE PLAN

BUILDING SUPPORT

RECREATION SPACES

LOUNGE

CIRCULATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

EXHIBIT A

351



City of Woodburn November 27, 2019

COMMUNITY CENTER

OVERALL PROJECT SCHEDULE

J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D

Notice of Intent to Award 

Contract Award 

Commencement of Services 

Program Verification / Concept

  Project Kick-off

  Document Acquisition

  Conceptual Design Assessment

  Technical Design Committee

  Preliminary Design

  Technical Design Committee

  Citizen Advisory Committee

  Budget Review

  Public  Open House

  City Council Meeting Concept Approval

  City Council Meeting SD-DD Contract Approval

Concept Desing Revisions

Schematic Design

  Technical Design Committee

  Citizen Advisory Committee

  80% SD Cost Estimate

  100% Schematic Design

  Public Open House

  City Council Meeting

Design Development

  Jurisdictional Coordination

  Technical Design Committee

  Citizen Advisory Committee

  50% DD Cost Estimate

  100% Design Documents

  100% DD Cost Estimate

  Public Open House

  City Council Meeting

Construction Documents

  Jurisdictional Coordination

  Technical Design Committee

  Citizen Advisory Committee

  50% Construction Documents

  50% Construction Documents Cost Estimate

  100% Construction Documents

  Public Open House

  City Council Meeting

Pre-Application Conference

Conditional Use

  Bond Prep and Election

  Graphic, Media, Publication Support

Permit Submittal

  Addendum if Required

Bidding August 2021

20202019

BIDDING / CONSTRUCTION - TBD

PLANNING COORDINATION

PERMITTING (3-4 weeks)

GENERAL ELECTION - NOV 3

CONTRACT NEGOTIATION

DESIGN DOCUMENTS

2021

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

DD 0% - 50%

DESIGN DOCUMENTS - PART I    (11  months)

PERMIT 

CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS

PLANNING

CONDITIONAL USE

VERIFICATION / CONCEPT

$

COST

COST

COST

COST

DESIGN DOCUMENTS - PART II   (7.5 months)

DD 50% - 100%

EXHIBIT B

352



Exhibit C

City of Woodburn 11.27.2019

Community Center

A/E FEE SUMMARY

Schematic

Design

40% Design

Development Total Comments

Basic Services

     Architectural Opsis 209,690                   218,980           $428,670

     Structural KPFF 35,200                     33,000             $68,200

     Mech/Plumbing Interface 31,900                     63,800             $95,700

     Electrical & Fire/Life Safety Interface 29,700                     60,500             $90,200

     Basic Services Subtotal 306,490                   376,280           $682,770

Supplemental Services  

     Civil KPFF 17,050                     15,950             $33,000

     Landscape Lango Hansen 19,250                     17,600             $36,850

     Aquatics Planning/Design Counsilman-Hunsaker 27,500                     22,880             $50,380

     Operational Planning Ballard*King 11,000                     13,750             $24,750

     Land Use Planning 3J 5,500                       3,850               $9,350 CU delay to 100% DD

     Interior Design Opsis 10,000                     15,000             $25,000

     FF&E Services Opsis -                           -                   $0

     Data/Communications Interface 2,200                       3,300               $5,500

     Audio/ Visual Interface 2,750                       3,850               $6,600

     Lighting Interface 9,350                       8,800               $18,150

     Signage/Wayfinding MayerReed -                           -                   $0

     Food Service Halliday 1,749                       1,749               $3,498

     Bldg Code-Supplemental Code UL 4,400                       4,400               $8,800

     Cost Estimating ACC 15,832                     25,490             $41,322

     Renderings Opsis 5,000                       8,000               $13,000

     Placemaking/Graphics Mayer Reed 4,400                       11,000             $15,400

     ETO/PTNZ Design/Documentation -                   

        Arch Opsis -                           -                   $0 Delay to 100% DD

        Landscape Lango Hansen -                           -                   $0 Delay to 100% DD

        MEP Interface -                           -                   $0 Delay to 100% DD

        Civil Interface -                           -                   $0 Delay to 100% DD

     Energy Modeling Interface -                           -                   $0

     Daylight Modeling Interface -                           -                   $0

     Ventilation Modeling Interface -                           -                   $0

     Commissioning Interface -                           -                   $0

     PV System Design Interface -                           -                   $0

     Data/Telecom (design) Interface -                           1,650               $1,650 Narrative Only

     Building Security (design) Interface -                           1,100               $1,100 Narrative Only

     Paging System (design) Interface -                           1,100               $1,100 Narrative Only

     1.5% Green Energy Technology / PV Interface -                           1,100               $1,100 Narrative Only

     Special Inspections TBD -                           -                   $0 By Owner

     Survey TBD -                           -                   $0 By Owner

     Geotech TBD -                           -                   $0 By Owner

     Community Engagement -                           -                   $0 By Owner

     Design Contingency -                           -                   $0 By Owner

     Supplemental Services Subtotal $135,981 $160,569 $296,550

TOTAL FEE $442,471 $536,849 $979,320

$20,000 2%

$999,320

SD - % DD FEES

BASIC SERVICES SD - % DD

TOTAL PROJECT FEE

Reimbursable Budget

Direct Construction Cost: $23,093,353 - $32,542,709

353



  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 2019 HOURLY BILLING RATES 

 
 Partner $210 - $250 
 
 Associate Principal $195 
 
 Project Manager $190 
 

Project Designer $190 
 
Interior Designer $95 - $140 
 
Sustainability Leader $165 
 
Project Architect $165 
 
Staff Architect $130 - $160 
 
Intern Architect $115 - $125 
 
Clerical Support $80 
 
 
 
Hourly billing rates are valid through end of 2019. Rates will be adjusted 
in accordance with Opsis’ normal review practices. 

     
 

 

EXHIBIT D

354



Agenda Item 
 

 

 
Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney __x____ 

 December 9, 2019 
 

 
To:              Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
From: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director     
 
Subject: Call-Up Briefing:  Planning Commission Approval of a Design Review 

and Property Line Adjustment for GEM Equipment of Oregon, LLC at 
2765 National Way (DR 2019-11 & PLA 2019-05) 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends no action and briefs the Council on this item pursuant to 
Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) Section 4.02.02.  The Council may 
call up this item for review if desired and, by majority vote, initiate a review of 
this decision. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The subject property is located in the Industrial Park (IP) zoning district. There is 
an existing industrial building on a portion of the property, operated by Specialty 
Polymers, while the remainder is undeveloped. 
 
The project includes lot consolidations, a property line adjustment, and site 
development for a new manufacturing facility for GEM Equipment, an existing 
manufacturing company located at 2355 Progress Way. The new facility will be 
70,868 square feet, employing 85 individuals once operational with a goal to 
hire at least 10 more. In addition to the private improvements of the site, the 
applicant will be constructing a sidewalk and planting street trees along the 
National Way frontage. The application included no Variance or Exception to 
Street Right of Way and Improvement Requirements (“Street Exception”) 
requests.  
 
The Woodburn Planning Commission held a public hearing on November 14, 
2019 and unanimously approved the application package with the conditions 
recommended by staff through the staff report published November 7. Staff 
received a letter in support of the proposal and the applicant testified in 
support. 

355

http://www.ci.woodburn.or.us/sites/default/files/WDO%20Ordinance%20-%20January%209%2C%202017.pdf#page=203

	Agenda19-12-9
	AgendaPacket19-12-9
	Reappointments 12-10-19
	Governance letter 2019
	Management letter 2019
	City of Woodburn 2019
	12.02.19_Council Stipend Staff Report (draft)
	Council Meeting Minutes November 12 , 2019
	PC Minutes  10-10-2019
	PC Minutes  10-24-2019
	crime stats
	Arrests by Offenses_10.2019
	Criminal Offenses_10.2019
	Ordinance Violations_10.2019

	Redflex
	Building Activity, October, 2019
	Building Activity, Nov. 2019
	Staff Report Tow RFP December 9 2019 (m.g.)
	IGA WSD Staff report
	0 Council memo 2019-12-09 HNA draft post-CK
	1 Ord 2576 draft post-CK
	2 Exh A Woodburn HNA Final sans Appendix B
	3 Exh B analyses and findings
	Winter Averaging Staff Report
	Ord 2157
	12.02.19_Ordinance Amending Ord. 2157
	Pacific Valley apartments
	0 Council memo 2019-12-09 DR 2019-03 final decision post-CK
	1 CC Final decision DR 2019-03 PLA03 VAR02 fin
	Notes to the Applicant:  The following are not planning / land use / zoning conditions of approval, but are notes for the applicant to be aware of and follow:

	1 101 Tax Maps Marked101
	101a Tax Map 051W08DB
	101b Tax Map 051W08DC

	1 102A Public Works Comments Sept 30 2019102A
	1 102B Applicants testimony102B
	1 103 WDO T2-03A as of Ord No 2562 Sept 10 2018103
	1 104 Highway 99E Corridor Plan excerpted 2012 9 pp104
	1 105 TSP Figure 7-1 2005105
	1 106 Site plans excerpted Sept 4 2019 18 sheets106
	1 106A revised site and landscape plans106A
	1 Pacific Valley Apts Exh 02 Site Plan Nov 12
	2 Pacific Valley Apts Exh 15 Planting Plan Nov 12


	CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM -  Murraysmith Contract Award - New Production Well @ Parr Rd Design
	AGENDA ITEM - Community Center Design Services Dec 9
	191127 Woodburn CC SD-%DD Fee Proposal
	Exhibit C-Woodburn CC - FEE
	Exhibit D-2019 Billing Rates
	Exhibit A - Reduced Plans
	191126 Woodburn CC SD-40%DD Fee Proposal

	City Council Agenda Item call-up briefing - GEM Equipment



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (None)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /ColorConversionStrategy /sRGB
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /SyntheticBoldness 1.00
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /ArialUnicodeMS
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 300
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName (http://www.color.org)
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /JPN <FEFF3053306e8a2d5b9a306f300130d330b830cd30b9658766f8306e8868793a304a3088307353705237306b90693057305f00200050004400460020658766f830924f5c62103059308b3068304d306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103057305f00200050004400460020658766f8306f0020004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d30678868793a3067304d307e30593002>
    /DEU <>
    /FRA <>
    /PTB <>
    /DAN <>
    /NLD <>
    /ESP <>
    /SUO <>
    /ITA <>
    /NOR <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU <>
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [300 300]
  /PageSize [3168.000 2448.000]
>> setpagedevice


